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(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes O No
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Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during
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If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the
registrant has elected to follow.



0

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile ~ $ERF"“WE*NWIWRnallmOma ~ 21-Feh-2015 10:11 EST 856918 FS1 5
FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS  0C
Page 3 of 3

Item17 O Item 18 O

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).
O Yes No




A D

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile  #5xmaUMVEXNEIWRotemOma  23-Feh-2015 20:58 EST

856918 TX1 #

FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS 0C
Page 1of 1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part I 2
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers 2
Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable 2
Item 3. Key Information 2
Item 4. Information on the Company 10
Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments 11
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects 11
Item 6. Directors. Senior Management and Employees 25
Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions 26
Item 8. Financial Information 26
Item 9. The Offer and Listing 27
Item 10. Additional Information 27
Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 32
Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities 32

Part II 33
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies 33
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds 33
Item 15. Controls and Procedures 33
Item 16. [Reserved] 35
Item 16A. Audit committee financial expert 35
Item 16B. Code of Ethics 36
Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 36
Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees 36
Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 36
Item 16F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant 36
Item 16G. Corporate Governance 36
Item 16H. Mine Safety Disclosure 46

Part ITI 46
Item 17. Financial Statements 46
Item 18. Financial Statements 46
Item 19. Exhibits 48

Signatures 50

EX-1.1
EX-4.7
EX-4.8
EX-4.9

EX-4.10
EX-4.11
EX-12.1
EX-12.2
EX-13.1
EX-15.1
EX-15.2



) RO OO0 O A

u5f0@7j63

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile 55 *"** WMWRhikz0In 21-Feb-2015 06:36 EST 856918 TX 2 10*
FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS  0C
Page 1 of 1

PART1I

Item 1.

Item 2.

Item 3.
3.A

3B

Pursuant to Rule 12b-23(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the information for the 2014
Form 20-F of GlaxoSmithKline plc set out below is being incorporated by reference from the “GSK Annual Report
2014” included as exhibit 15.2 to this Form 20-F dated and submitted on February 27, 2015 (the “GSK Annual
Report 2014”).

All references in this Form 20-F to “GlaxoSmithKline,” the “Group,” “GSK,” “we” or “our” mean GlaxoSmithKline
plc and its subsidiaries; the “company” means GlaxoSmithKline plc.

References below to major headings include all information under such major headings, including subheadings,
unless such reference is a reference to a subheading, in which case such reference includes only the information
contained under such subheading.

In addition to the information set out below, the information set forth under the headings “Cautionary statement” on
page 1 and the inside back cover, “Directors’ Report” on page 95, “Directors’ statement of responsibilities” on pages
130 and 211, “Share buy-back programme” on page 242, “Annual General Meeting 2015” on page 245, “Financial
calendar”, “Results announcements” and “Financial reports” on page 246, “Section 13(r) of the US Securities
Exchange Act” on page 248, “Registrar” on page 249, “ADR Depositary”, “Glaxo Wellcome and SmithKline
Beecham Corporate PEPs”, “Donating shares to Save the Children”, “Contacts”, “Share scam alert” and “Responsible
Business Supplement” on page 250 and “Glossary of terms” on page 251 in each case of the GSK Annual Report
2014 is incorporated by reference.

Notice regarding limitations on Director Liability under English Law

Under the UK Companies Act 2006, a safe harbour limits the liability of Directors in respect of statements in and
omissions from certain portions of the GSK Annual Report 2014 incorporated by reference herein, namely the
Directors’ Report (for which see page 95 thereof), the Strategic Report (pages 2 to 70 thereof, portions of which are
incorporated by reference as described below) and the Remuneration Report (pages 96 to 128 thereof). These reports
have been drawn up and presented in accordance with, and in reliance upon, English company law. Under English
law, the Directors would be liable to the company, but not to any third party, if these sections of the GSK Annual
Report 2014 contain errors as a result of recklessness or knowing misstatement or dishonest concealment of a
material fact, but would not otherwise be liable.

Portions of the GSK Annual Report 2014 incorporated by reference herein contain references to our website.
Information on our website or any other website referenced in the GSK Annual Report 2014 is not
incorporated into this Form 20-F and should not be considered to be part of this Form 20-F. We have included
any website as an inactive textual reference only.

Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not applicable.

Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.

Key Information
Selected financial data
The information set forth under the heading:

. “Five year record” on pages 222 to 224; and
. “Dividends” on page 244.

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Capitalization and indebtedness

Not applicable.
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3.C Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds
Not applicable.
3.D Risk factors

Principal risk factors and uncertainties

The principal risks discussed below are the risks and uncertainties relevant to our business, financial condition and
results of operations that may affect our performance and ability to achieve our objectives. The factors below are
those that we believe could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results.

We operate on a global basis in an industry that is both highly competitive and highly regulated. Our competitors may
make significant product innovations and technical advances and may intensify price competition. In light of this
competitive environment, continued development of commercially viable new products and the development of
additional uses for existing products are critical to our ability to maintain or increase overall sales.

Developing new pharmaceutical, vaccine and consumer healthcare products is a costly, lengthy and uncertain process,
however, and a product candidate may fail at any stage, including after significant Group economic and human
resources have been invested. Our competitors’ products or pricing strategies or any failure on our part to develop
commercially successful products, or to develop additional uses for existing products, could materially and adversely
affect our financial results.

We must also adapt to and comply with a broad range of laws and regulations. These requirements apply to research
and development, manufacturing, testing, approval, distribution, sales and marketing of Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and
Consumer Healthcare Products, and affect not only the cost of product development but also the time required to
reach the market and the uncertainty of successfully doing so.

Moreover, as rules and regulations change, and governmental interpretation of those rules and regulations evolves, the
nature of a particular risk may change. Changes to certain regulatory regimes may be substantial. Any change in, and
any failure to comply with, applicable law and regulation could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Similarly, our business exposes us to litigation and government investigations, including but not limited to product
liability litigation, patent and antitrust litigation and sales and marketing litigation. Litigation and government
investigations, including related provisions we may make for unfavourable outcomes and increases in related costs
such as insurance premiums, could materially and adversely affect our financial results. More detail on the status and
various uncertainties involved in the significant unresolved disputes and potential litigation is set out in Note 45,
‘Legal proceedings,” on pages 206 to 210 of the GSK Annual Report 2014.

Failure to appropriately collect, review, follow up, or report adverse events from all potential sources, and to
act on any relevant findings in a timely manner.

Risk impact

The impact of this risk is potentially to compromise our ability to conduct robust safety signal detection and
interpretation and to ensure that appropriate decisions are taken with respect to the risk/benefit profile of our products,
including the completeness and accuracy of product labels and the pursuit of additional studies/analyses, as
appropriate. This could lead to potential harm to patients, reputational damage, product liability claims or other
litigation, governmental investigation, regulatory action such as fines, penalties or loss of product authorisation.

Context

Pre-clinical and clinical trials are conducted during the development of investigational Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and
Consumer Healthcare Products to determine the safety and efficacy of the products for use by humans.
Notwithstanding the efforts we make to determine the safety of our products through appropriate pre-clinical and
clinical trials, unanticipated side effects may become evident only when products are widely introduced into the
marketplace. Questions may be raised not only by our ongoing safety surveillance and post-marketing studies but also
by governmental agencies and third-parties that may analyse publicly available clinical trial results.

3
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The Group is currently a defendant in a number of product liability lawsuits, including class actions, that involve
significant claims for damages related to our products. Litigation, particularly in the US, is inherently unpredictable.
Class actions that seek to sweep together all persons who were prescribed our products increase the potential liability.
Claims for pain and suffering and punitive damages are frequently asserted in product liability actions and, if allowed,
can represent potentially open-ended exposure and thus, could materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial
results.

Failure to appropriately secure and protect intellectual property rights.

Risk impact

Any failure to obtain or subsequent loss of patent protection, including reducing the availability or scope of patent
rights or compulsory licensing (in which a government forces a manufacturer to license its patents for specific
products to a competitor), could materially and adversely affect our financial results in those markets. Absence of
adequate patent or data exclusivity protection could limit the opportunity to rely on such markets for future sales
growth for our products, which could also materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

As an innovative Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare Products company, we seek to obtain
appropriate intellectual property protection for our products. Our ability to obtain and enforce patents and other
proprietary rights with regard to our products is critical to our business strategy and success. Pharmaceutical and
Vaccine products are usually only protected from being copied by generic manufacturers during the period of
exclusivity provided by an issued patent or related intellectual property rights such as Regulatory Data Protection or
Orphan Drug status. Following expiration of certain intellectual property rights, a generic manufacturer may lawfully
produce a generic version of the product.

We operate in markets where intellectual property laws and patent offices are still developing and where governments
may be unwilling to grant or enforce intellectual property rights in a fashion similar to more developed regions such
as the EU, Japan and the US. Some developing countries have limited, or threatened to limit, effective patent
protection for pharmaceutical products generally, or in particular therapeutic areas, in order to facilitate early
competition within their markets from generic manufacturers.

We face competition from manufacturers of proprietary and generic pharmaceutical products in all of our major
markets. Introduction of generic products, particularly in the US where we have our highest turnover and margins,
typically leads to a rapid and dramatic loss of sales and reduces our revenues and margins for our proprietary
products. In 2014, we had nine Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products with over £500 million in annual global sales.
For certain of these products, there is generic competition in the US and some markets in Europe. We may also
experience an impact on sales of one of our products due to the expiry or loss of patent protection for a product
marketed by a competitor in a similar product class or for treatment of a similar disease condition.

We depend on certain key products for a significant portion of our sales. One such product is our respiratory
pharmaceutical product Seretide/Advair which accounts for 18% of Group sales worldwide. The timing and impact of
entry in the US for a generic product containing the same combination of active substances as Seretide/Advair is
uncertain. The US patent for compositions containing the combination of active substances in Seretide/Advair expired
during 2010 although the US patent on a component of the Advair Diskus device continues until August 2016.
Generic products containing the same combination of active substances as Seretide/Advair (in both metered dose
inhalers and dry powder inhalers) have been launched by several manufacturers in a number of European markets.
The timing and impact of entry in the US and major markets in Europe for a ‘follow-on’ product to Seretide/Advair is
uncertain.

Generic drug manufacturers have also exhibited a readiness to market generic versions of many of our most important
products prior to the expiration of our patents. Their efforts may involve challenges to the validity or enforceability of
a patent or assertions that their generic product does not infringe our patents. As a result, we are and may continue to
be involved in legal proceedings involving patent challenges, which may materially and adversely affect our financial
results. Moreover, in the US, it has become increasingly common for patent infringement actions to prompt claims
that anti-trust laws have been violated during the prosecution of the patent or during litigation involving the defence
of that patent. Such claims by direct and indirect purchasers and other payers are typically filed as class actions. The
relief sought may include treble damages and restitution claims. Similarly, anti-trust claims may be brought by

4
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government entities or private parties following settlement of patent litigation, alleging that such settlements are anti-
competitive and in violation of anti-trust laws. A successful anti-trust claim by a private party or government entity
could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

The expiration dates for patents for our major products which may affect the dates on which generic versions of our
products may be introduced are set out on pages ‘“Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on
pages 229 to 231 of the GSK Annual Report 2014. Legal proceedings involving patent challenges are set out in

Note 45, ‘Legal proceedings,” on pages 206 to 210 of the GSK Annual Report 2014.

Failure to comply with current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements in commercial
manufacture, through the distribution chain, by GSK, its contractors or suppliers; or through inadequate
controls and governance of quality through product development, and in supporting regulated activities.

Risk impact

A failure to ensure product quality could have far reaching implications in terms of patient and consumer safety,
delays in launching new products, drug shortages, product recalls, potential damage to our reputation and that of the
relevant product, as well as regulatory, legal, and financial consequences, which could materially and adversely affect
our reputation and financial results.

Context

Patients, consumers and healthcare professionals trust the quality of our products. A failure to ensure product quality
is an enterprise risk which is applicable across all of our business activities. Product quality may be influenced by
many factors including product and process understanding, supply chain security, consistency of manufacturing
components, compliance with GMP, accuracy of labeling, reliability of the external supply chain, and the
embodiment of an overarching quality culture. The internal and external environment continues to evolve as new
products, new markets and new legislation are introduced, particularly around security of supply, good distribution
practice and product standards. Inspectional trending from national authorities during 2014 has highlighted a focus on
issues relating to data integrity, contamination and the robustness of quality investigations.

Failure to deliver a continuous supply of compliant finished product.

Risk impact

A material interruption of supply or exclusion from healthcare programmes could impact patient access to our
products, expose us to litigation or regulatory action and materially and adversely affect our financial results. In
particular, the incurring of fines or disgorgement as a result of noncompliance with manufacturing practice
regulations could also materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial results and result in reputational damage.

Context

Our supply chain operations are subject to review and approval by various regulatory agencies that effectively
provide our licence to operate. Failure by our manufacturing and distribution facilities or by suppliers of key services
and materials could lead to litigation or regulatory action such as product recalls and seizures, interruption of supply,
delays in the approval of new products, and suspension of manufacturing operations pending resolution of
manufacturing or logistics issues. In 2014, our Consumer Healthcare business, particularly our Smokers’ Health
products, alli and Bactroban, were impacted by various supply issues and our Vaccines business, particularly our
hepatitis vaccines and Boostrix, were impacted by supply constraints.

Materials and services provided by third-party suppliers are necessary for the commercial production of our products,
including active pharmaceutical ingredients (API), antigens, intermediates, commodities and components necessary
for the manufacture and packaging of many of our Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare Products.
Some of the third-party services procured, such as services provided by contract manufacturing organizations and
clinical research organisations to support development of key products, are important to ensure continuous operation
of our businesses. Although we undertake business continuity planning, single sourcing of certain components, bulk
API, finished products, and services creates a risk of failure of supply in the event of regulatory non-compliance or
physical disruption at the manufacturing sites or logistics system.

The failure of a small number of single-source, third-party suppliers or service providers to fulfill their contractual
obligations in a timely manner or as a result of regulatory non-compliance or physical disruption of logistics and
manufacturing sites may result in delays or service interruptions.

5
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Failure to report accurate financial information and material events in compliance with accounting standards
and applicable legislation.

Risk impact

Non-compliance with existing or new financial reporting and disclosure requirements, or changes to the recognition
of income and expenses, could expose us to litigation and regulatory action and could materially and adversely affect
our financial results.

Context

New or revised accounting standards, rules and interpretations issued from time to time by the International
Accounting Standards Board could result in changes to the recognition of income and expense that may materially
and adversely affect our financial results.

The Group is also required by the laws of various jurisdictions to disclose publicly its financial results and events that
could materially affect the financial results of the Group. Regulators routinely review the financial statements of
listed companies for compliance with accounting and regulatory requirements. The Group believes that it complies
with the appropriate regulatory requirements concerning our financial statements and disclosure of material
information. However, should we be subject to an investigation into potential non-compliance with accounting and
disclosure requirements, there is potential for restatements of previously reported results and we could be subject to
significant penalties.

Failure to comply with current tax law, or react to the rapidly evolving tax environment. Incurring significant
losses due to treasury activities.

Risk impact

Changes in tax laws or in their application with respect to matters such as transfer pricing, foreign dividends,
controlled companies, R&D tax credits, taxation of intellectual property or a restriction in tax relief allowed on the
interest on intra-group debt, could impact our effective tax rate. Significant losses may arise from Treasury activities
through inconsistent application of Treasury policies, dealing or settlement errors, or counterparty defaults. Any such
changes in tax laws or their application, failure to comply with tax law or significant losses due to treasury activities
could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

Our Treasury group deals in high value transactions, mostly foreign exchange and cash management transactions, on
a daily basis. The Group’s effective tax rate is driven by rates of tax in jurisdictions that are both higher and lower
than the UK. In addition, many jurisdictions currently offer regimes that encourage innovation and investment in
science by providing tax incentives, such as R&D tax credits and lower tax rates on income derived from patents.
Furthermore, as an international business, we face risks associated with intra-group transfer pricing.

The tax charge included in our financial statements is our best estimate of tax liability pending audits by tax
authorities. We submit tax returns according to statutory time limits and engage tax authorities to help ensure our tax
affairs are current. In exceptional cases where matters cannot be settled by agreement with tax authorities, we may
have to resolve disputes through formal appeals or other proceedings. As an international business, we are also
subject to a range of other duties and taxes carrying similar types of risk.

There is an increased focus on the tax position of multinational businesses, as a consequence of the challenging
economic environment and the priority placed by the G20 on addressing allegations of unlawful tax avoidance. We
have seen some increase in audits as governments seek to raise revenues, both from corporate taxes and above the line
taxes such as customs duties. Such audits regardless of their merit or outcomes can be costly, divert management
attention and may adversely impact our reputation. In addition, there are an increasing number of changes to the
international tax framework which could lead to an increase or decrease in our tax costs.

There is a risk that GSK personnel, or third parties acting on our behalf, seek to induce improper performance
of someone’s role in order to gain or retain GSK a business advantage through the offer, promise or giving of a
bribe. This goes against our ethical standards and is contrary to the laws by which we are bound.

6
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Risk impact

Failure to mitigate this risk could expose the Group and associated persons to governmental investigation, regulatory
action and civil and criminal liability, as well as damage the Group’s reputation, shareholder value, and our licence to
operate in particular jurisdictions, all of which could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

We are exposed to bribery and corruption risk through our global business operations. In some markets, the
government structure and the rule of law are less developed, and this has a bearing on our bribery and corruption risk
exposure. In addition to the global nature of our business, the healthcare sector is highly competitive and subject to
regulation. This increases the instances where we are exposed to activities and interactions with bribery and
corruption risk.

As has previously been disclosed, the Group in 2014 has been subject to regulatory action and media focus with
regard to bribery investigations in China and other markets. On 19 September 2014, the Group announced that the
Changsha Intermediate People’s Court in Hunan Province, China ruled that, according to Chinese law, GSK China
Investment Co. Ltd (“GSKCI”), had offered money or property to non-government personnel in order to obtain
improper commercial gains, and been found guilty of bribing non-government personnel. The verdict followed
investigations initiated by China’s Ministry of Public Security in June 2013. As a result of the Court’s verdict, GSKCI
has paid a fine of RMB 3 billion (£301 million) to the Chinese government.

The US and UK authorities are leading extra-territorial ABAC inquires into certain of the Group’s operations. These
investigations are further discussed in Note 45, ‘Legal proceedings,” on pages 206 to 210 of the GSK Annual Report
2014.

Failure to engage in commercial and/or scientific activities that are consistent with the letter and spirit of legal,
industry, or the Group’s requirements relating to marketing and communications about our medicines and
associated therapeutic areas; appropriate interactions with healthcare professionals (HCPs) and patients; and
legitimate and transparent transfer of value.

Risk impact

Failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations may result in governmental investigation, regulatory
action and legal proceedings brought against the Group by governmental and private plaintiffs. Failure to provide
accurate and complete information related to our products may result in incomplete awareness of the benefit: risk
profile of our medicines and possibly suboptimal treatment of patients. Any of these consequences could materially
and adversely affect our financial results. Any practices that are found to be misaligned with our values could also
result in reputational damage and dilute trust established with key stakeholders. In 2012, we paid $3 billion to resolve
government investigations in the US focused in large part on promotional practices.

Context

We are committed to legitimate Scientific Engagement and the ethical and responsible commercialisation of
medicines to support our mission to improve the quality of human life by enabling people to do more, feel better, and
live longer. To accomplish this mission, we engage the healthcare community in various ways to advance our
scientific knowledge as well as to provide important information about our medicines.

The Group disseminates information about its products through both non-promotional Scientific Engagement and
promotional activities. The former is the interaction and exchange of information between the Group and partners and
external communities in order to advance scientific and medical understanding including the appropriate development
and use of our products; the management of disease; and patient care. It is distinct from promotional activities which
may take place only after authorisation of a new product or indication, and must be conducted strictly in accordance
with promotional laws, codes and the Group’s Policy.

Promotion of approved medicines helps ensure that HCPs globally have access to information they need, that patients
have access to the medicines they need and that medicines are prescribed and used in a manner that provides the
maximum healthcare benefit to patients. We are committed to communicating information related to our approved
products in a responsible, legal, and ethical manner.

At times, researchers, HCPs, healthcare organisations (HCOs) and other external experts that we engage may be
compensated for services and expertise provided. However, payments must not be excessive and must never be or be
perceived to be an inducement or reward for prescribing our products. Consistent with our ABAC policies, they also
must comply with a market’s ABAC laws if the recipient of any payment is a government official.

7
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Failure adequately to protect and inform patients involved in human clinical trial research; conduct objective,
ethical preclinical and clinical trials using sound scientific principles; guarantee the integrity of discovery,
preclinical, and clinical development data; manage human biological samples according to established ethical
standards and regulatory expectations; treat animals ethically and practice good animal welfare;
appropriately disclose human subject research for medicinal products; and ensure the integrity of our
regulatory filings and of the data that we publish.

Risk impact

The impacts of the risk include harm to patients, reputational damage, failure to obtain the necessary regulatory
approvals for our products, governmental investigation, legal proceedings (product liability suits and claims for
damages), and regulatory action such as fines, penalties or loss of product authorisation, which could materially and
adversely affect our financial results.

Context

Research relating to animals can raise ethical concerns. While we attempt to proactively address this, animal studies
remain a vital part of our research. In many cases, they are the only method that can be used to investigate the effects
of a potential new medicine in a living body before it is tested in humans, and they are generally mandated by
regulators and ethically imperative. Animal research can provide critical information about the causes of diseases and
how they develop. Some countries require additional animal testing even when medicines have been approved for use
elsewhere.

Clinical trials in healthy volunteers and patients are used to assess and demonstrate an investigational product’s
efficacy and safety or further evaluate the product once it has been approved for marketing. We also work with
human biological samples. These samples are fundamental to the discovery, development and safety monitoring of
our products.

The integrity of our data is essential to success in all stages of the research data lifecycle: design, generation,
recording and management, analysis, reporting and storage and retrieval. Our research data is governed by legislation
and regulatory requirements.

Research data and supporting documents are core components at various stages of pipeline progression decision-
making and also form the content of regulatory submissions. Poor data integrity can compromise our research efforts.

There are innate complexities and interdependencies required for regulatory filings, particularly given our global
research and development footprint. Rapid changes in submission requirements in developing countries continue to
increase the complexity of worldwide product registration.

Failure to manage environment, health and safety and sustainability (EHSS) risks consistent with the Group’s
ethics, objectives, policies and relevant laws and regulations.

Risk impact

Failure to manage EHSS risks could lead to significant harm to people, the environment and communities in which
we operate, fines, failure to meet stakeholder expectations and regulatory requirements, litigation or regulatory action,
and damage to the Group’s reputation and could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

The Group is subject to health, safety and environmental laws of various jurisdictions. These laws impose duties to
protect people, the environment and the communities in which we operate as well as potential obligations to
remediate contaminated sites. We have also been identified as a potentially responsible party under the US
Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act at a number of sites for remediation costs
relating to our use or ownership of such sites. Failure to manage these environmental risks properly could result in
litigation, regulatory action and additional remedial costs that may materially and adversely affect our financial
results. See Note 45 to the financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’, for a discussion of the environmental related
proceedings in which we are involved. We routinely accrue amounts related to our liabilities for such matters.

Risk to the Group’s business activity if critical or sensitive computer systems or information are not available
when needed, are accessed by those not authorised, or are deliberately changed or corrupted.

8
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Risk impact

Failure to adequately protect critical and sensitive systems and information may result in our inability to maintain
patent rights, loss of commercial or strategic advantage, damage to our reputation or business disruption including
litigation or regulatory sanction and fines, which could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

We rely on critical and sensitive systems and data, such as corporate strategic plans, sensitive personally identifiable
information, intellectual property, manufacturing systems and trade secrets. There is the potential that malicious or
careless actions expose our computer systems or information to misuse or unauthorised disclosure.

Inability to recover and sustain critical operations following a disruption or to respond to a crisis incident in a
timely manner.

Risk impact

Failure to manage crisis and continuity management (CCM) effectively can lead to prolonged business disruption,
greater damage to the Group’s assets, and risk of supply disruption to patients of a medicine, any of which could
materially and adversely affect our financial results. Delays to operational activities and delivery of our products to
consumers and patients who rely on them could also expose us to litigation or regulatory action, materially and
adversely affect our financial results and lead to reputational damage.

Context

The Group’s international operations, and those of its partners, maintain a vast global footprint exposing our
workforce, facilities, operations and information technology to potential disruption resulting from a natural event
(e.g., storm or earthquake), a man-made event (e.g., civil unrest, terrorism), or a global emergency (e.g., Ebola
outbreak, Flu pandemic). Through effective crisis management and business continuity planning we are committed to
providing for the health and safety of our people, minimising damage and impact to the Group, and maintaining
functional operations following a natural or man-made disaster, or a public health emergency.

Failure to maintain adequate governance and oversight over third-party relationships; failure of third-parties
to meet their contractual, regulatory, confidentiality or other obligations; failure of third-parties to comply
with the law or appropriately manage their respective operations to mitigate the Principal Risks to the Group
outlined above.

Risk impact

Failure to adequately manage third-party relationships could result in business interruption and exposure to risk
ranging from sub-optimal contractual terms and conditions, to severe business sanctions and/or significant
reputational damage. Any of these consequences could materially and adversely affect our business operations and
financial results.

Context

Third parties are critical to our business delivery and are an integral part of the solution to improve our productivity,
quality, service and innovation. We rely on third-parties, including suppliers, distributors, individual contractors,
licensees, and other pharmaceutical and biotechnology collaboration partners for discovery, manufacture, and
marketing of our products and important business processes.

However, these business relationships present a material risk. For example, we share critical and sensitive information
such as marketing plans, clinical data, and employee data with specific third parties who are conducting the relevant
outsourced business operations. Inadequate protection or misuse of this information by third parties could have
significant business impact. Similarly, we use distributors and agents in a range of activities such as promotion and
tendering which have inherent risks such as inappropriate promotion or corruption. Insufficient internal compliance
and controls by the distributors could affect our reputation. These risks are further increased by the complexities of
working with large numbers of third parties.
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Item 4. Information on the Company

4.A History and development of the company

The information set forth under the heading:
. ‘About GSK’ on the inside back cover;
. “Head Office and Registered Office” on the outside back cover; and
. “Note 38 — Acquisitions and disposals” on pages 183 to 187
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
4.B Business overview
. See Item 3D “Risk factors” above;
In addition, the information set forth under the headings:
. “Overview of 2014 on the inside front cover;
. “Chairman’s statement” on pages 2 to 3;
. “CEOQO’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5;
. “What we do” on pages 6 to 7;
. “Our Global Marketplace” on pages 8 to 10;
. “Our business model” on page 11;
. “Our strategic priorities” on pages 12 to 13;
. “How we performed” on pages 14 to 15;
. “Risk management,” on pages 16 to 17,

. “Deliver” within “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines” on pages 24 to 26, “Viiv Healthcare” on page 32 and
“Consumer Healthcare” on page 34;

. “Pharmaceuticals R&D Approach” on pages 26 to 27;
. “Investment in R&D” on page 27;

. “Vaccines R&D Approach” on page 28;

. “Late-stage pipeline” on page 29;

. “Simplify” within “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines” on page 30, “Viiv Healthcare” on page 32 and
“Consumer Healthcare” on page 35;

. “Responsible business” on pages 36 to 47,
. “Note 6 — Segment Information” on pages 147 to 151;
. “Note 38 — Acquisitions and disposals” on pages 183 to 187;
. “Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on pages 229 to 231; and
. “Consumer Healthcare products and competition” on page 231
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
4.C Organizational structure
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Note 44 — Principal Group companies” on pages 204 to 205
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
4D Property, plants and equipment
The information set forth under the headings:
. “Note 6 — Segment information” on pages 147 to 151; and
. “Note 17 — Property, plant and equipment” on pages 158 to 159
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
5.A Operating results

The information set forth under the headings:
. “Pricing and Regulation” on pages 8 to 10;

. “Intellectual Property and patent protection on page 10;

. “Grow” within “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines” on pages 21 to 23, “Viiv Healthcare” on pages 31 to 32 and

“Consumer Healthcare” on page 34;
. “Group financial review” on pages 48 to 60 and 62 to 70; and
. “Financial record — Quarterly trend” on pages 218 to 219

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

The following tables reconcile total results to core results. References in the GSK Annual Report 2014 to the reconciliations on

page 61 of that report should be read to refer to the information in these tables.

Core results reconciliation — 31 December 2014

Acquisition
Core Intangible Intangible Major Legal accounting Total
results amortisation impairment restructuring charges and other results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 16,471 (503) (78) (204) 3) 15,683
Operating profit 6,594 (575) (150) (750) (548) (974) 3,597
Profit before taxation 5,978 (575) (150) (755) (548) (982) 2,968
Profit after taxation 4,806 (366) (121) (540) (522) (426) 2,831
Earnings per share 95.4p (7.6)p 2.5)p (11.3)p  (109)p 5.8)p 57.3p
Weighted average number of shares

(millions) 4,808 4,808
The following adjustments are made

in arriving at core gross profit
Cost of sales (6,535) (503) (78) (204) 3) (7,323)
The following adjustments are made

in arriving at core operating profit
Selling, general and administration (7,074) (430) (548) (194) (8,246)
Research and development (3,113) (72) (72) (116) 77) (3,450)
Other operating income — (700) (700)
The following adjustments are made

in arriving at core profit before tax
Net finance costs (646) (®)] () (659)
The following adjustments are made

in arriving at core profit after tax
Taxation (1,172) 209 29 215 26 556 (137)

11
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Core results reconciliation — 31 December 2013

Core results Acquisition
excluding Core Intangible Intangible Major Legal accounting Total
divestments  Divestments results amortisation impairment restructuring charges and other results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 18,527 429 18,956 (450) (408) (178) 17,920
Operating profit 7,771 244 8,015 547) (739) 517) (252) 1,068 7,028
Profit before taxation 7,122 244 7,366 547) (739) (523) (252) 1,342 6,647
Profit after taxation 5,487 184 5,671 (398) (513) (378) (243) 1,489 5,628
Earnings per share 108.4p 38p 112.2p (8.2)p (10.7)p 78)p (B.0)p 32.0p 112.5p
Weighted average

number of shares

(millions) 4,831 4,831
The following

adjustments are

made in arriving at

core gross profit
Turnover 25,602 903 26,505 26,505
Cost of sales (7,075) “474) (7,549) 450) (408) (178) (8,585)
The following

adjustments are

made in arriving at

core operating profit
Selling, general and

administration (7,749) (179) (7,928) (300) (252) (8,480)
Research and

development (3,394) (6) (3,400) 97 (331) 39) 56) (3,923)
Other operating income — 1,124 1,124
The following

adjustments are
made in arriving at
core profit before tax

Net finance costs (692) (692) (6) ®) (706)

Profit on disposal of
interest in associates
and joint ventures — 282 282

The following
adjustments are
made in arriving at
core profit after tax

Taxation (1,635) (60)  (1,695) 149 226 145 9 147 (1,019)
12



O L0

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile 55 *"** WMWRhikz0In 21-Feb-2015 09:28 EST 856918 TX 13 3*
FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS  0C
Page 1 of 1
Core results reconciliation — 31 December 2012
Acquisition
Core Intangible Intangible Major Legal accounting Total
results amortisation impairment restructuring charges and other results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 19,322 (378) (309) (128) (1) 18,506
Operating profit 8,238 (477) (693) (557)  (436) 1225 7,300
Profit before taxation 7,543 477) (693) (558)  (436) 1221 6,600
Profit after taxation 5,705 (332) (497) (843)  (286) 931 4,678
Earnings per share 111.4p (6.8)p (7.3)p 174)p (5.8)p 17.5p 91.6
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4912 4912

The following adjustments are made in
arriving at core gross profit

Cost of sales (7,109) (378) (309) (128) (1) (7,925)

The following adjustments are made in
arriving at core operating profit

Selling, general and administration (7,905) (418) (436) 30) (8,789)
Research and development (3,485) (99) (384) (11) 3,979)
Other operating income 1,256 1,256

The following adjustments are made in
arriving at core profit before tax

Net finance costs (724) (D 4) (729)

The following adjustments are made in
arriving at core profit after tax

Taxation (1,838) 145 196 (285) 150 (290)  (1,922)
13
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Financial review 2014

The Financial review summarises the performance of the Group for the year, in comparison with the results of the previous year. The
Financial review also sets out the balance sheet position of the Group at 31 December 2013.

Group performance

Our financial review discusses the operating and financial performance of the Group, the financial outlook and our financial
resources. We compare the results for each year primarily with results of the preceding year and on a CER basis. In this review we
discuss the results on both a core basis and a total basis.

All growth rates included in this Report are at constant exchange rates (CER) unless otherwise stated. CER growth is discussed
below.

Financial review 2013

The discussion that follows on movements in turnover is presented excluding divestments completed in 2013. The 2012 turnover
analyses have been presented on a comparable basis.

Group turnover by business

2012
2013 (restated) Growth Growth
£m £m CER%* £%
Pharmaceuticals 17,426 17,411 1 —
Vaccines 3,420 3,325 2 3
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines 20,846 20,736 1 1
Consumer Healthcare 4,756 4,747 2 —
25,602 25,483 2 —
Divestments completed in 2013 903 948
26,505 26,431 1 —

* CER% represents growth at constant exchange rates. £% represents growth at actual exchange rates.

Total Group turnover for 2013 was £26,505 million, up 1%. Excluding the impact of divestments completed in 2013, turnover
increased 2%. Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines turnover grew 1%. Pharmaceuticals turnover grew 1% and, as growth in the US, Japan
and Emerging Markets was partially offset by continued pricing pressures and generic competition in Europe. ViiV Healthcare
turnover for 2013 was flat. Vaccines turnover grew 2%, despite the adverse comparison with strong Cervarix sales in Japan in 2012.
Excluding Cervarix in Japan, Vaccines sales grew 5%, reflecting the strong growth in the US of Infanrix/Pediarix and Boostrix, both
of which benefited from competitor supply issues, and Fluarix/FluLaval, which benefited from the launch of the new Quadrivalent
formulation, as well as a better performance by the business in Europe. Consumer Healthcare turnover increased 2% to £4,756
million.

Group turnover by geographic region

2012
2013 (restated) Growth Growth
£m £m CER% £%
UsS 8,620 8,330 2 3
Europe 6,862 6,675 — 3
Emerging Markets 6,579 6,629 2 (1)
Japan 1,886 2,219 2 (15)
Other 1,655 1,630 5 2
25,602 25,483 2 —
Divestments completed in 2013 903 948
26,505 26,431 1 —

Group sales outside the USA and Europe accounted for 40% of total turnover and reported growth of 2%, adversely impacted by sales
declines in China.

14
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Group turnover by segment

2012
2013 (restated) Growth Growth
£m £m CER% £%
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines:
UsS 5,817 5,508 4 6
Europe 4,226 3,956 3 7
Emerging Markets 3,370 3,309 3 2
Japan 1,058 1,203 6 (12)
ViiV Healthcare 1,386 1,374 — 1
Established Products 3,874 4,351 ®) (11)
Other trading and unallocated 1,115 1,035 11 8
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines 20,846 20,736 1 1
Consumer Healthcare 4,756 4,747 2 —
25,602 25,483 2 —
Divestments completed in 2013 903 948
26,505 26,431 1 —
Pharmaceuticals turnover
2012
2013 (restated) Growth Growth
£m £m CER% £%
Respiratory 7,289 7,044 4 3
Oncology 969 798 22 21
Cardiovascular, metabolic and urology 1,073 1,144 ) (6)
Immuno-inflammation 161 70 >100 >100
Other pharmaceuticals 2,674 2,630 5 2
ViiV Healthcare (HIV) 1,386 1,374 — 1
Established Products 3,874 4,351 (8) (11)
17,426 17,411 1 —

Respiratory

Respiratory sales in 2013 grew 4% to £7,289 million, with the US up 7%, Europe down 2%, Emerging Markets up 4% and Japan up
10%. Seretide/Advair sales were up 4% to £5,274 million, largely driven by a strong US performance. Flixotide/Flovent sales
increased 2% to £796 million, and Ventolin sales grew 2% to £642 million. Xyzal sales, almost exclusively made in Japan, grew 26%
to £137 million, reflecting a strong allergy season.

In the US, Respiratory sales grew 7%, with Advair up 8% to £2,769 million, compared with 6% estimated underlying growth for the
year (5% volume decline more than offset by an 11% positive impact of price and mix). Flovent sales were up 6% to £482 million
with estimated underlying growth for the year up 6% (4% volume decrease offset by a 10% positive impact of price and mix).
Ventolin grew 4% to £291 million, with estimated underlying growth of 8% driven mostly by improved price realisation in the first
half of the year. The launch of Breo Ellipta began in Q4 2013 with £5 million of sales recorded in the quarter.

European Respiratory sales were down 2% reflecting increased competition in many markets. Seretide sales were down 2% to
£1,458 million, with a 2% volume decrease and no net impact of price and mix.

Respiratory sales in Emerging Markets grew 4%, but 9% excluding China, led by Seretide, which grew 4% to £429 million (12%
excluding China). Seretide continued to deliver strong growth across many Emerging Markets markets. Veramyst, grew 16% to
£71 million and Ventolin increased 2% to £171 million.

In Japan, Respiratory sales grew 10% to £554 million, with strong growth from both Xyzal and Veramyst. Adoair sales grew 8% to
£277 million. Relvar Ellipta was launched in December 2013, recording sales of £3 million.

Oncology

Oncology sales grew 22% to £969 million, marking the second consecutive year of double digit percentage growth for the business.
US sales were up 17% with strong performances by Votrient, Promacta and Arzerra, but also contributions from the launches of two
new metastatic melanoma products Tafinlar and Mekinist. Sales in Europe grew 28% and Emerging Markets grew 18%. Votrient
sales grew 80% to £331 million, Promacta sales grew 46% to £186 million and Arzerra sales grew 23% to £75 million.
Tykerb/Tyverb sales fell 13% to £207 million due to increased competition. Both Hycamtin in Europe and Emerging Markets and
Argatroban in the US continued to be adversely affected by generic competition.

In the US, there were continued strong growth contributions from Votrient, up 56% to £144 million, and Promacta, up 33% to

£73 million, which benefited from a new indication for thrombocytopenia associated with Hepatitis C received during Q4 2012.
Arzerra grew 18% to £46 million. The US performance also reflects contributions totalling £21 million from Tafinlar and Mekinist,
which were both launched in Q2 2013 as monotherapy treatments and achieved strong uptake in the BRAF V600 melanoma market
during the first few months on the market. In January 2014, Tafinlar and Mekinist were approved by the FDA for combination use.
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In Europe, sales grew 28% to £339 million, led by sales of Votrient, which increased by 91% to £130 million, as it continued to build
market share in many markets. Revolade received approval in Europe for use in thrombocytopenia associated with Hepatitis C at the
end of Q3 2013 and sales in the year increased by 47% to £55 million. Tafinlar was launched in Q3 2013 in certain markets and has
achieved strong uptake in these early launch markets.

Emerging Markets sales grew 18% to £149 million led by strong growth of Votrient (up 77% to £37 million) and Promacta (up 92%
to £22 million). In the region Tykerb was down 9% to £47 million, and Hycamtin was down 36% to £7 million.

Cardiovascular, metabolic and urology

Sales in the category fell 5% primarily as a result of the impact of the conclusion of the Vesicare co-promotion agreement in Q1 2012.
The Avodart franchise grew 10% to £857 million with 31% growth in sales of Duodart/Jalyn. Avodart sales grew 5% to £648 million.

The increase in Metabolic product sales primarily reflected higher sales of Prolia in Europe and EMAP.

Other pharmaceuticals

Sales of Anti-virals more than doubled reflecting tender shipments of Relenza in Japan.

Augmentin sales grew 5% to £630 million with strong growth in Emerging Markets, reflecting, in part, a comparison with some
supply interruptions in 2012. Zinnat sales were flat at £169 million, and Zinacef sales fell 14% to £55 million.

Dermatology sales declined 5% to £631 million, primarily as a result of the decline in the US, down 37% to £115 million, which
continued to suffer from the impact of generic competition, particularly to Bactroban, Duac and Soriatane, together with the effect of
the disposal of a number of tail brands in Q2 2013. Emerging Markets sales grew 8% to £289 million, reflecting strong growth in
Bactroban, Dermovate and Duac particularly in Middle East/Africa and Latin America. European sales grew 6% to £170 million.

Volibris, up 21% to £147 million, and Mepron, up 8% to £101 million, were the main drivers of the 7% growth in the Rare diseases
category. Flolan sales fell 16% to £103 million, primarily as a result of the biennial price reduction in Japan in Q2 2012 and
continued generic competition in the US and Europe.

Immuno-inflammation

Benlysta turnover in the year was £146 million, with £134 million in the US. Total in-market sales of Benlysta in the US in 2012 were
£96 million.

ViiV Healthcare (HIV)

ViiV Healthcare sales of £1,386 million were flat as sales in the US were up 5%, Europe down 3% and Emerging Markets down 12%.
Epzicom/Kivexa sales increased 14% to £763 million and Selzentry was up 10% to £143 million. Tivicay recorded sales of £19 million
from the early stages of its launch in the US, which started in August 2013. Tivicay was approved in Europe in January 2014 and
launches are planned in several markets throughout 2014. Growth contributions within this business were offset by declines in the
mature portion of the portfolio, mainly Combivir, down 36% to £116 million

Established Products

Established Products declined 8% to £3,874 million as sales of Lovaza fell 5% to £584 million as a result of increased competition
and the decline in the non-statin dyslipidemia prescription market. Declines in Zeffix and Hepsera reflected the sales decline in China.

Serevent sales were down 10%. Seroxat/Paxil sales fell 16% to £285 million, primarily due to generic competition in Japan and
Europe and Requip sales fell 18% to £125 million reflecting generic competition in the US and Europe. Lamictal sales fell 7% to
£557 million, primarily as a result of generic competition to Lamictal XR in the US, which started in Q1 2013. Sales of the Lamictal
franchise in the US fell 18% to £276 million.

Vaccines turnover

2013 2012 Growth Growth
£m £m CER% £%
Vaccines sales 3,420 3,325 2 3
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Performance of the Vaccines business improved towards the end of the year, with a significant increase in tender sales in the last
quarter. The 2% increase in Vaccines sales was principally attributable to the growth of Infanrix/Pediarix, Fluarix/FluLaval and
Boostrix, which was largely offset by the decline of Cervarix in Japan, reflecting the suspension of the recommendations for the use
of HPV vaccines in Japan, together with an adverse comparison with strong Cervarix sales in 2012, which benefited from the final
stages of the HPV vaccination catch-up programme in Japan. Cervarix sales declined 37% to £172 million. Excluding Cervarix in
Japan, Vaccines sales increased by 5%.

Infanrix/Pediarix sales increased 9% to £862 million, with the growth primarily reflecting stronger tender shipments in Europe and
Emerging Markets as well as the benefit in the US of a competitor supply shortage. Boostrix sales, which also benefited from a

competitor supply issue in the US, grew 19% to £288 million.

Sales of hepatitis vaccines fell 4% to £629 million, primarily reflecting lower sales in the US as a result of the return of competing
vaccines to the market during the second half of 2012, together with declines in Europe and China.

Synflorix sales increased 2% to £405 million, helped by strong tender sales in Middle East/Africa and Latin America.

Rotarix sales grew 5% to £375 million, with strong growth in Middle East/Africa and Europe partially offset by the impact of
increased competition in Japan.

Fluarix, FluLaval sales increased 25% to £251 million, following the launch of the Quadrivalent formulation in the US.

Consumer Healthcare turnover

2012
2013 (restated) Growth Growth
£m £m CER% £%
Wellness 1,865 1,991 ®)) ©6)
Oral care 1,884 1,806 6 4
Nutrition 627 590 12 6
Skin health 380 360 6 6
4,756 4,747 2 —
2012
2013 (restated) Growth Growth
£m £m CER% £%
USA 951 926 1 3
Europe 1,392 1,386 2) —
ROW 2,413 2,435 5 )
4,756 4,747 2 —

Consumer Healthcare turnover grew 2% in the year.

Wellness

Total wellness sales, excluding the non-core OTC brands that were divested in H1 2012, fell 5%. In both the US and Europe alli
reported strong growth, in large part due to being out of stock for much of 2012. A severe cold and flu season in early 2013 helped
drive growth of several respiratory brands including Coldrex, Beechams and Panadol Cold and Flu. This growth was partly offset by
a 57% reduction in sales in China of Contac, due to new shelving requirements, and Fenbid, down 31%, in advance of mandatory

price reductions.

Oral care

Strong growth in Oral care sales was led by growth in Specialist oral health, with Sensodyne Sensitivity and Acid erosion up 15% and

denture care brands up 9%, but Aquafresh was down 12%.

Nutrition

Nutrition sales grew 12% with strong growth in Rest of World markets, led by Horlicks, up 14%, and Boost in India and key

expansion markets in the sub-continent.

Skin health

Skin health sales grew 6%, led by Abreva in the US.
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Regional performance

US sales grew 1%, led by strong contributions from Oral care brands, alli and Abreva. This was partially offset by declines in Gastro-
intestinal products, reflecting increased competitor activity, and Smoking control products impacted by supply disruptions. In Europe,
sales declined 2% helped by sales of alli and strong growth in products for Respiratory health and Pain.

Oral care sales in Europe were flat, as strong growth in Sensodyne and denture care brands was offset by a decline in Aquafresh, due
in part to supply issues in Q4 2013. Rest of World markets grew 5%, reflecting growth across most categories and markets,
particularly in India, partially offset by a 23% reduction of sales in China, mainly due to the reduction in sales of Contac and Fenbid.

Core results

Core results exclude the following items from total results: amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (excluding computer
software) and goodwill; major restructuring costs, including those costs following material acquisitions; legal charges (net of
insurance recoveries) and expenses on the settlement of litigation and government investigations; other operating income other than
royalty income; disposals of associates, products and businesses, and acquisition accounting adjustments for material acquisitions,
together with the tax effects of all of these items. The analyses that follow do not exclude divestments completed in 2013.

Major restructuring costs charged in arriving at operating profit include costs arising under the Operational Excellence restructuring
programme, initiated in 2007 and expanded in 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Major Change restructuring programme initiated in 2013 and
restructuring costs following the acquisitions of Human Genome Sciences, Inc. in August 2012 and Stiefel Laboratories, Inc. in July
20009.

Reconciliations of core results to total results are presented on page 65.

Core results reporting aligns business performance reporting around the underlying trading performance of the Group and its primary
growth drivers by removing the volatility inherent in many of the non-core items.

Core results reporting is utilised as the basis for internal performance reporting and the core results are presented and discussed in this
Financial review as we believe that this approach provides investors with a clearer view of the underlying trading performance of the
Group. We also believe that this approach should make the Group’s results more comparable with the majority of our peers, many of
which use similar forms of underlying performance reporting to discuss their results, although the precise calculations may differ. The
Financial review also presents and discusses the total results of the Group.

Cost of sales

2012
2013 (restated)
% of % of __Growth
£m turnover £m turnover CER% £%
Cost of sales (7,549) (28.5) (7,109) (26.9) 6 6

Core cost of sales was 28.5% of turnover compared with 26.9% in 2012. Net of currency effects of 0.3 percentage points and the
impact of a 0.3 percentage point reduction to the 2012 cost of sales percentage due to the settlement in early 2012 of a royalty
agreement and the conclusion of the Vesicare agreement, the cost of sales percentage increased 1.0 percentage points. This reflected
the expected impact of the unwinding of costs of manufacturing volume shortfalls, adverse mix and the impact of preparing for the
launches of new pipeline products, partially offset by ongoing cost management, better price realisation and restructuring benefits.

Selling, general and administration

2012
2013 (restated)
% of % of __ Growth
£m turnover £m turnover CER% £%
Selling, general and administration (7,928) (29.9)  (7,905) (29.9) 1 —

Core SG&A costs as a percentage of sales were 29.9%, flat on 2012, as the net favourable year-on-year benefits of the Group’s
restructuring programmes and ongoing cost management efforts funded investments in growth businesses and preparations for new
product launches.

Advertising and promotion expenses decreased 2%, Selling and distribution decreased 1% and general administration increased 6%.
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Research and development

2012
2013 (restated)
% of % of __Growth
£m turnover £m turnover CER% £%
Research and development (3,400) (12.8) (3,485) (13.2) 3 @

Core R&D expenditure declined 3% to £3,400 million (12.8% of turnover) compared with £3,485 million (13.2% of turnover) in
2012. This reflected the completion of a number of large trials, the phasing of ongoing project spending as well as continuing cost
management.

We remain focused on delivering an improved return on our investment in R&D. Sales contribution, reduced attrition and cost
reduction are all important drivers of an improving internal rate of return. R&D expenditure is not determined as a percentage of

sales, but instead capital is allocated using strict returns based criteria.

The operations of Pharmaceuticals R&D are broadly split into Discovery activities (up to the completion of phase Ila trials) and
Development work (from phase IIb onwards).

The table below analyses core R&D expenditure by these categories:

2012
2013 (restated)

£m £m
Discovery 742 800
Development 1,535 1,655
Facilities and central support functions 449 377
Pharmaceuticals R&D 2,726 2,832
Vaccines R&D 496 498
Consumer Healthcare R&D 178 155
Core R&D 3,400 3,485

The proportion of Pharmaceuticals R&D investment made in the late-stage portfolio decreased from 58% of Pharmaceuticals R&D
costs in 2012 to 56% in 2013.

Royalty income

Royalty income was £387 million (2012: £306 million) and included a prior year royalty catch-up adjustment recorded early in 2013.

Core operating profit

2012
2013 (restated)
% of % of __Growth
£m turnover £m turnover CER% %
Core operating profit 8,015 30.2 8,238 31.2 — 3)

Core operating profit was £8,015 million, flat in CER terms on a turnover increase of 1%. The core operating margin of 30.2% was
1.0 percentage points lower than in 2012. Excluding currency effects, the margin declined 0.5 percentage points. This reflected the
negative impact of an expected increase in cost of sales, partially offset by higher royalty income and lower R&D expenditure, as the
Group’s continuing restructuring programmes contributed incremental year-on-year savings of around £400 million from both
ongoing and structural initiatives.

The contribution in 2013 from structural benefits was approximately £115 million lower than in 2012. Total savings realised from
changes to post-retirement medical obligations in 2013 were approximately £280 million. In 2012, the Group realised £395 million of
savings from the capping of future pensionable salary increases and a change in the basis of future discretionary pension increases
from RPI to CPI in certain legacy plans.
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Net finance costs

2013 2012
Finance income _fm _fm
Interest and other income 59 77
Fair value movements 2 2
61 79
Finance expense
Interest expense (726) (745)
Unwinding of discounts on liabilities — (10)
Remeasurements and fair value movements ) 24)
Other finance expense (22) 24)

(753)  (803)

Core net finance expense was £692 million compared with £724 million in 2012, despite higher average net debt levels during the
year, largely driven by continuing share repurchases and dividends to shareholders. This reflected our strategy to improve the funding
profile of the Group. Net debt at 31 December 2013 was £1.4 billion lower than at 31 December 2012, reflecting receipts of £2.5
billion from the disposals of businesses, intangible assets, Aspen shares and other investments realised largely at the end of the year.

Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures
The share of after tax profits of associates of £43 million (2012 — £29 million) principally arose from the Group’s holding in Aspen

Pharmacare.

Core profit before taxation

2012
2013 (restated)
% of % of __Growth
£m turnover £m turnover CER% £%
Core profit before tax 7,366 27.8 7,543 28.5 — )

Taxation
Tax on core profit amounted to £1,695 million and included recognition of US R&D credits reflected in the effective core tax rate of
23.0% (2012: 24.4%).

We continue to believe that we have made adequate provision for the liabilities likely to arise from periods which are open and not
yet agreed by tax authorities. The ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided and is dependent upon the
outcome of agreements with the relevant tax authorities or litigation.

Core earnings per share

Core EPS of 112.2p (2012 — 111.4p) increased 4% in CER terms and 1% at actual exchange rates.

Dividend

The Board declared four interim dividends resulting in a dividend for the year of 78 pence, a 4 pence increase on the dividend for
2012. See Note 16 to the financial statements, ‘Dividends’.
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Total results
2012
2013 (restated)
% of % of Growth

£m turnover £m turnover CER%  £%
Turnover 26,505 100 26,431 100 1 —
Cost of sales (8,585) (324) (7,925) (30.0) 8 8
Selling, general and administration (8,480) (32.00 (8,789) (33.3) 3 @
Research and development (3,923) (14.8) (3.,979) (15.1) 2 (1)
Royalty income 387 1.5 306 1.2 25 26
Other operating income 1,124 4.2 1,256 4.8 (10) (11)
Operating profit 7,028 26.5 7,300 27.6 a1 @
Net finance costs (706) (729)
Profit on disposal of interest in associates 282 —
Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures 43 29
Profit before taxation 6,047 6,600 4 1
Taxation (1,019) (1,922)
Total profit after taxation for the year 5,628 4,678 24 20
Total profit attributable to shareholders 5,436 4,499
Earnings per share (p) 112.5 91.6 27 23
Earnings per ADS (US$) 3.53 291
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Cost of sales

Total cost of sales was 32.4% of turnover compared with 30.0% in 2012. The increase primarily reflected the expected impact of the
unwinding of costs of manufacturing volume shortfalls, adverse mix effects, the impact of preparing for the launches of new pipeline
products and higher amortisation and impairments of intangible assets, partially offset by ongoing cost management, better price
realisation and restructuring benefits.

Selling, general and administration

Total SG&A costs decreased to 32.0% of turnover compared with 33.3% in 2012, reflecting lower legal and restructuring charges.
The net favourable year-on-year benefits of the Group’s restructuring programmes and ongoing cost management efforts funded
investments in growth businesses and preparations for new product launches.

Adpvertising and promotion expenses decreased 2%, selling and distribution fell 1% and general and administration decreased 5%,
primarily reflecting lower legal charges.

Research and development

Total R&D expenditure declined 2% to £3,923 million (14.8% of turnover) compared with £3,979 million (15.1% of turnover) in
2012. This reflected the completion of a number of large trials, the phasing of ongoing project spending as well as continuing cost
management, partially offset by higher restructuring and required regulatory charges.

Other operating income

Other operating income of £1,124 million (2012 — £1,256 million) included the profit on the disposal of the Lucozade and Ribena
business and the anti-coagulant products of £1,331 million. The 2012 income included gains on the profit on disposal of the non-core
OTC brands of £559 million and the gain of £581 million arising on the revaluation of pre-existing collaborations as part of the HGS
and ViiV Healthcare/Shionogi joint venture acquisitions.

Operating profit

Total operating profit was £7,028 million compared with £7,300 million in 2012. The non-core items resulted in total net charges of
£987 million in 2013 (2012 — £938 million).

The intangible asset amortisation of £547 million (2012 — £477 million) included £94 million related to the amortisation of the
Benlysta intangible asset acquired as part of the HGS acquisition in late 2012. Intangible asset impairments of £739 million (2012 —
£693 million) included write-offs of several R&D assets, together with the partial impairment of Lovaza, reflecting a reassessment of
the Group’s expectations on the likelihood of potential generic competition.

Major restructuring charges of £517 million (2012 — £557 million) comprised £238 million under the Operational Excellence
programme, £260 million under the Major Change programme and £19 million related to the acquisition of HGS.

The Operational Excellence programme was initiated in 2007 and after several expansions is expected to cost approximately £4.85
billion. It is expected to deliver annual pre-tax savings of approximately £2.9 billion by the end of 2014.

The Major Change programme focuses on opportunities to simplify our supply chain processes, build the Group’s capabilities in
manufacturing and R&D, and restructure our European Pharmaceuticals business. The programme is expected to cost £1.5 billion, of
which the non-cash charge will be £350 million, and is expected to deliver annual pre-tax savings of at least £1.0 billion by 2016.

Legal charges of £252 million (2012 — £436 million) principally related to provisions for existing product liability matters.

Acquisition accounting and other credits of a net £1,068 million (2012 — £1,225 million credit) included items related to major
acquisitions, business, equity investment and asset disposals, one-off required regulatory charges in R&D and certain other adjusting
items. The 2013 net credit included gains on the disposals of the Lucozade and Ribena business and the anti-coagulant products of
£1,331 million. The 2012 net credit included gains on the profit on disposal of the non-core OTC brands of £559 million and the gain
of £581 million arising on the revaluation of pre-existing collaborations as part of the HGS and ViiV Healthcare/Shionogi joint
venture acquisitions.
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Net finance costs

2013 2012
Finance income _fm _fm
Interest and other finance income 59 77
Fair value movements 2 2
61 79
Finance expense
Interest expense (726) (745)
Unwinding of discounts on liabilities (14) (15)
Remeasurements and fair value movements ) 24)
Other finance expense (22) 24)

(767)  (808)

Total net finance expense was £706 million compared with £729 million in 2012, despite higher average net debt levels during the
year, reflecting our strategy to improve the funding profile of the Group.

Profit on disposal of interest in associates

The pre-tax profit on disposal of interest in associates was £282 million (2012 — £nil) and reflected the disposal of 28.2 million
ordinary shares in Aspen Pharmacare for £429 million.

Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures

The share of after tax profits of associates of £43 million (2012 — £29 million) principally arose from the Group’s holdings in Aspen
Pharmacare.

Profit before taxation

Taking account of net finance costs, the profit on disposal of interest in associates and the share of profits of associates, profit before
taxation was £6,647 million compared with £6,600 million in 2012, a 4% CER increase and a 1% increase in sterling terms.

Taxation
2012
2013 (restated)
£m £m
UK corporation tax at the UK statutory rate 265 350
Less double taxation relief — (180)
265 170
Overseas taxation 1,284 1,510
Current taxation 1,549 1,680
Deferred taxation (530) 242
Taxation on total profits 1,019 1,922

The charge for taxation on total profits amounted to £1,019 million and represented an effective tax rate of 15.3% (2012 — 29.1%),
reflecting the differing tax effects of the various non-core items. It included a net deferred tax charge of £234 million related to the
unwinding of deferred profit in inventory as existing inventory produced prior to the 2012 restructuring of the supply chain is sold.
The 2013 charge for taxation on total profits also included deferred tax credits of £393 million, primarily reflecting continuing
restructuring of the supply chain compared to a predominantly non cash deferred tax charge of £420 million in 2012. The Group’s
balance sheet at 31 December 2013 included a tax payable liability of £1,452 million and a tax recoverable asset of £129 million.

We continue to believe that we have made adequate provision for the liabilities likely to arise from periods which are open and not
yet agreed by tax authorities. The ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided and is dependent upon the
outcome of agreements with relevant tax authorities or litigation.

Earnings per share

Total earnings per share was 112.5p for the year, compared with 91.6p in 2012 and non-core net credits totalled 0.3p (2012 — 19.8p
charges).
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Financial position and resources
Property, plant and equipment

Our business is science-based, technology-intensive and highly regulated by governmental authorities. We allocate significant
financial resources to the renewal and maintenance of our property, plant and equipment to minimise risks of interruption of
production and to achieve compliance with regulatory standards. A number of our processes use chemicals and hazardous materials.

The total cost of our property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2013 was £18,853 million, with a net book value of £8,872
million. Of this, land and buildings represented £3,909 million, plant and equipment £2,509 million and assets in construction £2,454
million. In 2013, we invested £1,235 million in new and renewal property, plant and equipment. This is mainly related to a large
number of projects for the renewal, improvement and expansion of facilities at various worldwide sites. Property is mainly held
freehold. New investment is financed from our liquid resources. At 31 December 2013, we had contractual commitments for future
capital expenditure of £443 million and operating lease commitments of £777 million. We believe that our facilities are adequate for
our current needs.

We observe stringent procedures and use specialist skills to manage environmental risks from our activities. Environmental issues,
sometimes dating from operations now modified or discontinued, are reported under ‘Our Planet’ on page 57 and in Note 44 to the
financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’.

Goodwill

Goodwill decreased during the year to £4,205 million at December 2013, from £4,359 million. The decrease primarily reflects a
weakening of overseas currencies.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include the cost of intangibles acquired from third parties and computer software. The net book value of other
intangible assets as at 31 December 2013 was £9,283 million (2012 — £10,161 million). The decrease in 2013 reflected assets
acquired from the acquisition of Okairos AG of £190 million, capitalised development costs of £246 million and £183 million of
computer software costs, more than offset by the amortisation and impairment of existing intangibles of £682 million and

£745 million, respectively.

Investments

We held investments, including associates and joint ventures, with a carrying value at 31 December 2013 of £1,525 million (2012 -
£1,366 million). The market value at 31 December 2013 was £2,212 million (2012 — £1,968 million). The largest of these investments
are in an associate, Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited, which had a book value at 31 December 2013 of £229 million (2012 — £430
million) and an investment in Theravance, Inc. which had a book value at 31 December 2013 of £644 million (2012 — £362 million).
During the year we sold 28.2 million shares in Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited, representing 6.2% of our interest, for £429
million. The investments include equity stakes in companies where the Group has research collaborations, which provide access to
biotechnology developments of potential interest and interests in companies that arise from business divestments.

Derivative financial instruments: assets

We had both non-current and current derivative financial instruments held at fair value of £156 million (2012 — £103 million). The
majority of this amount relates to interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts both designated and non-designated (inter-
company loans and deposits) as accounting hedges.

Inventories

Inventory of £3,900 million has decreased by £69 million during the year. The decrease reflects the impact of the disposal of the
Lucozade/Ribena and anti-coagulant products businesses partly offset by higher vaccine stocks and stockbuilding for new product
launches.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of £5,442 million have increased from 2012 reflecting the receivable due from Aspen in respect of the
inventory and a manufacturing site which formed part of the disposal of the anti-coagulants products business partly offset by a
weakening of overseas currencies.

Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

We held both non-current and current derivative financial instruments at fair value of £130 million (2012 — £65 million). This
primarily relates to foreign exchange contracts both designated and non-designated (inter-company loans and deposits, external debt
and legal provisions) as accounting hedges.
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Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables amounting to £8,317 million have increased from £8,054 million in 2012, reflecting the current year accrual
in respect of the acquisition of further shares in the Group’s Indian Pharmaceutical subsidiary of £635 million partly offset by the
effect of the increased shareholding in the Indian Consumer Healthcare subsidiary accrued in 2012, together with a weakening of
overseas currencies.

Provisions

We carried deferred tax provisions and other short-term and non-current provisions of £2,237 million at 31 December 2013 (2012 —
£2.396 million) in respect of estimated future liabilities, of which £646 million (2012 — £527 million) related to legal and other
disputes. Provision has been made for legal and other disputes, indemnified disposal liabilities, employee related liabilities and the
costs of restructuring programmes to the extent that at the balance sheet date a legal or constructive obligation existed and could be
reliably estimated.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

We account for pension and other post-employment arrangements in accordance with IAS 19. The deficits, net of surpluses before
allowing for deferred taxation were £613 million (2012 — £1,312 million) on pension arrangements and £1,246 million (2012 — £1,685
million) on unfunded post-employment liabilities.

In December 2010, the UK scheme purchased an insurance contract that will guarantee payment of specified pensioner liabilities.
This contract was valued at £775 million at 31 December 2013.

Net debt

Net debt decreased by £1,392 million and reflected the receipts of £2.5 billion from the disposals of the Lucozade/Ribena and anti-
coagulant products businesses, intangible assets, part of the Group’s investment in Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited and other
investments. The impact of these was partly offset by the consideration paid to increase the shareholding in the Group’s Indian
Consumer Healthcare subsidiary from 43.2% to 72.5% at a cost of £588 million and to acquire Okarios AG for £205 million.

The Group’s strong cash generation enabled the financing of share repurchases of £1.5 billion and dividend payments of £3.7 billion.

Total equity

At 31 December 2013, total equity had increased from £6,737 million at 31 December 2012 to £7,812 million. The increase arose
principally from a reduction in the pension deficit of £699 million, a reduction in the post-retirement provision of £439 million and
retained profits in the year exceeding shares repurchased, partly offset by the liability of £635 million arising from the open offer to
purchase shares held by the non-controlling interest in the Group’s Indian Pharmaceutical subsidiary, GlaxoSmithKline
Pharmaceuticals Limited.

The changes in non-controlling interests in the year primarily arose from the voluntary open offer to acquire further shares in GSK
Pharmaceuticals Ltd, the Group’s Pharmaceutical subsidiary in India.

Cash generation and conversion

The net cash inflow from operating activities for the year was £7,222 million (2012 — £4,374 million). The increase primarily
reflected legal settlements being some £2.5 billion lower than in 2012, together with the phasing of restructuring expenditure, lower
tax payments and pension contributions, partially offset by a smaller reduction in working capital compared with 2012 given supply
chain investments in inventory and launch preparation.

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Cash payments for tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to £1,701 million (2012 - £1,520 million) and disposals realised
£2,033 million (2012 — £1,124 million). Cash payments to acquire equity investments of £133 million (2012 — £229 million) were
made in the year and sales of equity investments realised £59 million (2012 — £28 million).

5B Liquidity and capital resources
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Financial position and resources” on pages 65 to 70

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
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5.C Research and development, patents and licenses, etc.

5.D

S5E

5.F

Item 6.

6.A

6.B

6.C

The information set forth under the headings:

. “Intellectual property and patent protection” on page 10;
. “Competition” on page 10;
. “Deliver” within “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines” on pages 24 to 26, “Viiv Healthcare” on page 32 and

“Consumer Healthcare” on page 34;
. “Pharmaceuticals R&D Approach” on pages 26 to 27;
. “Investment in R&D” on page 27;
. “Vaccines R&D Approach” on page 28;

. “Late-stage pipeline” on page 29;

. “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines product development pipeline” on pages 225 to 228;
. “Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on pages 229 to 231; and
. “Consumer Healthcare products and competition” on page 231

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
The information set forth under the headings:
. “Financial Review 2013 — Core results — Research and development”; and
. “Financial Review 2013 — Total results — Research and development”
of item 5.A hereof is incorporated herein by reference.
Trend information
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Group financial review” on pages 48 to 60 and 62 to 70; and
. “Financial record — Quarterly trend” on pages 218 to 219
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
Not applicable.
Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Contractual obligations and commitments” on page 67

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

Directors, Senior Management and Employees
Directors and senior management
The information set forth under the headings:
. “Our Board” on pages 72 to 75; and
. “Our Corporate Executive Team” on pages 76 to 77
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Compensation
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Remuneration report” on pages 96 to 128
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Board practices

The information set forth under the heading:

. “Corporate governance” on pages 78 to 95;
. “Governance” on page 108;
. “Termination of employment” on page 124;
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. “Directors” on page 246; and
. “Donations to political organisations and political expenditure” on page 246

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
6.D Employees
The information set forth under the headings:
. “Performance and Engagement” on page 44;
. “Note 9 — Employee costs” on page 153;
. “Note 28 — Pensions and other post-employment benefits” on pages 167 to 174; and
. “Five year record, Number of employees” on page 224
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
6.E Share ownership
The information set forth under the headings:

. “Note 42 — Employee share schemes” on pages 200 to 203;

. “Total remuneration for 2014” on pages 97 to 98;

. “Long-term incentive plans” on pages 101 to 102;

. “Update on performance of ongoing awards” on page 103; and
. “Directors’ interests in shares” on pages 111 to 116

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions
7.A Major shareholders
The information set forth under the headings:
. “Share capital and control” on page 242;
. “Analysis of shareholdings at 31 December 2014” on page 243; and
. “Change of control and essential contracts” on page 247
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
7.B Related party transactions
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Note 35 — Related party transactions” on page 181
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

7.C Interests of experts and counsel
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
8.A Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

See item 18 below.
In addition, the information set forth under the headings:
. “Dividends” on page 244; and
. “Note 45 — Legal proceedings” on pages 206 to 210
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

26



T

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile 527" "**" MWRhikz0In 24-Feh-2015 12:39 EST 856918 TX 27 T7*
FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS  0C
Page 1 of 1

8.B Significant Changes

There has been no significant change since 31 December 2014, being the date of the latest annual financial

statements.
Item 9. The Offer and Listing
9.A Offer and listing details

The information set forth under the headings:
. “Market capitalisation” on page 242;
. “Share price” on page 242; and
. “Nature of trading market” on page 243
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

9B Plan of distribution
Not applicable.
9.C Markets

The information set forth under the headings:
. “Nature of trading market” on page 243
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

9.D Selling shareholders
Not applicable.
9.E Dilution
Not applicable.
9.F Expenses of the issue
Not applicable.
Item 10. Additional Information
10.A Share Capital
Not applicable.
10.B Memorandum and articles of association

Articles of Association of GlaxoSmithKline plc

The following is a summary of the principal provisions of the company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”).
Shareholders should not rely on this summary, but should instead refer to the current Articles which are filed with the
Registrar of Companies in the UK and can be viewed on the company’s website. The Articles contain the
fundamental provisions of the company’s constitution, and the rules for the internal management and control of the
company. The company has no statement of objects in its Articles of Association and accordingly its objects are
unrestricted in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Articles of Association
(a) Voting

All resolutions put to the vote at general meetings will be decided by poll. On a poll, every shareholder who is present
in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every Ordinary Share of which he or she is the holder. In the case of
joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to
the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names
stand on the register. Unless the Directors otherwise decide, the right to attend a general meeting and voting rights
may not be exercised by a shareholder who has not
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paid to the company all calls and other sums then payable by him or her in respect of his or her Ordinary Shares. The
right to attend a general meeting and voting rights may not be exercised by a shareholder who is subject to an order
under Section 794 of the Companies Act 2006 because he or she has failed to provide the company with information
concerning his or her interests in Ordinary Shares within the prescribed period, as required by Section 793 of the
Companies Act 2006.

(b) Transfer of Ordinary Shares

Any shareholder may transfer his or her Ordinary Shares which are in certificated form by an instrument of transfer in
any usual form or in any other form which the Directors may approve. Such instrument must be properly signed and
stamped or certified (or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Directors as being exempt from stamp duty) and
lodged with the company together with the relevant share certificate(s) and such other evidence as the Directors may
reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer.

Any member may transfer title to his or her uncertificated Ordinary Shares by means of a relevant system, such as
CREST.

The transferor of a share is deemed to remain the holder until the transferee’s name is entered on the register.
The Directors may decline to register any transfer of any Ordinary Share which is not fully paid.

Registration of a transfer of uncertificated Ordinary Shares may be refused in the circumstances set out in the
uncertificated securities rules, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to
whom the uncertificated Ordinary Share is to be transferred exceeds four.

The Articles contain no other restrictions on the transfer of fully paid certificated Ordinary Shares provided: (i) the
instrument of transfer is duly stamped or certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Directors to be exempt
from stamp duty and is accompanied by the relevant share certificate and such other evidence of the right to transfer
as the Directors may reasonably require; (ii) the transfer, if to joint transferees, is in favour of not more than four
transferees; (iii) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares; and (iv) the holder of the Ordinary
Shares is not subject to an order under Section 794 of the Companies Act 2006. Notice of refusal to register a transfer
must be sent to the transferee within two months of the instrument of transfer being lodged. The Directors may
decline to register a transfer of Ordinary Shares by a person holding 0.25 per cent. or more of the existing Ordinary
Shares if such person is subject to an order under Section 794 Companies Act 2006, after failure to provide the
company with information concerning interests in those Ordinary Shares required to be provided under Section 793 of
the Companies Act 2006, unless the transfer is carried out pursuant to an arm’s length sale.

Provisions in the Articles will not apply to uncertificated Ordinary Shares to the extent that they are inconsistent with:
(i)  the holding of Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form;
(i)  the transfer of title to Ordinary Shares by means of a system such as CREST; and
(iii)  any provisions of the relevant regulations.

(c) Dividends and distribution of assets on liquidation

The profits of the company which are available for distribution and permitted by law to be distributed and which the
company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare, upon the recommendation of the Directors to
distribute by way of dividend, in respect of any accounting reference period shall be distributed by way of dividend
among holders of Ordinary Shares.

If in their opinion the company’s financial position justifies such payments, the Directors may, as far as any
applicable legislation allows, pay interim dividends on shares of any class of such amounts and in respect of such
periods as they think fit. Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise
provide, all dividends will be declared, apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the shares
during any portion of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. As the company has only one class of
Ordinary Shares, the holders of such Ordinary Shares will be entitled to participate in any surplus assets in a winding-
up in proportion to their shareholdings.
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(d) Variation of rights and changes in capital

Subject to the provisions of any statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under
it) from time to time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company (the “Companies Acts”), the
rights attached to any class of shares may be varied with the written consent of the holders of three-quarters in
nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the
sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of shares of that class. At every such
separate meeting, the provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings shall apply, except the necessary quorum
shall be at least two persons holding or representing as proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the issued shares
of the relevant class(excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) (but provided that at any adjourned
meeting any holder of shares of the relevant class present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum).

The rights conferred upon the holders of any Ordinary Shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the
rights attaching to those Ordinary Shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking
pari passu with them.

(e) Unclaimed dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any Ordinary Shares which remain unclaimed may be
invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors for the benefit of the company until claimed. Unless the Directors
decide otherwise, any dividend or other sums payable on or in respect of any Ordinary Shares unclaimed after a
period of 12 years from the date when declared or became due for payment will be forfeited and revert to the
company. The company may stop sending dividend cheques or warrants by post, or employ such other means of
payment in respect of any Ordinary Shares, if at least two consecutive payments have remained uncashed or are
returned undelivered or if one payment has remained uncashed or is returned undelivered and the company cannot
establish a new address for the holder after making reasonable enquiries; however, in either case, the company must
resume sending cheques or warrants or employ such other means of payment if the holder or any person entitled to
the Ordinary Shares by transmission requests the resumption in writing.

(f) Untraced shareholders

The company may sell any certificated Shares in the company after advertising its intention and waiting for three
months if the Ordinary Shares have been in issue for at least ten years and during that period at least three dividends
have become payable on them and have not been claimed and, so far as any Director is aware, the company has not
received any communication from the holder of the Ordinary Shares or any person entitled to them by transmission.
Upon any such sale, the company will become indebted to the former holder of the Ordinary Shares or the person
entitled to them by transmission for an amount equal to the net proceeds of sale unless forfeited.

(g) Limitations on rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders

There are no limitations imposed by the Articles on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders except that there
is no requirement for the company to serve notices on shareholders outside the United Kingdom and the United
States, if no postal address in the United States or United Kingdom has been provided to the company.

(h) General meetings of shareholders

The Articles rely on the Companies Act 2006 provisions dealing with the calling of general meeting. The company is
required by the Companies Act 2006 to hold an annual general meeting each year. General meetings of shareholders
may be called as necessary by the Directors and must be called promptly upon receipt of a requisition from
shareholders. Under the Companies Act 2006, an annual general meeting must be called by notice of at least 21 clear
days. A general meeting other than an annual general meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice
provided a special resolution reducing the notice period to 14 clear days has been passed at the immediately preceding
annual general meeting or a general meeting held since that annual general meeting.

(i) Conflicts of interest

The Directors may, subject to the provisions of the Articles, authorise any matter which would otherwise involve a
Director breaching his or her duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (each a “Conflict”). A
Director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict shall declare to the other Directors the nature and extent of his
or her Conflict as soon as is reasonably practicable and shall provide the other Directors with such details of the
matter as are necessary to decide how to address the Conflict. The board
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may resolve to authorise the relevant Director in relation to any matter the subject of a Conflict, save that the relevant
Director and any other Director with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution
giving such authority, and, if the other Directors so decide, shall be excluded from any meeting of the Directors while
the Conflict is under consideration.

(j) Other Conlflicts of Interest

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, and provided the nature and extent of a Director’s interest has been
declared to the Directors, a Director may:

(i)  be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company, or in which the company has a direct
or indirect interest;

(i)  hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his
office of director for such period and upon such terms, including remuneration, as the Directors may
decide;

(iii)  act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or
any other company in which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

(iv) be or become a director of, or employed by, or otherwise be interested in any holding company or
subsidiary company of the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

(v)  be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which
cannot reasonably be regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as
director of that other company.

No contract in which a Director is interested shall be liable to be avoided, and any Director who is so interested is not
liable to account to the company or its shareholders for any benefit realised by the contract by reason of the Director
holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established. However, no Director may vote on, or be
counted in the quorum, in relation to any resolution of the board relating specifically to his or her own appointment
(including remuneration) or the terms of his or her termination of appointment or relating to any contract in which he
or she has an interest (subject to certain exceptions).

Subject to the Companies Acts, the company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax to any extent the provisions
relating to directors’ interests or restrictions on voting or ratify any transaction not duly authorised by reason of a
contravention of such provisions.

(k) Directors’ remuneration

Each of the Directors will be paid a fee at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the Directors, but the
total fees paid to all of the directors for acting as directors (including amounts paid to any director who acts as
chairman or is chairman of, or serves on any committee of the board of directors but excluding any amounts paid
under any other provision of the Articles) shall not exceed the higher of:

(i) £3 million a year; and

(i)  any higher amount as the company may by ordinary resolution decide. Such fees may be satisfied in cash
or in shares or any other non-cash form. Any Director who is appointed to any executive office, acts as
Chairman, acts as senior independent director, acts as a scientific/medical expert on the board, is Chairman
of, or serves on any committee of the Directors or performs any other services which the Directors
consider to extend beyond the ordinary services of a Director shall be entitled to receive such remuneration
(whether by way of salary, commission or otherwise) as the Directors may decide. Each Director may be
paid reasonable travelling, hotel and other incidental expenses he or she incurs in attending and returning
from meetings of the Directors or committees of the Directors, or general meetings of the company, or
otherwise incurred in connection with the performance of his or her duties for the company.

(1) Pensions and gratuities for Directors

The Directors or any committee authorised by the Directors may provide benefits by the payment of gratuities,
pensions or insurance or in any other manner for any Director or former Director or their relations, connected persons
or dependants, but no benefits (except those provided for by the Articles) may
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be granted to or in respect of a Director or former Director who has not been employed by or held an executive office
or place of profit under the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings or their respective predecessors in business
without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company.

(m) Borrowing powers

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors may exercise all the company’s powers to borrow
money; to mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future), and uncalled
capital; to issue debentures and other securities; and to give security either outright or as collateral security for any
debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any third party.

(n) Retirement and removal of Directors
A Director is subject to re-election at every annual general meeting of the company if he or she:

(i)  held office at the time of the two previous annual general meetings and did not retire by rotation at either
of them;

(i)  has held office, other than employment or executive office, for a continuous period of nine years or more;
or

(iii))  he or she has been appointed by the Directors since the last annual general meeting.

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts the company may by special resolution remove
any Director before the expiration of his or her period of office. No Director is required to retire by reason of his or
her age, nor do any special formalities apply to the appointment or re-election of any Director who is over any age
limit. No shareholding qualification for Directors shall be required.

(o) Vacation of office
The office of a director shall be vacated if:
(i)  he resigns or offers to resign and the board resolves to accept such offer;

(i)  his resignation is requested by all of the other directors and all of the other directors are not less than three
in number;

(iii)  he is or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the board resolves that his office be
vacated;

(iv) he is absent without permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate
director appointed by him attends) for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is
vacated;

(v)  he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally;

(vi)  he is prohibited by law from being a director; or

(vii) he is removed from office pursuant to the Articles or the Companies Acts.
(p) Share rights

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, shares may be issued with such rights and restrictions as the
company may by ordinary resolution decide, or (if there is no such resolution or so far as it does not make specific
provision) as the board may decide. Such rights and restrictions shall apply as if they were set out in the Articles.
Redeemable shares may be issued, subject to any rights attached to existing shares. The board may determine the
terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any redeemable share so issued. Such terms and conditions shall apply
to the relevant shares as if they were set out in the Articles. Subject to the articles, any resolution passed by the
shareholders and other shareholders’ rights, the Board may decide how to deal with any shares in the company.

Material contracts

On April 22, 2014, GSK and Novartis AG (“Novartis”) entered into a three-part, inter-conditional transaction (the
“Transaction”), pursuant to which they executed an implementation agreement (as subsequently amended, the
“Implementation Agreement”), a contribution agreement relating to a consumer healthcare joint venture (as
subsequently amended, the “Contribution Agreement”), a share and business sale agreement relating to the
vaccines business of Novartis (as subsequently amended, the “Vaccines SAPA”), a sale and purchase agreement
relating to the oncology business of GSK (as subsequently amended, the “Oncology SAPA”) and a put option
deed relating to the influenza vaccines business of Novartis (as subsequently amended, the “Put Option Deed”
and, together with the Implementation Agreement, the Contribution Agreement, the Vaccines SAPA and the
Oncology SAPA, the “Transaction Contracts”). The Transaction remains subject to certain conditions.
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Under the Vaccines SAPA, Novartis has agreed to sell, and GSK has agreed to purchase, Novartis’ vaccines business
(excluding Novartis’ influenza vaccines business). The purchase price for the business is up to US$7,055,000,000
plus royalties. The US$7,055,000,000 consists of US$5,255,000,000 upfront and up to US$1,800,000,000 in
milestone payments. Under the Oncology SAPA, GSK has agreed to sell or license, and Novartis has agreed to
purchase or license, certain assets, rights and liabilities relating to GSK’s oncology business. Novartis has agreed to
acquire GSK’s oncology products for an aggregate cash consideration of US$16,000,000,000. Under the terms of the
transaction, Novartis also has preferred partner rights over GSK’s current and future oncology research and
development pipeline, excluding oncology vaccines, for a period of 12.5 years following the closing of the
Transaction. Under the Put Option Deed, Novartis has the right to unilaterally require GSK to acquire from Novartis
its entire influenza vaccines business for US$250,000,000, or certain parts of the influenza vaccines business for a pro
rata portion thereof (subject to certain customary purchase price adjustments) if the divestment of this business to a
certain third party does not complete (the “Influenza Put Option™). The Influenza Put Option is exercisable during an
18-month period. Any divestment to GSK under the Influenza Put Option (if exercised) would be subject to
applicable antitrust clearances and satisfaction of certain other conditions. Under the Contribution Agreement, GSK
will contribute its consumer healthcare business and Novartis will contribute its over-the-counter business into a
newly-created joint venture company, which will operate under the “GSK Consumer Healthcare” name. Upon
completion, GSK will own a 63.5% share of the joint venture. Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement expected to be
entered into by GSK and Novartis upon closing of the Transaction, GSK will have seven of eleven seats on the joint
venture’s board of directors, and Novartis will have customary minority rights and exit rights at a pre-defined,
market-based pricing mechanism.

GSK’s shareholders approved the Transaction on December 18, 2014. The Transaction received clearance from the
U.S. Federal Trade Commission on November 26, 2014 and from the European Commission on January 28, 2015, in
each case subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions. The closing of the Transaction also remains subject to the
satisfaction of closing conditions pursuant to the terms of certain of the Transaction Contracts. If the conditions to the
closing of the Transaction are not satisfied (or, where applicable, waived) by October 22, 2015 (or such later date as
GSK and Novartis may agree), the Transaction will terminate and, in certain circumstances, termination fees may be
payable by either party. Subject to the satisfaction of the remaining conditions, the Transaction is expected to close in
the week commencing March 2, 2015.

Exchange controls
The information set forth under the heading:

. “Exchange controls and other limitations affecting security holders” on page 242
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Taxation
The information set forth under the heading:

. “Tax information for shareholders” on pages 244 to 245
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Dividends and paying agents
Not applicable.

Statement by experts

Not applicable.

Documents on display

The information set forth under the heading:

. “Documents on display” on page 245
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Subsidiary information

Not applicable.
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Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information set forth under the headings:
“Treasury policies” on page 69
“Treasury operations” on page 70; and
“Note 41 — Financial instruments and related disclosures” on pages 190 to 200

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities
12.A Debt Securities
Not applicable.
12.B Warrants and Rights
Not applicable.
12.C Other Securities
Not applicable.
12.D American Depositary Shares

Fees and charges payable by ADR holders

The Bank of New York serves as the depositary (the “Depositary”) for GlaxoSmithKline plc’s American Depositary
Receipt (“ADR”) programme. Pursuant to the deposit agreement between GSK, the Depositary and owners and
holders of ADRs (the “Deposit Agreement”), ADR holders may be required to pay various fees to the Depositary, and
the Depositary may refuse to provide any service for which a fee is assessed until the applicable fee has been paid. In
particular, the Depositary, under the terms of the Deposit Agreement, shall charge a fee of $0.05 or less per ADR (or
portion thereof) for (i) the issuance, execution and delivery of ADRs or (ii) the withdrawal of shares underlying the
ADREs. In addition, ADR holders may be required under the Deposit Agreement to pay the Depositary (i) any tax,
duty, governmental charge or fee or stock transfer or registration fee arising in connection with the foregoing
transactions or otherwise, (ii) any expense resulting from the conversion of a foreign currency into U.S. dollars and
(iii) the expense of certain communications made, at the request of the ADR holder, by cable, telex or facsimile. The
Depositary may (i) withhold dividends or other distributions or sell any or all of the shares underlying the ADRs in
order to satisfy any tax or governmental charge and (ii) deduct from any cash distribution any tax payable thereon or
the cost of any currency conversion.

Direct and indirect payments by the Depositary

The Depositary reimburses GSK for certain expenses it incurs in connection with the ADR programme, subject to a
ceiling agreed between GSK and the Depositary from time to time. The Depositary has also agreed to waive certain
standard fees associated with the administration of the programme.

The table below sets forth the amount of such payments received in respect of the years ended 31 December 2013 and
31 December 2014 and such payments claimed but not yet received in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014.

Claimed in

Received in Received in Respect of 2014

Respect of Respect of But Not Yet
Direct and indirect payments by the depositary 2013 2014 Received
Reimbursement of NYSE listing fees $372,414.00 $381,152.00 —
Reimbursement of legal fees claimed in U.S. dollars $210,000.00 — $ 600,000.00
Reimbursement of legal fees claimed in Sterling £ 34,444.50 — —
Reimbursement of PCAOB fees $182,100.00 — $ 191,500.00
Reimbursement of Annual Report production costs™® £214,256.47 — £ 272,423.01
Reimbursement of investor relations expenses® $341,212.25 — $ 998,455.09
Distribution of annual general meeting materials $555,387.61 — $ 653,861.77
Tabulation of voting instructions cards $ 72153 — —
Reimbursement of other programme-related expenditures

claimed in U.S. Dollars $ 6,279.12 — —

Reimbursement of other programme-related expenditures
claimed in Sterling

(I Annual Report production costs include SEC filing fees.
@ Investor relations expenses include travel expenses, fees of investor relations consultants, expenses involved in arranging
investor relations meetings and telephone expenses.
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PARTII
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies

Not applicable.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures

The information set forth under the heading:
. “Accountability” on pages 84 to 85
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

US law and regulation

A number of provisions of US law and regulation apply to the company because our shares are quoted on the New
York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) in the form of American Depositary Shares.

NYSE rules

In general, the NYSE rules permit the company to follow UK corporate governance practices instead of those applied
in the USA, provided that we explain any significant variations. This explanation is contained in our Form 20-F
filing, which can be accessed from the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC) EDGAR database or via our
website. NYSE rules that came into effect in 2005 require us to file annual and interim written affirmations
concerning the Audit & Risk Committee and our statement on significant differences in corporate governance.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Following a number of corporate and accounting scandals in the USA, Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. Sarbanes-Oxley is a wide ranging piece of legislation concerned largely with financial reporting and corporate
governance.

As recommended by the SEC, the company has established a Disclosure Committee. The Committee reports to the
CEQO, the CFO and to the Audit & Risk Committee. It is chaired by the Company Secretary and the members consist
of senior managers from finance, legal, corporate communications and investor relations.

External legal counsel, the external auditors and internal experts are invited to attend its meetings periodically. It has
responsibility for considering the materiality of information and, on a timely basis, determining the disclosure of that
information. It has responsibility for the timely filing of reports with the SEC and the formal review of the Annual
Report and Form 20-F. In 2014, the Committee met 11 times.

Sarbanes-Oxley requires that the Annual Report contains a statement as to whether a member of our Audit & Risk
Committee (ARC) is an audit committee financial expert as defined by Sarbanes-Oxley. For a summary regarding the
Board’s judgement on this matter, please refer to pages 87 and 249 of the GSK Annual Report 2014. Additional
disclosure requirements arise under section 302 and section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley in respect of disclosure controls
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.

Section 302: Corporate responsibility for financial reports

Sarbanes-Oxley also introduced a requirement for the CEO and the CFO to complete formal certifications, confirming
that:

. they have each reviewed the Annual Report and Form 20-F;
. based on their knowledge, the Annual Report and Form 20-F contain no material misstatements or
omissions;

. based on their knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information fairly present, in all
material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of the dates, and for the
periods, presented in the Annual Report and Form 20-F;

. they are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures that ensure that
material information is made known to them, and have evaluated the effectiveness of these controls and
procedures as at the year-end, the results of such evaluation being contained in the Annual Report and
Form 20-F;
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Item 16.A

. they are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting that provides
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

. they have disclosed in the Annual Report and Form 20-F any changes in internal controls over financial
reporting during the period covered by the Annual Report and Form 20-F that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to affect materially, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

. they have disclosed, based on their most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
external auditors and the ARC, all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or
operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to affect adversely the
company’s ability to record, process, summarise and report financial information, and any fraud (regardless
of materiality) involving persons that have a significant role in the company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The Group has carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of its management,
including the CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Group’s disclosure controls and
procedures as at 31 December 2014.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even
effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control
objectives.

Based on the Group’s evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as at 31 December 2014, the disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in
the reports that the Group files and submits under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarised and reported as and when required and that it is accumulated and communicated to
management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.

The CEO and CFO completed these certifications on February 27, 2015.

Section 404: Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting.

In accordance with the requirements of section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, the following report is provided by
management in respect of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934):

. management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the Group. Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with IFRS;

. management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission;

. management has assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, as at 31 December
2014 and has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting was effective. In addition, there
have been no changes in the Group’s internal control over financial reporting during 2014 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect materially, the Group’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, which has audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2014, has also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over
financial reporting under Auditing Standard No. 5 of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Their audit report can be found in Item 18 below.

[Reserved]

Audit committee financial expert

The information set forth under the heading:
. “Membership and attendance”, within the “Audit & Risk Committee Report”, on page 87; and
. “Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002” on page 247

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 16.B Code of Ethics
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Code of Conduct and reporting lines” on page 91
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
No waivers were granted from a provision of our code of ethics to an officer or person described in Item 16B(a) that
relates to one or more of the items set forth in Item 16B(b) in 2014.
Item 16.C Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Non-audit services” on pages 90 to 91; and
. “Note 8 — Operating profit” on page 152
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 16.D Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees
Not applicable.
Item 16.E Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
The information set forth under the heading:
. “Note 33 — Share capital and share premium account” on page 178
of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 16.F Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant
Not applicable.
Item 16.G Corporate Governance

Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s corporate

governance practice.

On 4 November 2003, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) adopted new corporate governance standards. The application of
the NYSE’s standards is restricted for foreign companies, recognising that they have to comply with domestic requirements. As a
foreign private issuer, GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GlaxoSmithKline” or the “Company”) must comply with the following NYSE

standards:
1.
2.

36

the Company must satisfy the audit committee requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”);

the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) must promptly notify the NYSE in writing after any executive officer of the
Company becomes aware of any non-compliance with any applicable provisions of the NYSE’s corporate governance
standards;

the Company must submit an annual affirmation to the NYSE affirming GlaxoSmithKline’s compliance with applicable
NYSE corporate governance standards, and submit interim affirmations to the NYSE notifying it of specified changes to
the audit committee or a change to the status of the Company as a foreign private issuer; and

the Company must provide a brief description of any significant differences between its corporate governance practices and
those followed by US companies under the NYSE listing standards.
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As a Company listed on the London Stock Exchange, GlaxoSmithKline is required to comply with the UK Listing Authority’s Listing
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) and to report non-compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “UK Code”).

The table below discloses differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s current domestic corporate governance practices, which are based
on the UK Code, and the NYSE corporate governance standards, applicable to US companies.

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s

NYSE governance practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance Standards Standards
Director Independence
1. Listed companies must have a majority of independent GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic
directors. requirements contained in the UK Code which was issued in
September 2012.

The UK Code provides that the board of directors of
GlaxoSmithKline (the “Board”) and its committees should
have the appropriate balance of skills, experience,
independence and knowledge of the Company to enable them
to discharge their respective duties and responsibilities
effectively (B.1). The Board should include an appropriate
combination of Executive and Non-Executive Directors (and,
in particular, independent Non-Executive Directors) such that
no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the
Board’s decision taking (B.1). At least half the Board,
excluding the Chairman, should comprise Non-Executive
Directors determined by the Board to be independent (B.1.2).
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive should not be
exercised by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive
should be clearly established, set out in writing and agreed by
the Board (A.2.1).

The Board considers that Professor Sir Roy Anderson, Dr
Stephanie Burns, Stacey Cartwright, Lynn Elsenhans, Sir
Philip Hampton, Judy Lewent, Sir Deryck Maughan, Dr
Daniel Podolsky, Urs Rohner, Tom de Swaan, Jing Ulrich and
Hans Wijers, are “independent” for the purpose of the UK
Code.

A majority of the Board members are “independent” Non-
Executive Directors and, in accordance with the
recommendations of the UK Code, the Board has appointed
one of the “independent” Non-Executive Directors as Senior
Independent Director to provide a sounding board for the
Chairman and act as an intermediary for other Non-Executive
Directors where necessary (A.4.1). In January 2012 the Board
adopted a formal written role specification for the Senior
Independent Director.

2. In order to tighten the definition of “independent director” for GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic
purposes of these standards: requirements contained in the UK Code, which sets out the
. . . . rinciples for the Company to determine whether a director is
(a) (1) No director qualifies as “independent” unless the board B P » pany
. . . : ) independent”.

of directors affirmatively determines that the director has

no material relationship with the listed company (either The Board is required to determine and state its reasons for the

directly or as a partner, shareholder or officer of an determination of whether directors are independent in

organization that has a relationship with the company). character and judgment and whether there are relationships or

circumstances which are likely to affect, or could affect, the
directors’ judgment. In undertaking this process, the Board is
required, amongst other factors, to consider if the director:

(a) has been an employee of GlaxoSmithKline within
the last five years;

37
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(ii) In addition, in affirmatively determining the
independence of any director who will serve on the
compensation committee of the listed company’s
board of directors, the board of directors must
consider all factors specifically relevant to
determining whether a director has a relationship to
the listed company which is material to that director’s
ability to be independent from management in
connection with the duties of a compensation
committee member, including, but not limited to:

(A) the source of compensation of such director,
including any consulting, advisory or other
compensatory fee paid by the listed company to
such director; and

whether such director is affiliated with the listed
company, a subsidiary of the listed company or
an affiliate of a subsidiary of the listed company.

(B)

(b) In addition, a director is not independent if:

(i) The director is, or has been within the last three
years, an employee of the listed company, or an
immediate family member is, or has been within the
last three years, an executive officer, of the listed
company.

(ii)) The director has received, or has an immediate family
member who has received, during any twelve-month
period within the last three years, more than $120,000
in direct compensation from the listed company, other
than director and committee fees and pension or other
forms of deferred compensation for prior service

(provided such compensation is not contingent in any

way on continued service).

(iii) (A) The director is a current partner or employee of a
firm that is the listed company’s internal or external
auditor; (B) the director has an immediate family
member who is a current partner of such a firm; (C)
the director has an immediate family member who is a
current employee of such a firm and personally works
on the listed company’s audit; or (D) the director or
an immediate family member was within the last three
years a partner or

38

(b) has, or has had within the last three years, a material
business relationship with the Company either
directly or as a partner, shareholder, director or
senior employee of a body that has such a

relationship with the Company;

(c¢) hasreceived or receives additional remuneration
from the Company apart from a director’s fee,
participates in the Company’s share option or a
performance-related pay scheme, or is a member of
the Company’s pension scheme;

(@)

has close family ties with any of the Company’s
advisers, directors or senior employees;

(e) holds cross-directorships or has significant links
with other directors through involvement in other
companies or bodies;

(f) represents a significant shareholder; or

(2)

has served on the Board for more than nine years
from the date of his or her first election (B.1.1).

The Board considers all its Non-Executive Directors to be
independent in character and judgment and has concluded that
all its Non-Executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the UK Code. The Chairman satisfied the independence
criteria on appointment.

GlaxoSmithKline complied with the UK Code requirement
that all Directors should be subject to annual election or re-
election by shareholders (B.7) at its Annual General Meeting
in 2014, and intends to comply with this requirement at its
2015 Annual General Meeting.

The UK Code also provides that the Board should undertake a
formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance
and that of its committees and individual Directors (B.6).
Evaluation of the board should consider the balance of skills,
experience, independence and knowledge of the company on
the board, its diversity, including gender, how the board works
together as a unit, and other factors relevant to its effectiveness
(B.6). GlaxoSmithKline has complied with this requirement.
In addition, the evaluation of the Board should be externally
facilitated at least every three years and a statement should be
made available of whether an external facilitator has any other
connection with the Company and the external facilitator
should be identified in the annual report (B.6.2). The Company
conducted an externally facilitated evaluation in 2014 and
expects to conduct an internally facilitated evaluation in 2015.

The UK Code provides that all Directors should receive an
induction on joining the Board (B.4). The Chairman should
regularly review and agree with each Director their training
and development needs (B.4.2).

GlaxoSmithKline complied with this requirement.
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employee of such a firm and personally worked on
the listed company’s audit within that time.

(iv) The director or an immediate family member is, or
has been within the last three years, employed as an
executive officer of another company where any of
the listed company’s present executive officers at the
same time serves or served on that company’s
compensation committee.

(v) The director is a current employee, or an immediate
family member is a current executive officer, of a
company that has made payments to, or received
payments from, the listed company for property or
services in an amount which, in any of the last three
fiscal years, exceeds the greater of $1 million, or 2%

of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues.

(For the purposes of these standards “executive officer” is
defined to have the meaning specified for the term “officer” in
Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, the “Exchange Act”).

3. To empower non-management directors to serve as a more
effective check on management, the non-management directors
of each listed company must meet at regularly scheduled
executive sessions without management.

Nominating / corporate governance committee

4. (a) Listed companies must have a nominating/corporate
governance committee composed entirely of independent
directors.

(b) The nominating/corporate governance committee must
have a written charter that addresses:

(i) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities — which,
at minimum, must be to: identify individuals qualified
to become board members, consistent with criteria
approved by

39
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic
requirements set out in the UK Code, which requires that the
Chairman of GlaxoSmithKline should hold meetings with the
Non-Executive Directors without executives present. The
Non-Executive Directors, led by the Senior Independent
Director, also meet without the Chairman present to appraise
the Chairman’s performance (A.4.2).

The UK Code provides that the Chairman should promote a
culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of Non-Executive Directors (A.3) and, in
particular, ensuring constructive relations between Executive
and Non-Executive Directors (A.3). In addition, the Chairman
is responsible for ensuring that all Directors are made aware of
shareholders’ concerns (E.1).

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic
requirements set out in the UK Code, which requires that
GlaxoSmithKline should have a Nominations Committee that
is comprised of a majority of independent Non-Executive
Directors (B.2.1).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Nominations Committee has written terms
of reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website and explain
the Nominations Committee’s role and the authority delegated
to it by the Board (B.2.1). The Nominations Committee
reviews the structure, size, diversity (including gender
diversity), and composition of the Board and appointment of
members to the
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5.

the board, and to select, or to recommend that the
board select, the director nominees for the next annual
meeting of shareholders; develop and recommend to
the board a set of corporate governance guidelines
applicable to the corporation; and oversee the
evaluation of the board and management; and

(ii) an annual performance evaluation of the committee.

Management resources and compensation committee

(a) Listed companies must have a compensation committee
composed entirely of independent directors. Compensation
committee members must satisfy the additional
independence requirements specific to compensation
committee membership set forth in Section 303A.02(a)(ii).

(b) The compensation committee must have a written charter
that addresses:

(i) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities — which,
at a minimum, must be to have direct responsibility
to:

(A) review and approve corporate goals and
objectives relevant to CEO compensation,
evaluate the CEO’s performance in light of those
goals and objectives, and, either as a committee
or together with the other independent

40
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Board and the Corporate Executive Team (the “CET”), and
makes recommendations to the Board as appropriate. The
Committee also monitors the planning of succession for the
Board and Senior Management.

In compliance with the UK Code, the terms and conditions of
appointment of Non-Executive Directors are available for
inspection (B.3.2).

The UK Code requires that a separate section in the
Company’s Annual Report describe the work of the
Nominations Committee in discharging its duties, including
the process it has used in relation to Board appointments
(B.2.4). An explanation should be given if neither an external
search consultancy nor open advertising has been used in the
appointment of a chairman or a non-executive director. Where
an external search consultancy has been used, it should be
identified in the report and a statement should be made as to
whether it has any other connection with the company (B.2.4).
This section should include a description of the board’s policy
on diversity, including gender, any measurable objectives that
it has set for implementing the policy, and progress on
achieving the objectives (B.2.4). GlaxoSmithKline has
complied with this requirement.

As described above, there is an annual Board evaluation
exercise, which also includes evaluation of the Board’s
committees (B.6).

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing its corporate
governance standards and practices. The Company Secretary
oversees corporate governance matters for the Group. The
Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board
through the Chairman on all corporate governance matters.
Domestic requirements do not mandate that GlaxoSmithKline
establish a corporate governance committee.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic
requirements set out in the UK Code, which require that
GlaxoSmithKline should have a Remuneration Committee that
is comprised of at least three “independent” Non-Executive
Directors in addition to the Chairman (D.2.1).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Remuneration Committee has written
terms of reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms
of reference are available on the Company’s website (D.2.1).
The Remuneration Committee determines the terms of service
and remuneration of the Executive Directors and members of
the CET and, with the assistance of external independent
advisers, it evaluates and makes recommendations to the
Board on overall executive remuneration policy (the Chairman
and the CEO are responsible for evaluating and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-
Executive Directors). Where remuneration consultants are
appointed, they should be identified in the annual report and a
statement should be made as to whether they have any other
connection with the company (D.2.1).
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directors (as directed by the board), determine The UK Code provides that the Remuneration Committee:
d the CEO’ tion level
Iigseillpgrrlot;;?s esaluatios;ompensa ton feve (a) should consult with the Chairman and/or CEO about
’ their proposals relating to the remuneration of other
(B) make recommendations to the board with respect Executive Directors (D.2) and should have delegated
to non-CEO executive officer compensation, and responsibility for setting remuneration for all
incentive-compensation and equity-based plans Executive Directors and the Chairman, including
that are subject to board approval; and pension rights and any compensation payments
) . . D.2.2);
(C) prepare the disclosure required by item 407(e)(5) ( )
or Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act; (b) should recommend and monitor the level and
.. . structure of remuneration for senior management
(ii) an annual performance evaluation of the (D2.2):
compensation committee. e
. o . hould ider what ti itment
(iii) The rights and responsibilities of the compensation © (Sin(éilu dig(;n;:anzri (:}:1 Ca onct(r)ilggfig;z gldci?;lﬁ el:len i
committee set forth in Section 303A.05(c). elements) the directors’ terms of appointment would
(c) (i) The compensation committee may, in its sole entail in the event of early termination (D.1.4.);
discretion, r.etam or obtain the advice of a compen.satlon (d) should invite shareholders specifically to approve all
consultant, independent legal counsel or other adviser. new long-term incentive schemes and significant
(ii) The compensation committee shall be directly changes to existing schemes (D.2.4.);
respopsible for the appointment, compepsation and (e) should judge where to position the Company
Qver51ght of the work of any compensation coqsultant, relative to other companies and should be sensitive
independent le.gal counse;l or other adviser retained by to pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the
the compensation committee. group, especially when determining annual salary
(iii) The listed company must provide for appropriate increases (D.1); and
fundmg, as ?etermmed byfthe Comlp;(fnsatlon . (f)  should consider whether the Directors should be
committee, for payment of reasonable compensation eligible for annual bonuses and benefits under long-
to a compensation consultant, independent legal term incentive schemes, bearing in mind that
counsel or any other a dviser retained by the performance-related elements of Executive
compensation committee. Directors’ remuneration should be designed to
(iv) The compensation committee may select a promote the long-term success of the Company (D.1

compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser to the compensation committee only after
taking into consideration, all factors relevant to that
person’s independence from management, including
the following:

(A) The provision of other services to the listed
company by the person that employs the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser;

The amount of fees received from the listed
company by the person that employs the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser, as a percentage of the

(B)

41

and D.1.1).

The UK Code requires that payouts under incentive schemes
should be subject to challenging performance criteria,
including non-financial performance criteria where appropriate
and compatible with the Company’s risk policies and systems
(Schedule A). In addition, remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors should not include share options or other
performance-related elements (D.1.3).

As described above, there is an annual Board evaluation
exercise, which also includes evaluation of the Board’s
committees (B.6).
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total revenue of the person that employs the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser;

(C) The policies and procedures of the person that
employs the compensation consultant, legal
counsel or other adviser that are designed to
prevent conflicts of interest;

(D) Any business or personal relationship of the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser with a member of the compensation
committee;

(E) Any stock of the listed company owned by the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser; and

(F) Any business or personal relationship of the
compensation consultant, legal counsel, other
adviser or the person employing the adviser with
an executive officer of the listed company.

Audit & Risk Committee

6. Listed companies must have an audit committee that satisfies GlaxoSmithKline complies with equivalent domestic
the requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. requirements set out in the UK Code, which require that
GlaxoSmithKline has an Audit Committee that is comprised
entirely of “independent” Non-Executive Directors (C.3.1).
The Board also satisfies itself, in line with the UK Code, that
at least one member of the Audit Committee has recent and
relevant financial experience.

The UK Code requires the Audit Committee to:

(a) monitor the integrity of the financial statements of
the Company and any formal announcements
relating to the Company’s financial performance,
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them (C.3.2);

(b) review the Company’s internal financial controls
and internal control and risk management systems
(C.3.2);

(c) monitor and review the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function (C.3.2);

(d) make recommendations to the Board, for it to put to
the shareholders for their approval in general
meeting, in relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and
to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor (C.3.2);

(e) review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process, taking into consideration
relevant UK professional and regulatory
requirements (C.3.2);

(f) develop and implement policy on the engagement
of external auditors to supply non-audit services,
taking into account relevant ethical guidance
regarding the provision of non-audit services by the
external audit firm, and to report to the Board,
identifying any matters in respect of which it
considers that action or improvement is needed and
making recommendations as to the steps to be taken
(C.3.2);

4
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(a) The audit committee must have a minimum of three
members. All audit committee members must satisfy the
requirements for independence set out in Section 303A.02
and, in the absence of an applicable exemption, Rule 10A-
3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.

(b) The audit committee must have a written charter that
addresses:

(i) the committee’s purpose — which, at minimum, must
be to:

(A) assist board oversight of (1) the integrity of the
listed company’s

43
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(g) report to the Board on how it has discharged its
responsibilities;

(h) review arrangements by which the staff of the
company may, in confidence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties in matters of financial
reporting or other matters (C.3.5)

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee meets the
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in that:

. each member of the Audit & Risk Committee is
deemed to be “independent” in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
applicable NYSE and UK requirements;

. the Audit & Risk Committee, amongst other things,
is responsible for recommending the appointment,
compensation, maintenance of independence and
oversight of the work of any registered public
accounting firm engaged for the purpose of
preparing or issuing an audit report or performing
other audit, review or attest services for the
Company, and each such accounting firm must
report directly to the Audit & Risk Committee;

e the Audit & Risk Committee has established a
procedure for the receipt, retention and treatment of
complaints regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls or auditing matters, and for the
confidential, anonymous submission by employees
of concerns regarding questionable accounting or
auditing matters;

e the Audit & Risk Committee has the authority to
engage independent counsel and other advisors as it
determines necessary to carry out its duties; and

e  GlaxoSmithKline must provide appropriate funding
for the Audit & Risk Committee.

The Board has determined that Tom de Swaan, Judy Lewent
and Stacey Cartwright all have the appropriate qualifications
and background to be an “Audit Committee Financial Expert
as defined in rules promulgated by the SEC under the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Lt}

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic
requirements set out in the UK Code, which require that the
Audit Committee should be comprised of a minimum of three
“independent” Non-Executive Directors.

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee has written
terms of reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms
of reference are available on the Company’s website (C.3.3).
The Committee’s main responsibilities include reviewing the
financial reporting process, the system of internal control and
overseeing the identification and management of risks, the
external and internal process and for monitoring compliance
with laws, regulations and ethical codes of practice, including
review throughout the year of integrated assurance reports
comprising business unit and
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financial statements, (2) the listed company’s associated consolidated internal audit reports. Where
compliance with legal and regulatory requested by the board, the audit committee should provide
requirements, (3) the independent auditor’s advice on whether the annual report and accounts, taken as a
qualifications and independence, and (4) the whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
performance of the listed company’s internal information necessary for shareholders to assess the
audit function and independent auditors (if the = company’s performance, business model and strategy (C.3.4).
:liﬁ? gﬁ?giﬁ%gggj Sr::oitt )1/se ;BZEE;E:&?E The UK Code requi_res that a separate section_ of the annual
transition period pursuant to Section 303A.00, report Sh.OUk.l describe Fh? .vs{ork of the committee in
the charter must provide that the committee will discharging its responsibilities (C.3.8).
assist board oversight of the design and The report should include:
implementation of the internal audit function);
and » the significant issues that the committee considered
in relation to the financial statements, and how these
(B) prepare the disclosure required by Item 407(d) issues were addressed (C.3.8);
(3)(1) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange
Act; . an explanation of how it has assessed the
effectiveness of the external audit process and the
(i) an annual performance evaluation of the audit approach taken to the appointment or reappointment
committee; and of the external auditor, and information on the
(iii) the duties and responsibilities of the audit committee length of tenure of the current audit firm and when a

— which, at a minimum, must include those set out in
Rule 10A-3(b)(2), (3), (4) and (5) of the Exchange
Act as well as to:

(A) at least annually, obtain and review a report by
the independent auditor describing: the firm’s
internal quality-control procedures; any material
issues raised by the most recent internal quality-
control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by
any inquiry or investigation by governmental or
professional authorities, within the preceding
five years, respecting one or more independent
audits carried out by the firm, and any steps
taken to deal with any such issues; and (to assess
the auditor’s independence) all relationships
between the independent auditor and the listed
company;

(B) meet to review and discuss the listed company’s
annual audited financial statements and quarterly
financial statements with management and the
independent auditor, including reviewing the
listed company’s specific disclosures under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations”;

44

tender was last conducted (C.3.8); and

. if the external auditor provides non-audit services,
an explanation of how auditor objectivity and
independence is safeguarded (C.3.8).

Please see section 6 above for a description of the main role
and responsibilities of the Audit & Risk Committee.

In accordance with the UK Code (C.3.6), GlaxoSmithKline
has an internal audit function.
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10.

11.

(C) discuss the listed company’s earnings press
releases, as well as financial information and
earnings guidance provided to analysts and
rating agencies;

(D) discuss policies with respect to risk assessment

and risk management;

(E) meet separately, periodically, with management,

with internal auditors (or other personnel
responsible for the internal audit function) and
with independent auditors;

(F) review with the independent auditor any audit
problems or difficulties and management’s
response;

(G) set clear hiring policies for employees or former

employees of the independent auditors; and

(H) report regularly to the board of directors.

(c) Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

Shareholders must be given the opportunity to vote on all
equity-compensation plans and material revisions thereto,
except for employment inducement awards, certain grants,
plans and amendments in the context of mergers and
acquisitions, and certain specific types of plans.

Corporate governance guidelines

Listed companies must adopt and disclose corporate
governance guidelines.

Listed companies must adopt and disclose a code of business
conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employees, and
promptly disclose any waivers of the code for directors or
executive officers.

Description of significant differences

Listed foreign private issuers must disclose any significant

GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic
requirements in the Listing Rules, which mandate that the
Company must seek shareholder approval for employee share
schemes (D.2.4 and Listing Rule 9.4). Please see section 5(d)
above.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic
requirements in the Listing Rules and the UK Code, which
require that GlaxoSmithKline include an explanation in its
Annual Report of how it complies with the principles of the
UK Code and that it confirm that it complies with the Code’s
provisions or, where it does not, provide an explanation of
how and why it does not comply (Listing Rule 9.8.6). In
addition, GlaxoSmithKline is required to make certain
mandatory corporate governance statements in the Directors’
Report in accordance with the UK Listing Authority’s
Disclosure and Transparency Rules, DTR 7, which was issued
by the UK Financial Conduct Authority to implement the
eighth Company Law Directive; GlaxoSmithKline has
complied with these requirements in its 2014 Annual Report.

GlaxoSmithKline’s Code of Conduct for all employees,
including the CEO, CFO and other senior financial officers, is
available on the Company’s website.

GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by publishing this

ways in which their corporate governance practices differ from document.

those followed by domestic companies under NYSE listing
standards.
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Listed foreign private issuers are required to provide this GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by including this

disclosure in the English language and in their annual reports  disclosure in its annual report on Form 20-F.
filed on Form 20-F.

Item 16H Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
PART III
Item 17 Financial Statements
Not applicable.
Item 18 Financial Statements

The information set forth under the headings:
. “Consolidated income statement” on page 136;
. “Consolidated statement of comprehensive income” on page 136;

. “Consolidated balance sheet” on page 137;

. “Consolidated statement of changes in equity” on page 138;
. “Consolidated cash flow statement” on page 139; and
. “Notes to the financial statements” on pages 140 to 210

of the GSK Annual Report 2014 is incorporated herein by reference.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of GlaxoSmithKline plc

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated income statements, consolidated cash flow
statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of changes in equity present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of GlaxoSmithKline plc and its subsidiaries at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 31 December 2014 in conformity
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as at 31 December 2014, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included
in “Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting” included in item 15 of this 20-F. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (signed) London, United Kingdom
27 February 2015
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Item 19 Exhibits

1.1
2.1

4.1

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

8.1

12.1
12.2

Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Registrant as in effect on the date hereof.

Deposit Agreement among the Registrant and The Bank of New York, as Depositary, and the holders from time to time of
the American Depositary Receipts issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary Receipt, is incorporated by
reference to the Registration Statement on Form F-6 (No. 333-148017) filed with the Commission on December 12, 2007.

Service Agreement between SmithKline Beecham Corporation and Moncef Slaoui is incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on February 29, 2008.

Amended and Restated Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline LLC (formerly known as SmithKline Beecham
Corporation) and Moncef Slaoui dated December 21, 2010 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 4, 2011.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Sir Andrew Witty is incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on February 29, 2008.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Sir Andrew Witty dated June 18, 2008 is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on
March 4, 2009.

Amendment to UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Sir Andrew Witty dated
February 4, 2010 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the
Commission on March 1, 2010.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Simon Dingemans dated September 8, 2010 is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on
March 4, 2011.

Implementation Agreement made on April 22, 2014, as amended and restated on May 29, 2014, between GlaxoSmithKline
plc and Novartis AG.

Contribution Agreement relating to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture made on April 22, 2014, as amended and
restated on May 29, 2014, between Novartis AG, GlaxoSmithKline plc and Leo Constellation Limited. Confidential portions
of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

Share and Business Sale Agreement relating to the Vaccines Group made on April 22, 2014, as amended and restated on
May 29, 2014, and as further amended on October 9, 2014, between Novartis AG and GlaxoSmithKline plc. Confidential
portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

Sale and Purchase Agreement made on April 22, 2014, as amended and restated on May 29, 2014, and as further amended
and restated on November 21, 2014, between GlaxoSmithKline plc and Novartis AG. Confidential portions of this exhibit
have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

Put Option Deed relating to all or part of the Influenza Business of the Novartis Group made on April 22, 2014, as amended
and restated on May 29, 2014, between Novartis AG and GlaxoSmithKline plc. Confidential portions of this exhibit have
been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

A list of the Registrant’s principal subsidiaries is incorporated by reference to “Note 44 — Principal Group companies” on
pages 204 to 205 of the GSK Annual Report 2014 included as Exhibit 15.2.

Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 — Sir Andrew Witty.
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 — Simon Dingemans.
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13.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350,
Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code).

15.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

15.2*  GSK Annual Report 2014.

* Certain of the information included within Exhibit 15.2, which is provided pursuant to Rule 12b-23(a)(3) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is incorporated by reference in this Form 20-F, as specified elsewhere in this Form 20-F. With
the exception of the items and pages so specified, the GSK Annual Report 2014 is not deemed to be filed as part of this Form 20-F.
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Signature

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized

the undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.
GlaxoSmithKline plc
By: /s/ Simon Dingemans

February 27, 2015
Simon Dingemans
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 1.1

Company No. 3888792
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

(As adopted by Special Resolution passed on 6 May 2010 and amended by Special Resolutions passed on 5 May 2011, 3 May
2012, 1 May 2013 and 7 May 2014)

OF

GlaxoSmithKline plc
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Company No. 3888792

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

GlaxoSmithKline plc

Passed: 6 May 2010

At the TENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Thursday 6t May 2010, the following resolutions were
duly passed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:-

12

(a)

(b)

Disapplication of pre-emption rights (Special resolution)

THAT subject to Resolution 11 being passed, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in
the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the Directors by Resolution 11 and/or where such allotment constitutes
an allotment of equity securities under section 560(3) of the Act, free of the restrictions in section 561(1) of the Act, provided
that this power shall be limited:

to the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer or issue of equity securities (but in the case of the authority
granted under paragraph (b) of Resolution 11, by way of a rights issue only):

(i) to ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and

(ii) to holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers
necessary,

but so that the Directors may impose any limits or make such exclusions or other arrangements as they consider expedient in
relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of any relevant regulatory body or stock exchange, in any territory, or any matter whatsoever; and

in the case of the authority granted under paragraph (a) of Resolution 11 and/or in the case of any transfer of treasury shares
which is treated as an allotment of equity securities under section 560(3) of the Act, to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to
sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £64,893,333.

and shall expire at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the company to be held in 2011 (or, if earlier, at the close of
business on 30th June 2011) save that the company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might
require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an
offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.
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13 Purchase of own shares by the company (Special resolution)

THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act to
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its own Ordinary shares of 25p each provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 519,146,669;
(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary share is 25p;

(¢) the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to 5% above the
average market value for the company’s Ordinary shares for the five business days immediately preceding the day on which the
Ordinary share is contracted to be purchased and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current
independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time the purchase is carried out; and

(d) the authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next Annual General
Meeting of the company to be held in 2011 or, if earlier, on 30th June 2011 (provided that the company may enter into a contract
for the purchase of Ordinary shares before the expiry of this authority which would or might be completed wholly or partly after
such expiry and the company may purchase Ordinary shares pursuant to any such contract under this authority).

15 Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an Annual General Meeting (Special resolution)

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’
notice.

16 Adopt new Articles of Association (Special resolution)
THAT:

(a) the Articles of Association of the company be amended by deleting all the provisions of the company’s Memorandum of
Association which, by virtue of section 28 of the Act, are to be treated as provisions of the company’s Articles of Association;
and

(b) the Articles of Association produced to the meeting, and initialled by the Chairman for the purpose of identification, be adopted
as the Articles of Association of the company in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, all existing Articles of Association of
the company.
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Company No. 3888792

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

GlaxoSmithKline plc

Passed: 5 May 2011

At the ELEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Thursday 5t May 2011, the following resolutions
were duly passed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:-

22

(a)

(b)

Disapplication of pre-emption rights (Special resolution)

THAT subject to Resolution 21 being passed, in substitution for all subsisting authorities, the Directors be and are hereby
empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the Directors by
Resolution 21 and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity securities under section 560(3) of the Act, free of
the restrictions in section 561(1) of the Act, provided that this power shall be limited:

to the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer or issue of equity securities:
(i) to ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and

(ii) to holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers
necessary,

but so that the Directors may impose any limits or make such exclusions or other arrangements as they consider expedient in
relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of any relevant regulatory body or stock exchange, in any territory, or any matter whatsoever; and

to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£64,845,990.

and shall expire at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the company to be held in 2012 (or, if earlier, at the close of
business on 30th June 2012) save that the company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might
require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an
offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.
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23 Purchase of own shares by the company (Special resolution)

THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act to
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its own Ordinary shares of 25 pence each provided
that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 518,767,924;
(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary share is 25 pence;

(¢) the maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal
to 5% above the average market value for the company’s Ordinary shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
day on which the Ordinary share is contracted to be purchased; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and
the highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time the purchase is carried out; and

(d) the authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next Annual General
Meeting of the company to be held in 2012 or, if earlier, on 30th June 2012 (provided that the company may, before such expiry,
enter into a contract for the purchase of Ordinary shares, which would or might be completed wholly or partly after such expiry
and the company may purchase Ordinary shares pursuant to any such contract under this authority).

25 Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an Annual General Meeting (Special resolution)

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’
notice.
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Company No. 3888792

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

RESOLUTIONS

GlaxoSmithKline plc

Passed: 3 May 2012

At the TWEFLTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Thursday 3 May 2012, the following resolutions were
duly passed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:-

21 Disapplication of pre-emption rights (special resolution)

THAT subject to resolution 20 being passed, in substitution for all subsisting authorities, the Directors be and are hereby
empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the Directors by
resolution 20 and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity securities under section 560(3) of the Act, free of
the restrictions in section 561(1) of the Act, provided that this power shall be limited to:

(a) the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer or issue of equity securities to:
(i) Ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and
(i) holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers necessary,

but so that the Directors may impose any limits or make such exclusions or other arrangements as they consider expedient in
relation to Treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of, any relevant regulatory body or stock exchange, in any territory, or any matter whatsoever; and

(b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£63,109,370.

and shall expire at the end of the next AGM of the company to be held in 2013 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 28 June
2013, save that the company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity
securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement
as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.
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22 Purchase of own shares by the company (special resolution)

THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act to
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its own Ordinary Shares of 25 pence each provided
that the:

(a) maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 504,874,967;
(b) minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is 25 pence;

(¢) maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to
5% above the average market value for the company’s Ordinary Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the day
on which the Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the
highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time the purchase is carried out; and

(d) authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next AGM of the
company to be held in 2013 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 28 June 2013, save that the company may, before such
expiry, enter into a contract for the purchase of Ordinary Shares which would or might be completed wholly or partly after such
expiry and the company may purchase Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract as if this authority had not expired.

24 Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an Annual General Meeting (special resolution)

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’
notice.
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Company No. 3888792

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

RESOLUTIONS

GlaxoSmithKline plc

Passed: 1 May 2013

At the THIRNTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Wednesday 1 May 2013, the following
resolutions were duly passed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:-

22 Disapplication of pre-emption rights (special resolution)

THAT subject to resolution 21 being passed, in substitution for all subsisting authorities, the Directors be and are hereby
empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the Directors by
resolution 21 and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity securities under section 560(3) of the Act, free of
the restrictions in section 561(1) of the Act, provided that this power shall be limited to:

(a) the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer or issue of equity securities to:
(i) Ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and

(i) holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers
necessary,

but so that the Directors may impose any limits or make such exclusions or other arrangements as they consider expedient in
relation to Treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of, any relevant regulatory body or stock exchange, in any territory, or any matter whatsoever; and

(b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£61,330,345.

and shall expire at the end of the next AGM of the company to be held in 2014 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June
2014, save that the company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity
securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement
as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.
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23 Purchase of own shares by the company (special resolution)

THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act to
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its own Ordinary Shares of 25 pence each provided
that the:

(a) maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 490,642,760;
(b) minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is 25 pence;

(¢) maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to
5% above the average market value for the company’s Ordinary Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the day
on which the Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the
highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time the purchase is carried out; and

(d) authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next AGM of the
company to be held in 2014 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2014, save that the company may, before such
expiry, enter into a contract for the purchase of Ordinary Shares which would or might be completed wholly or partly after such
expiry and the company may purchase Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract as if this authority had not expired.

25 Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an Annual General Meeting (special resolution)

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’
notice.
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Company No. 3888792

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

RESOLUTIONS

GlaxoSmithKline plc

Passed: 7 May 2014

At the FOURTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Wednesday 7 May 2014, the following special
resolutions were duly passed under special business:-

22

(a)

(b)

23

(a)

Disapplication of pre-emption rights (special resolution)

THAT subject to resolution 21 being passed, in substitution for all subsisting authorities, the Directors be and are hereby
empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the Directors by
resolution 21 and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity securities under section 560(3) of the Act, free of
the restrictions in section 561(1) of the Act, provided that this power shall be limited to:

the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer or issue of equity securities to:
(i) Ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and

(i) holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers
necessary,

but so that the Directors may impose any limits or make such exclusions or other arrangements as they consider expedient in
relation to Treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of, any relevant regulatory body or stock exchange, in any territory, or any matter whatsoever; and

the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£60,728,484,

and shall expire at the end of the next AGM of the company to be held in 2015 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June
2015, save that the company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity
securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement
as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.

Purchase of own shares by the company (special resolution)

THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act to
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its own Ordinary Shares of 25 pence each provided
that the:

maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 485,827,872;
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(b) minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is 25 pence;

(¢) maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to
5% above the average market value for the company’s Ordinary Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the day
on which the Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the
highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time the purchase is carried out; and

(d) authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next AGM of the
company to be held in 2015 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2015, save that the company may, before such
expiry, enter into a contract for the purchase of Ordinary Shares which would or might be completed wholly or partly after such
expiry and the company may purchase Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract as if this authority had not expired.

25 Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an Annual General Meeting (special resolution)

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’
notice.
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
of
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC

(adopted by Special Resolution passed on 6 May 2010)

Interpretation
1. Exclusion of Model Articles

No articles set out in any statute, or in any statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation made under any statute,
concerning companies shall apply as the articles of the company.

2. Definitions
In these articles unless the context otherwise requires:

“address” includes a number or address used for the purposes of sending or receiving documents or information by electronic
means;

“these articles” means these articles of association as altered from time to time and the expression “this article” shall be
construed accordingly;

“associated company” means any company (i) which is the company’s holding company or (ii) in which the company or its
holding company or any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding company has any interest whether direct or
indirect or (iii) which is in any way allied to or associated with the company or its holding company or any of the predecessors
of the company or of such holding company, of (iv) which is a subsidiary undertaking or any other associated company;

“the auditors” means the auditors from time to time of the company or, in the case of joint auditors, any one of them;

13

the Bank of England base rate” means the base lending rate most recently set by the Monetary Policy Committee of the
Bank of England in connection with its responsibilities under Part 2 of the Bank of England Act 1998;

“the board” means the board of directors from time to time of the company or the directors present at a meeting of the
directors at which a quorum is present;
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“certificated share” means a share which is not an uncertificated share and references in these articles to a share being held in
certificated form shall be construed accordingly;

“clear days” in relation to the period of a notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be
served and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;

“the Companies Acts” means every statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it)
from time to time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company;

“the holder” in relation to any shares means the person whose name is entered in the register as the holder of those shares;
“the office” means the registered office from time to time of the company;
“paid up” means paid up or credited as paid up;

“participating class” means a class of shares title to which is permitted by an Operator to be transferred by means of a relevant
system,;

“person entitled by transmission” means a person whose entitlement to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of
a member or of any other event giving rise to its transmission by operation of law has been noted in the register;

3

the register” means the register of members of the company;
“seal” means any common or official seal that the company may be permitted to have under the Companies Acts;

“the secretary” means the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) any one of the joint secretaries, of the company and
includes an assistant or deputy secretary and any person appointed by the board to perform any of the duties of the secretary;

“the uncertificated securities rules” means any provision of the Companies Acts relating to the holding, evidencing of title
to, or transfer of uncertificated shares and any legislation, rules or other arrangements made under or by virtue of such
provision;

“uncertificated share” means a share of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class, title to which is recorded on
the register as being held in uncertificated form and references in these articles to a share being held in uncertificated form
shall be construed accordingly;

“United Kingdom” means Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

references to a document being signed or to signature include references to its being executed under hand or under seal or by
any other method and, in the case of a communication in electronic form, such references are to its being authenticated as
specified by the Companies Acts;
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references to writing include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory
form whether sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise;

words or expressions to which a particular meaning is given by the Companies Acts in force when these articles or any part of
these articles are adopted bear (if not inconsistent with the subject matter or context) the same meaning in these articles or that
part (as the case may be) save that the word “company” shall include any body corporate; and

references to a meeting shall not be taken as requiring more than one person to be present if any quorum requirement can be
satisfied by one person.

Headings are included only for convenience and shall not affect meaning.

3. Limited Liability

The liability of members of the company is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the company held by them.

4. Change of Name

The company may change its name by resolution of the board.

Share Capital

5. Rights Attached to Shares

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued with or have attached to it such rights and restrictions
as the company may by ordinary resolution decide or, if no such resolution has been passed or so far as the resolution does not
make specific provision, as the board may decide. Such rights and restrictions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same
were set out in these articles.

6. Redeemable Shares

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued which is to be redeemed, or is liable to be redeemed
at the option of the company or the holder. The board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any
redeemable share so issued. Such terms and conditions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same were set out in these
articles.

7. Variation of Rights

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, all or any of the rights attached to any existing class of shares may from time
to time (whether or not the company is being wound up) be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less
than three-fourths in nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares)
or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. All the
provisions of these articles as to general meetings of the company shall, with any necessary modifications,

3
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10.

11.

12.

apply to any such separate general meeting, but so that the necessary quorum shall be two persons entitled to vote and holding
or representing by proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class (excluding any shares of that
class held as treasury shares), (but so that at any adjourned meeting one holder entitled to vote and present in person or by
proxy (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum). The foregoing provisions of this article shall apply to
the variation of the special rights attached to some only of the shares of any class as if each group of shares of the class
differently treated formed a separate class and their special rights were to be varied.

Pari Passu Issues

The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to
those shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

Shares

Subject to the provisions of these articles and to any resolution passed by the company and without prejudice to any rights
attached to existing shares, the board may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise deal with or dispose of shares in the
company to such persons, at such times and for such consideration and upon such terms as the board may decide.

Payment of Commission

The company may in connection with the issue of any shares or the sale for cash of treasury shares exercise all powers of
paying commission and brokerage conferred or permitted by the Companies Acts. Any such commission or brokerage may be
satisfied by the payment of cash or by the allotment of fully or partly-paid shares or other securities or partly in one way and
partly in the other.

Trusts Not Recognised

Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the company as
holding any share upon any trust and the company shall not be bound by or required in any way to recognise (even when
having notice of it) any interest in any share or (except only as by these articles or by law otherwise provided) any other right
in respect of any share other than an absolute right to the whole of the share in the holder.

Suspension of Rights Where Non-Disclosure of Interest

(A)  Where the holder of any shares in the company, or any other person appearing to be interested in those shares, fails to
comply within the relevant period with any statutory notice in respect of those shares or, in purported compliance with
such a notice, has made a statement which is false or inadequate in a material particular, the company may give the
holder of those shares a further notice (a “restriction notice”) to the effect that from the service of the restriction notice
those shares will be subject to some or all of the relevant restrictions, and from service of the

4
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B)

©

D)

E)

(F)

(©)

restriction notice those shares shall, notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, be subject to those relevant
restrictions accordingly. For the purpose of enforcing the relevant restriction referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) of the
definition of “relevant restrictions”, the board may give notice to the relevant member requiring the member to change
the relevant shares held in uncertificated form to certificated form by the time stated in the notice and to keep them in
certificated form for as long as the board requires. The notice may also state that the member may not change any of the
relevant shares held in certificated form to uncertificated form. If the member does not comply with the notice, the board
may authorise any person to instruct the Operator to change the relevant shares held in uncertificated form to certificated
form.

If after the service of a restriction notice in respect of any shares the board is satisfied that all information required by
any statutory notice relating to those shares or any of them from their holder or any other person appearing to be
interested in the shares the subject of the restriction notice has been supplied, the company shall, within seven days,
cancel the restriction notice. The company may at any time at its discretion cancel any restriction notice or exclude any
shares from it. The company shall cancel a restriction notice within seven days after receipt of a notice in writing that
the relevant shares have been transferred pursuant to an arm’s length sale.

Where any restriction notice is cancelled or ceases to have effect in relation to any shares, any moneys relating to those
shares which were withheld by reason of that notice shall be paid without interest to the person who would but for the
notice have been entitled to them or as he may direct.

Any new shares in the company issued in right of any shares subject to a restriction notice shall also be subject to the
restriction notice, and the board may make any right to an allotment of the new shares subject to restrictions
corresponding to those which will apply to those shares by reason of the restriction notice when such shares are issued.

Any holder of shares on whom a restriction notice has been served may at any time request the company to give in
writing the reason why the restriction notice has been served, or why it remains uncancelled, and within 14 days of
receipt of such a notice the company shall give that information accordingly.

Where a person appearing to be interested in shares has been served with a statutory notice and the shares in which he
appears to be interested are held by an Approved Depositary, this article applies only to those shares which are held by
the Approved Depositary in which that person appears to be interested and not (so far as that person’s apparent interest
is concerned) to any other shares held by the Approved Depositary.

Where a member who is an Approved Depositary has been served with a statutory notice, the obligations of that member
will be limited to disclosing to the company information relating to any person who appears to be interested in the shares
held by it which has been recorded by it in accordance with the arrangement under which it was appointed as an
Approved Depositary.
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(H) If a statutory notice is given by the company to a person appearing to be interested in any share, a copy shall at the same
time be given to the holder, but the failure or omission to do so or the non-receipt of the copy by the holder shall not
invalidate such notice.
(I)  This article is in addition to, and shall not in any way prejudice or affect, the statutory rights of the company arising
from any failure by any person to give any information required by a statutory notice within the time specified in it. For
the purpose of this article a statutory notice need not specify the relevant period, and may require any information to be
given before the expiry of the relevant period.
(J)  Inthis article:

a sale is an “arm’s length sale” if the board is satisfied that it is a bona fide sale of the whole of the beneficial
ownership of the shares to a party unconnected with the holder or with any person appearing to be interested in such
shares and shall include a sale made by way of or in pursuance of acceptance of a takeover offer and a sale made
through a recognised investment exchange or any other stock exchange outside the United Kingdom. For this purpose an
associate (within the definition of that expression in any statute relating to insolvency in force at the date of adoption of
this article) shall be included amongst the persons who are connected with the holder or any person appearing to be
interested in such shares;

“person appearing to be interested” in any shares shall mean any person named in a response to a statutory notice or
otherwise notified to the company by a member as being so interested or shown in any register or record kept by the
company under the Companies Acts as so interested or, taking into account a response or failure to respond in the light
of the response to any other statutory notice and any other relevant information in the possession of the company, any
person whom the company knows or has reasonable cause to believe is or may be so interested;

“person with a 0.25 per cent. interest” means a person who holds, or is shown in any register or record kept by the
company under the Companies Acts as having an interest in, shares in the company which comprise in total at least
0.25 per cent. in number or nominal value of the shares of the company (calculated exclusive of any shares held as
treasury shares), or of any class of such shares (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class held as treasury shares),
in issue at the date of service of the restriction notice;

“relevant period” means a period of 14 days following service of a statutory notice;

“relevant restrictions” mean in the case of a restriction notice served on a person with a 0.25 per cent. interest that:

@) the shares shall not confer on the holder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at any general
meeting of the company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company
or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings;

6
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(i1) the board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the

shares and the holder shall not be entitled to receive shares in lieu of dividend;

(iii))  the board may decline to register a transfer of any of the shares which are certificated shares, unless such a
transfer is pursuant to an arm’s length sale,

and in any other case mean only the restriction specified in sub-paragraph (i) of this definition; and

“statutory notice” means a notice served by the company under the Companies Acts requiring particulars of interests in
shares or of the identity of persons interested in shares.

13. Uncertificated Shares

A)

B)

©

Pursuant and subject to the uncertificated securities rules, the board may permit title to shares of any class to be
evidenced otherwise than by a certificate and title to shares of such a class to be transferred by means of a relevant
system and may make arrangements for a class of shares (if all shares of that class are in all respects identical) to
become a participating class. Title to shares of a particular class may only be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate
where that class of shares is at the relevant time a participating class. The board may also, subject to compliance with the
uncertificated securities rules, determine at any time that title to any class of shares may from a date specified by the
board no longer be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate or that title to such a class shall cease to be transferred by
means of any particular relevant system.

In relation to a class of shares which is a participating class and for so long as it remains a participating class, no
provision of these articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is inconsistent in any respect with:

(i) the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form;
(i1) the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of a relevant system; and
(iii)  any provision of the uncertificated securities rules,

and, without prejudice to the generality of this article, no provision of these articles shall apply or have effect to the
extent that it is in any respect inconsistent with the maintenance, keeping or entering up by the Operator, so long as that
is permitted or required by the uncertificated securities rules, of an Operator register of securities in respect of that class
of shares in uncertificated form.

Shares of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class may be changed from uncertificated to certificated
form, and from certificated to uncertificated form, in accordance with and subject as provided in the uncertificated
securities rules.
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(D) If, under these articles or the Companies Acts, the company is entitled to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, forfeit,

14.

E)

(F)

(©)

re-allot, accept the surrender of or otherwise enforce a lien over an uncertificated share, then, subject to these articles
and the Companies Acts, such entitlement shall include the right of the board to:

@) require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice in writing to change that share from uncertificated to
certificated form within such period as may be specified in the notice and keep it as a certificated share for as
long as the board requires;

(i1) appoint any person to take such other steps, by instruction given by means of a relevant system or otherwise, in
the name of the holder of such share as may be required to effect the transfer of such share and such steps shall
be as effective as they had been taken by the registered holder of that share; and

(iii) take such other action that the board considers appropriate to achieve the sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-
allotment or surrender of that share or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

Unless the board otherwise determines, shares which a member holds in uncertificated form shall be treated as separate
holdings from any shares which that member holds in certificated form. However shares held in uncertificated form
shall not be treated as forming a class which is separate from certificated shares with the same rights.

Unless the board otherwise determines or the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, any shares issued or
created out of or in respect of any uncertificated shares shall be uncertificated shares and any shares issued or created
out of or in respect of any certificated shares shall be certificated shares.

The company shall be entitled to assume that the entries on any record of securities maintained by it in accordance with
the uncertificated securities rules and regularly reconciled with the relevant Operator register of securities are a complete
and accurate reproduction of the particulars entered in the Operator register of securities and shall accordingly not be
liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted to be done by or on behalf of the company in reliance on such
assumption; in particular, any provision of these articles which requires or envisages that action will be taken in reliance
on information contained in the register shall be construed to permit that action to be taken in reliance on information
contained in any relevant record of securities (as so maintained and reconciled).

Right to Share Certificates

Every person (except a person to whom the company is not by law required to issue a certificate) whose name is entered in the
register as a holder of any certificated shares shall be entitled, without payment, to receive within the time limits prescribed by
the Companies Acts (or, if earlier, within any prescribed time limit or within a time specified when the shares were issued) one
certificate for all those shares of any one class. In the case of a certificated share held jointly by several persons, the company
shall not be
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15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

bound to issue more than one certificate and delivery of a certificate to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient delivery
to all. A member who transfers some but not all of the shares comprised in a certificate shall be entitled to a certificate for the
balance without charge to the extent the balance is to be held in certificated form.

Replacement of Share Certificates

If a share certificate is defaced, worn out, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced on such terms (if any) as to evidence and
indemnity as the board may decide and, where it is defaced or worn out, after delivery of the old certificate to the company.
Any two or more certificates representing shares of any one class held by any member shall at his request be cancelled and a
single new certificate for such shares issued in lieu. Any certificate representing shares of any one class held by any member
may at his request be cancelled and two or more certificates for such shares may be issued instead. The board may require the
payment of any exceptional out-of-pocket expenses of the company incurred in connection with the issue of any certificates
under this article. Any one of two or more joint holders may request replacement certificates under this article.

Share Certificates Sent at Holder’s Risk

Every share certificate sent in accordance with these articles will be sent at the risk of the member or other person entitled to
the certificate. The company will not be responsible for any share certificate lost or delayed in the course of delivery.

Execution of Share Certificates

Every share certificate shall be executed under a seal or in such other manner as the board, having regard to the terms of issue
and any listing requirements, may authorise and shall specify the number and class of the shares to which it relates and the
amount or respective amounts paid up on the shares. The board may by resolution decide, either generally or in any particular
case or cases, that any signatures on any share certificates need not be autographic but may be applied to the certificates by
some mechanical or other means or may be printed on them or that the certificates need not be signed by any person.

Lien

Company’s Lien on Shares Not Fully Paid

The company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all amounts payable to the
company (whether presently or not) in respect of that share. The company’s lien on a share shall extend to every amount
payable in respect of it. The board may at any time either generally or in any particular case waive any lien that has arisen or
declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the provisions of this article.

Enforcing Lien by Sale

The company may sell, in such manner as the board may decide, any share on which the company has a lien if a sum in respect
of which the lien exists is presently payable and is
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20.

21.

22,

23.

24,

not paid within 14 clear days after a notice has been served on the holder of the share or the person who is entitled by
transmission to the share, demanding payment and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be sold. For
giving effect to the sale the board may authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer of the share sold to or in
accordance with the directions of the purchaser. The transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase
money, nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in relation to the sale.

Application of Proceeds of Sale

The net proceeds, after payment of the costs, of the sale by the company of any share on which it has a lien shall be applied in
or towards payment or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists so far as it is presently payable, and
any residue shall (subject to a like lien for debts or liabilities not presently payable as existed upon the share prior to the sale
and upon surrender, if required by the company, for cancellation of the certificate for the share sold) be paid to the person who
was entitled to the share at the time of the sale.

Calls on Shares

Calls

Subject to the terms of issue, the board may from time to time make calls upon the members in respect of any moneys unpaid
on their shares (whether on account of the nominal amount of the shares or by way of premium) and not payable on a date
fixed by or in accordance with the terms of issue, and each member shall (subject to the company serving upon him at least 14
clear days’ notice specifying when and where payment is to be made) pay to the company as required by the notice the amount
called on his shares. A call may be made payable by instalments. A call may be revoked or postponed, in whole or in part, as
the board may decide. A person upon whom a call is made shall remain liable jointly and severally with the successors in title
to his shares for all calls made upon him notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the shares in respect of which the call was
made.

Timing of Calls

A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the board authorising the call was passed.

Liability of Joint Holders

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of the share.

Interest Due on Non-Payment

If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay interest on
the amount unpaid from the day it is due and payable to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of
England base rate by more than five percentage points) as the board may decide, and all expenses

10
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that have been incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment, but the board shall be at liberty in any case or cases to
waive payment of the interest or expenses wholly or in part.

25.  Sums Due on Allotment Treated as Calls

Any amount which becomes payable in respect of a share on allotment or on any other date fixed by or in accordance with the
terms of issue, whether in respect of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium or as an instalment of a call, shall
be deemed to be a call and, if it is not paid, all the provisions of these articles shall apply as if the sum had become due and
payable by virtue of a call.

26. Power to Differentiate

The board may on or before the issue of shares differentiate between the allottees or holders as to the amount of calls to be paid
and the times of payment.

27. Payment of Calls in Advance

The board may, if it thinks fit, receive from any member who is willing to advance them all or any part of the moneys uncalled
and unpaid upon any shares held by him and on all or any of the moneys so advanced may (until they would, but for the
advance, become presently payable) pay interest at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five
percentage points, unless the company by ordinary resolution shall otherwise direct) as the board may decide.

Forfeiture of Shares

28. Notice if Call or Instalment Not Paid

If any call or instalment of a call remains unpaid on any share after the day appointed for payment, the board may at any time
serve a notice on the holder requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest
which may have accrued and any expenses incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment.

29. Form of Notice

The notice shall name a further day (not being less than 14 clear days from the date of the notice) on or before which, and the
place where, the payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state that in the event of non-payment on or before the
day and at the place appointed, the shares in respect of which the call has been made or instalment is payable will be liable to
be forfeited.

30. Forfeiture for Non-Compliance with Notice

If the notice is not complied with, any share in respect of which it was given may, at any time before payment of all calls or
instalments and interest and expenses due in respect of it have been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the board to that effect
and the forfeiture shall include all dividends declared and other moneys payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid
before the forfeiture. The board may accept the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited and, in that event, references in
these articles to forfeiture shall include surrender.

11
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31. Notice after Forfeiture

32.

33.

34.

3s.

When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served upon the person who was before forfeiture the holder
of the share but no forfeiture shall be invalidated by any omission or neglect to give notice.

Sale of Forfeited Shares

Until cancelled in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts, a forfeited share shall be deemed to be the
property of the company and may be sold or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was, before forfeiture, the holder
or to any other person upon such terms and in such manner as the board shall decide. The board may for the purposes of the
disposal authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer to the designated transferee. The company may receive the
consideration (if any) given for the share on its disposal. At any time before a sale or disposition the forfeiture may be
cancelled by the board on such terms as the board may decide.

Arrears to be Paid Notwithstanding Forfeiture

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of them and shall surrender to the company
for cancellation the certificate for the forfeited shares but shall remain liable to pay to the company all moneys which at the
date of the forfeiture were payable by him to the company in respect of those shares with interest thereon at such rate (not
exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five percentage points) as the board may decide from the date of
forfeiture until payment, and the company may enforce payment without being under any obligation to make any allowance for
the value of the shares forfeited or for any consideration received on their disposal.

Statutory Declaration as to Forfeiture

A statutory declaration that the declarant is a director of the company or the secretary and that a share has been forfeited on a
specified date shall be conclusive evidence of the facts stated in it as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share.
The declaration shall (subject to the signing of an instrument of transfer if necessary) constitute a good title to the share and the
person to whom the share is sold or otherwise disposed of shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money (if
any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, sale
or disposal.

Transfer of Shares

Transfer
(A) Subject to such of the restrictions of these articles as may be applicable:

@) any member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares by means of a relevant system in such manner
provided for, and subject as provided in,

12
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36.

37.

38.

B)

(i)

the uncertificated securities rules, and accordingly no provision of these articles shall apply in respect of an
uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting of a transfer by an instrument in
writing or the production of a certificate for the share to be transferred; and

any member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or in
any other form which the board may approve.

The transferor of a share shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is
entered in the register in respect of it.

Signing of Transfer

The instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly
paid share) the transferee. All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be retained by the company.

Rights to Decline Registration of Partly Paid Shares

The board can decline to register any transfer of any share which is not a fully paid share.

Other Rights to Decline Registration

A)

B)

©)

Registration of a transfer of an uncertificated share may be refused in the circumstances set out in the uncertificated
securities rules, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the
uncertificated share is to be transferred exceeds four.

The board may decline to register any transfer of a certificated share unless:

®

(ii)
(iii)

the instrument of transfer is duly stamped or duly certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the board to
be exempt from stamp duty and is left at the office or such other place as the board may from time to time
determine accompanied (save in the case of a transfer by a person to whom the company is not required by law
to issue a certificate and to whom a certificate has not been issued) by the certificate for the share to which it
relates and such other evidence as the board may reasonably require to show the right of the person signing the
instrument of transfer to make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is signed by some other person on
his behalf, the authority of that person so to do;

the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and

in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be transferred does
not exceed four.

For all purposes of these articles relating to the registration of transfers of shares, the renunciation of the allotment of
any shares by the allottee in favour of some other person shall be deemed to be a transfer and the board shall have the
same powers of refusing to give effect to such a renunciation as if it were a transfer.

13
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39. No Fee for Registration

40.

No fee shall be charged by the company for registering any transfer, document or instruction relating to or affecting the title to
any share or for making any other entry in the register.

Untraced Shareholders

A)

B)

©

The company may sell any certificated shares in the company on behalf of the holder of, or person entitled by
transmission to, the shares at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale if:

®

(i)

(iii)

@iv)

the shares have been in issue either in certificated or uncertificated form throughout the qualifying period and at
least three cash dividends have become payable on the shares during the qualifying period;

no cash dividend payable on the shares has either been claimed by presentation to the paying bank of the
relevant cheque or warrant or been satisfied by the transfer of funds to a bank account designated by the holder
of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares or by the transfer of funds by means of a relevant system at
any time during the relevant period;

so far as any director of the company at the end of the relevant period is then aware, the company has not at any
time during the relevant period received any communication from the holder of, or person entitled by
transmission to, the shares; and

the company has caused two advertisements to be published, one in a newspaper with a national circulation and
the other in a newspaper circulating in the area in which the last known postal address of the holder of, or person
entitled by transmission to, the shares or the postal address at which service of notices may be effected under
these articles is located, giving notice of its intention to sell the shares and a period of three months has elapsed
from the date of publication of the advertisements or of the last of the two advertisements to be published if they
are published on different dates.

The company shall also be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale any additional
certificated shares in the company issued either in certificated or uncertificated form during the qualifying period in right
of any share to which paragraph (A) of this article applies (or in right of any share so issued), if the criteria in

paragraph (A)(ii) to (iv) are satisfied in relation to the additional shares.

To give effect to any sale of shares pursuant to this article the board may authorise some person to transfer the shares in
question and an instrument of transfer signed by that person shall be as effective as if it had been signed by the holder
of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares. The purchaser shall not be bound to

14
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41.

42,

43.

see to the application of the purchase moneys nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity
in the proceedings relating to the sale. The net proceeds of sale shall belong to the company and, upon their receipt, the
company shall become indebted to the former holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares for an amount
equal to the net proceeds unless and until forfeited under this article. No trust shall be created in respect of the debt and
no interest shall be payable in respect of it and the company shall not be required to account for any moneys earned from
the net proceeds which may be employed in the business of the company or as it thinks fit. If no valid claim for the
money has been received by the company during a period of six years from the date on which the relevant shares were
sold by the company under this article, the money will be forfeited and will belong to the company.

(D)  For the purpose of this article:

“the qualifying period” means the period of 10 years immediately preceding the date of publication of the advertisements
referred to in paragraph (A)(iv) above or of the first of the two advertisements to be published if they are published on different
dates; and

“the relevant period” means the period beginning at the commencement of the qualifying period and ending on the date when
all the requirements of paragraphs (A)(i) to (iv) above have been satisfied.

Transmission of Shares

Transmission on Death

If a member dies, the survivor or survivors, where he was a joint holder, and his personal representatives, where he was a sole
holder or the only survivor of joint holders, shall be the only persons recognised by the company as having any title to his
shares; but nothing contained in these articles shall release the estate of a deceased holder from any liability in respect of any
share held by him solely or jointly with other persons.

Entry of Transmission in Register

Where the entitlement of a person to a certificated share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any other
event giving rise to its transmission by operation of law is proved to the satisfaction of the board, the board shall within two
months after proof cause the entitlement of that person to be noted in the register.

Election of Person Entitled by Transmission

Any person entitled by transmission to a share may, subject as provided elsewhere in these articles, elect either to become the
holder of the share or to have some person nominated by him registered as the holder. If he elects to be registered himself he
shall give notice to the company to that effect. If he elects to have another person registered and the share is a certificated
share, he shall sign an instrument of transfer of the share to that person. If he elects to have himself or another person registered
and the share is an uncertificated share, he shall take any action the board may require (including, without

15
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44,

45.

46.

limitation, the signing of any document and the giving of any instruction by means of a relevant system) to enable himself or
that person to be registered as the holder of the share. The board may at any time require the person to elect either to be
registered himself or to transfer the share and if the requirements are not complied with within 60 days of being issued the
board may withhold payment of all dividends and other moneys payable in respect of the share until the requirements have
been complied with. All the provisions of these articles relating to the transfer of, and registration of transfers of, shares shall
apply to the notice or transfer as if the death or bankruptcy of the member or other event giving rise to the transmission had not
occurred and the notice or transfer was given or signed by the member.

Rights of Person Entitled by Transmission

Where a person becomes entitled by transmission to a share, the rights of the holder in relation to that share shall cease, but the
person entitled by transmission to the share may give a good discharge for any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of
it and shall have the same rights in relation to the share as he would have had if he were the holder of it save that, until he
becomes the holder, he shall not be entitled in respect of the share (except with the authority of the board) to receive notice of,
or to attend or vote at, any general meeting of the company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of
shares in the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings.

Alteration of Share Capital

Sub-division

Any resolution authorising the company to sub-divide its shares or any of them may determine that, as between the shares
resulting from the sub-division, any of them may have any preference or advantage or be subject to any restriction as compared
with the others.

Fractions

Whenever as a result of a consolidation, consolidation and sub-division or sub-division of shares any holders would become
entitled to fractions of a share, the board may deal with the fractions as it thinks fit including by ignoring fractions altogether or
by aggregating and selling them or by dealing with them in some other way. For the purposes of effecting any such sale, the
board may arrange for the shares representing the fractions to be entered in the register as certificated shares. The board may
sell shares representing fractions to any person, including the company and may authorise some person to transfer or deliver
the shares to, or in accordance with the directions of, the purchaser. The person to whom any shares are transferred or delivered
shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity
in, or invalidity of, the proceedings relating to the sale.

16
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47.

48.

49.

Notice of General Meetings

Omission or Non-Receipt of Notice

(A) The accidental omission to give any notice of a meeting or the accidental omission to send or supply any document or
other information relating to any meeting to, or the non-receipt (even if the company becomes aware of such non-
receipt) of any such notice, document or other information by, any person entitled to receive the notice, document or
other information shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

(B) A member present in person or by proxy at a meeting shall be deemed to have received proper notice of that meeting
and, where applicable, of the purpose of that meeting.

Postponement of General Meetings

If the board, in its absolute discretion, considers that it is impractical or undesirable for any reason to hold a general meeting on
the date or at the time or place specified in the notice calling the general meeting, it may postpone or move the general meeting
to another date, time and/or place. The board shall take reasonable steps to ensure that notice of the date, time and place of the
rearranged meeting is given to any member trying to attend the meeting at the original time and place. Notice of the date, time
and place of the rearranged meeting shall, if practicable, also be placed in: (i) at least two national newspapers in the United
Kingdom, and (ii) The Wall Street Journal and/or such other newspaper published in the United States as the directors consider
to be appropriate. Notice of the business to be transacted at such rearranged meeting shall not be required. If a meeting is
rearranged in this way, the appointment of a proxy will be valid if it is received as required by these articles not less than 48
hours before the time appointed for holding the rearranged meeting. The board may also postpone or move the rearranged
meeting under this article.

Resolutions of members at Annual General Meetings

(A) If, on or before, 31st January in any year any members shall, in accordance with the Companies Acts, require the
company, in relation to the Annual General Meeting to be held in that year, to give notice of a resolution which may
properly be moved or require the company to circulate a statement in acceptable form, the company shall circulate that
resolution or statement with the notice of the Annual General Meeting without cost to the requisitionists.

(B) If any such requisition is made in accordance with the Companies Acts after 31st January in any year and prior to the
Annual General Meeting to be held in that year, the company shall require that the requisitionists deposit or tender a sum
sufficient to meet the Company’s reasonable expenses in complying with such requisition in accordance with the
Companies Acts.

17
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50.

51.

52.

Proceedings at General Meetings

Quorum

A)

B)

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to
business, but the absence of a quorum shall not preclude the choice or appointment of a chairman of the meeting which
shall not be treated as part of the business of the meeting. Save as otherwise provided by these articles, two members
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum for all purposes. A shareholder which is a company
is to be considered present if it is represented by a duly authorised representative.

If the directors so determine, any or all members (or their proxies) may participate in a general meeting by means of a
conference telephone, video teleconference equipment or any communication equipment which allows all persons
participating in the meeting to speak to and hear each other. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in
person at the meeting and shall be entitled to vote or be counted in a quorum accordingly. A meeting which takes place
by conference telephone, video teleconference or other such communication equipment will be treated as taking place at
the place where the chairman is.

Procedure if Quorum Not Present

If within five minutes (or such longer time not exceeding one hour as the chairman of the meeting may decide to wait) after the
time appointed for the commencement of the meeting a quorum is not present, or if during the meeting a quorum ceases to be
present, the meeting:

®
(i)

if convened by or upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved; and

in any other case, it shall stand adjourned to such other day (being not less than ten days later, excluding the day on
which the meeting is adjourned and the day for which it is reconvened) and at such other time or place as the chairman
of the meeting may decide. At any adjourned meeting one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote
(whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum and any notice of an adjourned meeting shall state that
one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a
quorum.

Security Arrangements

A)

The directors or the secretary may take any action and may put in place any arrangements both before and during any
meeting that they/he consider appropriate for:

@) the safety of people attending a meeting;
(i1) proper and orderly conduct of a meeting; or

(iii))  the meeting to reflect the wishes of the majority.

18
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53.

54.

5S.

(B) This includes the power to refuse entry to, or eject from meetings, any person who fails to comply with any
arrangements made or any person who in the opinion of the directors or the secretary is acting in a manner that threatens
the safety of people attending the meeting and/or the proper and orderly conduct at a meeting.

(C) The board may direct that persons wishing to attend any general meeting should submit to such searches or other
security arrangements or restrictions (including, without limitation, a requirement that such persons refrain from taking
electronic equipment into a general meeting) as the board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances and the board

shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to, or to authorise some one or more persons who shall include a director or the

secretary or the chairman of the meeting to, refuse entry to, or to eject from, such general meeting any person who fails
to submit to such searches or otherwise to comply with such security arrangements or restrictions.

Confidential Information

No shareholder at any general meeting is entitled to require disclosure of or any information about any detail of the company’s
trading, or any matter that is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, commercial secret or secret process, or that may relate to
the conduct of the business of the company, if the directors decide it would be inexpedient in the interests of the company to
make that information public.

Chairman of General Meeting

The chairman (if any) of the board or, in his absence, the deputy chairman (if any) shall preside as chairman at every general
meeting. If more than one deputy chairman is present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they
cannot agree, the deputy chairman who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. If there is no chairman or
deputy chairman, or if at any meeting neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the
time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, or if neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is willing to act as
chairman, the directors present shall choose one of their number to act, or if one director only is present he shall preside as
chairman of the meeting if willing to act. If no director is present, or if each of the directors present declines to take the chair,
the persons present and entitled to vote shall appoint one of their number to be chairman of the meeting. Nothing in these
articles shall restrict or exclude any of the powers or rights of a chairman of a meeting which are given by law.

Orderly Conduct

(A) The chairman of the meeting shall take such action or give directions for such action to be taken as he thinks fit to
promote the orderly conduct of the business of the meeting. The chairman’s decision on points of order, matters of
procedure or arising incidentally from the business of the meeting shall be final as shall be his determination as to
whether any point or matter is of such a nature.

(B)  The directors may arrange for any people who they consider cannot be seated in the main meeting room, where the
chairman will be, to attend and take part in a general meeting in an overflow room or rooms. Any overflow room will
have a live
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video link from the main room, and a two-way sound link. The notice of the meeting does not have to give details of any
arrangements under this Article. The directors may decide how to divide people between the main room and any
overflow room. If any overflow room is used, the meeting will be treated as being held, and taking place, in the main
room.

56. Entitlement to Attend and Speak

Each director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company. The chairman of the meeting may
invite any person to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company where he considers that this will assist in the
deliberations of the meeting.

57. Adjournments

The chairman of the meeting may at any time without the consent of the meeting adjourn any meeting (whether or not it has
commenced or a quorum is present) either sine die or to another time or place where it appears to him that (a) the members
entitled to vote and wishing to attend cannot be conveniently accommodated in the place appointed for the meeting (b) the
conduct of persons present prevents or is likely to prevent the orderly continuation of business or (c) an adjournment is
otherwise necessary so that the business of the meeting may be properly conducted. In addition, the chairman of the meeting
may at any time with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn
the meeting either sine die or to another time or place. When a meeting is adjourned sine die the time and place for the
adjourned meeting shall be fixed by the board. No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except business which
might properly have been transacted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place. Any meeting may be adjourned more
than once.

58. Notice of Adjournment

If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place three months or more after it was adjourned or if business is to be
transacted at an adjourned meeting the general nature of which was not stated in the notice of the original meeting, notice of
the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original meeting. Except as provided in this article, it shall not be
necessary to give any notice of an adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

Amendments

59. Amendments to Resolutions

In the case of a resolution duly proposed as a special resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a
patent error) may be considered or voted upon and in the case of a resolution duly proposed as an ordinary resolution no
amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted upon unless either at least
two working days prior to the date appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which such ordinary resolution is
to be proposed notice in writing of the terms of the amendment and intention to move the same has been received by the
company at its office or the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion decides that it may be considered or voted upon.
With the consent of the chairman of the meeting, an amendment may be withdrawn by its proposer before it is put to the vote.
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60. Amendments Ruled Out of Order

If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall be ruled out of order by the chairman of the
meeting the proceedings on the substantive resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling.

Voting

61. Votes of Members

Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any shares may be issued or may at the relevant time be held and to any
other provisions of these articles, members shall be entitled to vote at a general meeting as provided in the Companies Acts.

62. Method of Voting

At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll, which shall be taken in such
manner as the chairman of the meeting shall direct, including by means of electronic vote casters. The result of the vote shall
be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the vote was demanded. A vote to elect the chairman of the meeting or
to adjourn the meeting must be taken immediately at the meeting. Any other vote may be taken at any other time (within 30
days of the meeting) and place determined by the chairman. The chairman can appoint scrutineers (who need not be
shareholders) and set a day, time and place for the result of the poll to be declared.

63. Votes of Joint Holders

In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be
accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order
in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.

64. Voting on Behalf of Incapable Member

A member in respect of whom an order has been made by any competent court or official on the ground that he is or may be
suffering from a mental disorder or is otherwise incapable of managing his affairs may vote at any general meeting of the
company and may exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings by or through any person
authorised in such circumstances to do so on his behalf (and that person may vote by proxy), provided that evidence to the
satisfaction of the board of the authority of the person claiming to exercise the right to vote or such other right has been
received by the company not later than the last time at which appointments of proxy should have been received in order to be
valid for use at that meeting or on the holding of that poll.
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65. No Right to Vote where Sums Overdue on Shares

No member shall, unless the board otherwise decides, be entitled in respect of any share held by him to attend or vote (either
personally or by proxy) at any general meeting of the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in
relation to general meetings unless all calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect of that share have been paid.

66. Objections or Errors in Voting
If:
(i)  any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter, or
(ii)  any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected, or
(iii) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,

the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution unless it is raised or
pointed out at the meeting or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at
which the error occurs. Any objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the
decision of the meeting on any resolution if the chairman decides that the same may have affected the decision of the meeting.
The decision of the chairman on such matters shall be conclusive.

Approved Depositaries

67. Meaning of Approved Depositary

(A) Inthese articles, unless the context otherwise requires, “Approved Depositary” means a person approved by the board
and appointed:

@) to hold the company’s shares or any rights or interests in any of the company’s shares; and

(i) to issue securities, documents of title or other documents which evidence that the holder of them owns or is
entitled to receive the shares, rights or interests held by the Approved Depository,

and shall include a nominee acting for a person appointed to do these things.

(B) The trustees of any scheme or arrangements for or principally for the benefit of employees of the company and its
associated companies will be deemed to be an Approved Depositary for the purposes of these articles unless the board
resolves otherwise.

(C) References in these articles to an Approved Depositary or to shares held by it refer only to an Approved Depositary and
to its shares held in its capacity as an Approved Depositary.
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68. Appointment of Approved Depositaries

Subject to these articles and to applicable law, an Approved Depositary may appoint as its proxy or proxies in relation to any
ordinary shares which it holds, anyone it thinks fit and may determine the manner and terms of any such appointment. Each
appointment must state the number and class of shares to which it relates and the total number of shares of each class in respect
of which appointments exist at any one time, which must not exceed the total number of shares of each such class registered in
the name of the Approved Depositary or its nominee (the “Depositary Shares”) at that time.

69. Register of Approved Depositaries

The Approved Depositary must keep a register (the “Proxy Register”) of each person it has appointed as a proxy under
Article 71 (an “Appointed Proxy”’) and the number of Depositary Shares (his “Appointed Number”) to which the
appointment relates. The directors will determine the requisite information to be recorded in the Proxy Register relating to each
Appointed Proxy.

Any person authorised by the company may inspect the Proxy Register during usual business hours and the Approved
Depositary will give such person any information which he requests as to the contents of the Proxy Register.

70. Approved Depositaries’ Attendance at General Meetings

(A) An Appointed Proxy may only attend a general meeting if he provides the company with written evidence of his
appointment as such. This must be in a form agreed between the directors and the Approved Depositary.

(B)  Subject to applicable law and to these articles, and so long as the Approved Depositary or a nominee of the Approved
Depositary holds at least his Appointed Number of shares, an Appointed Proxy is entitled to attend a general meeting
which holders of that class of shares are entitled to attend, and he is entitled to the same rights, and subject to the same
obligations, in relation to his Appointed Number of Depositary Shares as if he had been validly appointed in accordance
with Articles 73 to 77 by the registered holder of these shares as its proxy in relation to those shares.

71.  Proxies of Appointed Depositaries

An Appointed Proxy may appoint another person as his proxy for his Appointed Number of Depositary Shares, provided the
appointment is made and deposited in accordance with Articles 73 to 77. These articles apply to that appointment and to the
person so appointed as though those Depositary Shares were registered in the name of the Appointed Proxy and the
appointment was made by him in that capacity. The directors may require such evidence as they think appropriate to decide
that such appointment is effective.
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72. Identifying Appointed Proxies

73.

74.

(A)  For the purposes of determining who is entitled as an Appointed Proxy to exercise the rights conferred by Articles 70
and 71 and the number of Depositary Shares in respect of which a person is to be treated as having been appointed as an
Appointed Proxy for these purposes, the Approved Depositary may decide that the Appointed Proxies who are so
entitled are the persons entered in the Proxy Register at a time and on a date (a “Record Time”) agreed between the
Approved Depositary and the company.

(B) When a Record Date is decided for a particular purpose:

@) an Appointed Proxy is to be treated as having been appointed for that purpose for the number and class of shares
appearing against his name in the Proxy Register as at the Record Time; and

(i1) changes to entries in the Proxy Register after the Record Time will be ignored for this purpose.

(C)  Except for recognising the rights given in relation to General Meetings by appointments made by Appointed Proxies
pursuant to Article 71, the company is entitled to treat any person entered in the Proxy Register as an Appointed Proxy
as the only person (other than the Approved Depositary) who has any interest in the Depositary Shares in respect of
which the Appointed Proxy has been appointed.

(D) At a general meeting the chairman has the final decision as to whether any person has the right to vote or exercise any
other right relating to any Depositary Shares. In any other situation, the directors have the final decision as to whether
any person has the right to exercise any right relating to any Depositary Shares.

Proxies

Appointment of Proxies

The appointment of a proxy shall be in writing signed by the appointor or his duly authorised attorney or, if the appointor is a
corporation, shall either be executed under its seal or signed by an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign it. If a
member appoints more than one proxy and the proxy forms appointing those proxies would give those proxies the apparent
right to exercise votes on behalf of the member in a general meeting over more shares than are held by the member, then each
of those proxy forms will be invalid and none of the proxies so appointed will be entitled to attend, speak or vote at the relevant
general meeting.

Receipt of Proxies
(A) The appointment of a proxy must:

@) in the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, be received at the office (or such other place in the
United Kingdom or in the United States as may be specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of
proxy in
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B)

(i)

(iii)

@v)

)

hard copy form) not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes
to vote together with (if required by the board) any authority under which it is made or a copy of the authority,
certified notarially or in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other manner approved by
the board;

in the case of an appointment made by electronic means, be received at the address specified by the company for
the receipt of appointments of proxy by electronic means not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the
board may determine) before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the
person named in the appointment proposes to vote. Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is
made or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in
some other manner approved by the board, must, if required by the board, be received at such address or at the
office (or such other place in the United Kingdom as may be specified by the company for the receipt of such
documents) not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed
for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote;

in the case of an appointment delivered by an Approved Depositary (except in respect of a proxy appointed in
accordance with Article 68) be delivered to the appropriate place referred to in (i) or (ii) above, as appropriate,
depending on whether the appointment is made in hard copy or electronic form;

in the case of a vote taken more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be
received as aforesaid not less than 24 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time
appointed for the taking of the vote; and

in the case of a vote taken not more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting,
be received as aforesaid by the time at which the vote was demanded (or at such later time as the board may
determine),

and an appointment of a proxy which is not, or in respect of which the authority or copy thereof is not, received in a
manner so permitted shall be invalid. When two or more valid but differing appointments of a proxy are received in
respect of the same share for use at the same meeting or poll, the one which is last received (regardless of its date or of
the date of its signature) shall be treated as replacing and revoking the others as regards that share; if the company is
unable to determine which was last received, none of them shall be treated as valid in respect of that share. The
appointment of a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting or poll
concerned. The proceedings at a general meeting shall not be invalidated where an appointment of a proxy in respect of
that meeting is sent in electronic form as provided in these articles, but because of a technical problem it cannot be read
by the recipient.

The board may at its discretion determine that in calculating the periods mentioned in this article no account shall be
taken of any part of a day that is not a working day.
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75. Maximum Validity of Proxy

76.

77.

78.

79.

No appointment of a proxy shall be valid after 12 months have elapsed from the date of its receipt save that, unless the contrary
is stated in it, an appointment of a proxy shall be valid for use at an adjourned meeting or vote after a meeting or an adjourned
meeting even after 12 months, if it was valid for the original meeting.

Form of Proxy

The appointment of a proxy shall be in any usual form or in such other form as the board may approve. The appointment of a
proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to vote on any amendment of a resolution put to, or any other business which may
properly come before, the meeting for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit. The appointment of a proxy shall, unless the
contrary is stated in it, be valid as well for any adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates.

Cancellation of Proxy’s Authority

A vote given by a proxy or by the duly authorised representative of a corporation shall be valid notwithstanding the previous
determination of the authority of the person voting, unless notice in writing of the determination was received by the company
at the office (or such other place or address as was specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy) not later
than the last time at which an appointment of a proxy should have been received in order to be valid for use at the meeting at
which the vote was given.

Class Meetings

Separate General Meetings

The provisions of these articles relating to general meetings shall apply, with any necessary modifications to any separate
general meeting of the holders of shares of a class convened otherwise than in connection with the variation or abrogation of
the rights attached to the shares of that class. For this purpose, a general meeting at which no holder of a share other than an
ordinary share may, in his capacity as a member, attend or vote shall also constitute a separate general meeting of the holders
of the ordinary shares.

Appointment, Retirement and Removal of Directors

Number of Directors

Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution of the company, the directors (disregarding alternate directors) shall be not
less than two nor more than 24 in number.
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80. Directors’ Shareholding Qualification

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

No shareholding qualification for directors shall be required.

Power of Company to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these articles, the company may by ordinary resolution elect any person who is willing to act to be
a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at
any time exceed any maximum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles.

Power of Board to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these articles, the board may appoint any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill
a vacancy or as an addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any
maximum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles. Any director so appointed shall retire at the next annual
general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-appointment.

Retirement of Directors by Rotation

At every annual general meeting any director:

(i)  who has been appointed by the board since the last annual general meeting, or

(ii)  who held office at the time of the two preceding annual general meetings and who did not retire at either of them, or

(iii))  who has held office with the company, other than employment or executive office, for a continuous period of nine years
or more at the date of the meeting,

shall retire from office and may offer himself for re-appointment by the members.

Filling Vacancies

Subject to the provisions of these articles, at the meeting at which a director retires the company can pass an ordinary
resolution to re-appoint the director or to elect some other eligible person in his place.

Power of Removal by Special Resolution

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts, the company may by special resolution remove any
director before the expiration of his period of office and may (subject to these articles) by ordinary resolution appoint another
person who is willing to act to be a director in his place.

Persons Eligible as Directors

No person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall be appointed or re-appointed a director at any general meeting
unless:

(i) he is recommended by the board; or
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(i)  not less than seven nor more than 42 days before the day appointed for the meeting, notice in writing by a member
qualified to vote at the meeting (not being the person to be proposed) has been given to the secretary of the intention to
propose that person for appointment or re-appointment together with confirmation in writing by that person of his
willingness to be appointed or re-appointed.

87. Position of Retiring Directors

A director who retires at an annual general meeting may, if willing to continue to act, be re-appointed. If he is re-appointed he
is treated as continuing in office throughout. If he is not re-appointed, he shall retain office until the end of the meeting or (if
earlier) when a resolution is passed to appoint someone in his place or when a resolution to re-appoint the director is put to the
meeting and lost.

88.  Vacation of Office by Directors
Without prejudice to the provisions for retirement contained in these articles, the office of a director shall be vacated if:

(i)  he resigns his office by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for
the purposes of communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board; or

(i) by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of
communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, he offers to resign and the board resolves to
accept such offer; or

(iii)) by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of
communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, his resignation is requested by all of the other
directors and all of the other directors are not less than three in number; or

(iv)  he is or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

(v)  he is absent without the permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate director
appointed by him attends) for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

(vi)  he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally; or
(vii) he is prohibited by law from being a director; or

(viii) he ceases to be a director by virtue of the Companies Acts or is removed from office pursuant to these articles.
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89.

If the office of a director is vacated for any reason, he shall cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the

board.

Alternate Directors

A)

B)

©

D)

Each director may appoint any person to be his alternate and may at his discretion remove an alternate director so
appointed. If the alternate director is not already a director, the appointment, unless previously approved by the board,
shall have effect only upon and subject to its being so approved. Any appointment or removal of an alternate director
shall be effected by notice in writing signed by the appointor and sent to or received at the office or at an address
specified by the company for the purpose of communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board,
or in any other manner approved by the board. An alternate director shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of
the board or of committees of the board of which his appointor is a member. He shall also be entitled to attend and vote
as a director at any such meeting at which the director appointing him is not personally present and at such meeting to
exercise and discharge all the functions, powers, rights and duties of his appointor as a director and for the purposes of
the proceedings at such meeting the provisions of these articles shall apply as if he were a director.

Every person acting as an alternate director shall (except as regards power to appoint an alternate and remuneration) be
subject in all respects to the provisions of these articles relating to directors and shall during his appointment be an
officer of the company. An alternate director shall alone be responsible to the company for his acts and defaults and
shall not be deemed to be the agent of or for the director appointing him. An alternate director may be paid expenses and
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the company to the same extent as if he were a director. An alternate director shall
not be entitled to receive from the company any fee in his capacity as an alternate director but the company shall, if so
requested in writing by the appointor, pay to the alternate director any part of the fees or remuneration otherwise due to
the appointor.

A director or any other person may act as an alternate director to represent more than one director. Every person acting
as an alternate director shall have one vote for each director for whom he acts as alternate, in addition to his own vote if
he is also a director but he shall count as only one for the purposes of determining whether a quorum is present.
Signature by an alternate director of any resolution in writing of the board or a committee of the board shall, unless the
notice of his appointment provides to the contrary, be as effective as signature by his appointor.

An alternate director shall cease to be an alternate director:

@) if his appointor ceases for any reason to be a director except that, if at any meeting any director retires but is
re-appointed at the same meeting, any appointment made by him pursuant to this article which was in force
immediately before his retirement shall remain in force as though he had not retired; or
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(i1) on the happening of any event which if he were a director would cause him to vacate his office as director; or

90.

91.

(i)  if he resigns his office by notice in writing to the company.

Executive Directors

The board or any committee authorised by the board may from time to time appoint one or more directors to hold any
employment or executive office with the company for such period and upon such other terms as the board or any committee
authorised by the board may in its discretion decide and may revoke or terminate any appointment so made. Any revocation or
termination of the appointment shall be without prejudice to any claim for damages that the director may have against the
company or the company may have against the director for any breach of any contract of service between him and the company
which may be involved in the revocation or termination. A director so appointed shall receive such remuneration (whether by
way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the board or any committee authorised by the board may
decide, and either in addition to or in lieu of his remuneration as a director.

Fees, Remuneration, Expenses and Pensions

Directors’ Fees

(A) The directors can decide on the amount, timing and manner of payment of fees to be paid by the company to the
directors for acting as directors, but the total fees paid to all of the directors for acting as directors (including amounts
paid under Article 92(ii) to 92(v) but excluding any amounts paid under any other provision of these articles) shall not

exceed the higher of:
(i) £3 million a year; and
(i1) any higher amount as the company may by ordinary resolution decide.

These fees can be satisfied in cash or in any other form.

(B) If the directors decide to satisfy any of these fees in shares or in any other non-cash form, the value of the shares or other
assets to be counted towards this limit will be their value at the time the entitlement to them is first allocated, or
provisionally allocated, to the director. This value will be taken into account for the purpose of the limit in the year in
which the entitlement is first allocated, or provisionally allocated, and not in any later year when the fees, shares or other
assets are actually paid or delivered to the director. This paragraph applies even if:

(1) the director’s entitlement to the fees, or to receive the assets, is subject to conditions which will, or may, be
fulfilled at a later time;

(i) the fees, shares or other assets are to be, or may be, paid or delivered to the director at a later time or the director
elects, agrees or is required to receive the cash equivalent of the shares or other assets as determined by
reference to their value at such later time;

(iii)  the company has not paid for the relevant shares or other assets at the time the director first becomes, or
becomes provisionally, entitled to them, and their value subsequently changes.
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(C)  Unless an ordinary resolution is passed saying otherwise, the fees will be divided between some or all of the directors in

92.

93.

the way that they decide. If they fail to decide, the fees will be shared equally by the directors, except that any director
holding office as a director for only part of the period covered by the fee is only entitled to a pro rata share covering that
part period.

Additional Remuneration

The directors can award special pay to any director who:

(1
(i)
(iif)
(iv)
v)
(vi)

holds any executive post;

acts as chairman;

acts as senior independent director;

acts as a scientific/medical expert on the board;

is chairman of, or serves on, any committee of the directors; or

performs any other services which the directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary duties of a director.

Special pay can take the form of salary, commission or other benefits or can be paid in some other way. This is decided on by
the directors.

Expenses

A)

B)

Each director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and incidental expenses of attending and returning from
meetings of the board or committees of the board or general meetings of the company or any other meeting which as a
director he is entitled to attend and shall be paid all other costs and expenses properly and reasonably incurred by him in
the conduct of the company’s business or in the discharge of his duties as a director. The company may also fund a
director’s or former director’s expenditure for the purposes permitted under the Companies Acts and may do anything to
enable a director or former director of the company to avoid incurring such expenditure as provided in the Companies
Acts.

The directors can award extra pay to any director who, at the request of the directors, performs special services or goes
or lives abroad for any purposes of the company.
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94. Pensions and Gratuities for Directors

9s.

The board or any committee authorised by the board may exercise all the powers of the company to provide benefits, either by
the payment of gratuities or pensions or by insurance or in any other manner whether similar to the foregoing or not, for any
director or former director or the relations, or dependants of, or persons connected to, any director or former director, provided
that no benefits (except such as may be provided for by any other article) may be granted to or in respect of a director or former
director who has not been employed by, or held an executive office or place of profit under, the company or any body
corporate which is or has been its subsidiary undertaking or any predecessor in business of the company or any such body
corporate without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company. No director or former director shall be accountable to
the company or the members for any benefit provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not
disqualify any person from being or becoming a director of the company.

Directors’ Interests

Conflicts of interest requiring board authorisation

(A) The board may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in this article, authorise any matter which would
otherwise involve a director breaching his duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (“Conflict”).

(B) A director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict shall declare to the board the nature and extent of his interest in
a Conflict as soon as is reasonably practicable. The director shall provide the board with such details of the relevant
matter as are necessary for the board to decide how to address the Conflict together with such additional information as
may be requested by the board.

(C)  Any director (including the relevant director) may propose that the relevant director be authorised in relation to any
matter the subject of a Conflict. Such proposal and any authority given by the board shall be effected in the same way
that any other matter may be proposed to and resolved upon by the board under the provisions of these articles save that:

@) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote
on any resolution giving such authority; and

(i1) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest may, if the other members of the board so
decide, be excluded from any board meeting while the Conflict is under consideration.

(D)  Where the board gives authority in relation to a Conflict, or where any of the situations described in Article 96(B) apply
in relation to a director (“Relevant Situation”):

(1) the board may (whether at the relevant time or subsequently) (a) require that the relevant director is excluded
from the receipt of information, the
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(i)

(iii)

@v)

)

participation in discussion and/or the making of decisions (whether at meetings of the board or otherwise)
related to the Conflict or Relevant Situation; and (b) impose upon the relevant director such other terms for the
purpose of dealing with the Conflict or Relevant Situation as it may determine;

the relevant director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance with any terms imposed by the board in
relation to the Conflict or Relevant Situation;

the board may provide that where the relevant director obtains (otherwise than through his position as a director
of the company) information that is confidential to a third party, the director will not be obliged to disclose that
information to the company, or to use or apply the information in relation to the company’s affairs, where to do
so would amount to a breach of that confidence;

the terms of the authority shall be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective whether or not the
terms are so recorded); and

the board may revoke or vary such authority at any time but this will not affect anything done by the relevant
director prior to such revocation in accordance with the terms of such authority.

96. Other conflicts of interest

A)

B)

If a director is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed contract with the company or a contract that has
been entered into by the company, he must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the directors in accordance
with the Companies Acts.

Provided he has declared his interest in accordance with paragraph (A), a director may:

®

(i)

(iii)

@v)

)

be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company or in which the company has a direct or
indirect interest;

hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office
of director for such period and upon such terms, including as to remuneration, as the board may decide;

act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or any
other company in which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by or otherwise be interested in any holding company
or subsidiary company of the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which cannot
reasonably be regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that
other company.
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97. Benefits

A director shall not, by reason of his office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, be liable to account to the
company or the members for any remuneration, profit or other benefit realised by reason of his having any type of interest
authorised under Article 95(A) or permitted under Article 96(B) and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of
a director having any type of interest authorised under Article 95(A) or permitted under Article 96(B).

98. Quorum and voting requirements

(A) A director shall not vote on or be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution of the board concerning his own
appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment, as the holder of any
office or place of profit with the company or any other company in which the company is interested.

(B)  Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the
termination of the appointment, of two or more directors to offices or places of profit with the company or any other
company in which the company is interested, a separate resolution may be put in relation to each director and in that
case each of the directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution
unless it concerns his own appointment or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own
appointment or the appointment of another director to an office or place of profit with a company in which the company
is interested and the director seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum has a Relevant Interest in it.

(C) A director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the board in respect of any
contract in which he has an interest and, if he shall do so, his vote shall not be counted, but this prohibition shall not
apply to any resolution where that interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or
where that interest arises only from one or more of the following matters:

@) the giving to him of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of money lent or obligations undertaken by
him or by any other person at the request of or for the benefit of the company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings;

(i1) the giving to a third party of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of a debt or obligation of the

company or any of its subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility in whole or in
part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;
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D)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

Page 1 of 1

the giving to him of any other indemnity where all other directors are also being offered indemnities on
substantially the same terms;

the funding by the company of his expenditure on defending proceedings or the doing by the company of
anything to enable him to avoid incurring such expenditure where all other directors are being offered
substantially the same arrangements;

where the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings is offering securities in which offer the director is or
may be entitled to participate as a holder of securities or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which the
director is to participate;

any contract in which he is interested by virtue of his interest in shares or debentures or other securities of the
company or by reason of any other interest in or through the company;

any contract concerning any other company (not being a company in which the director has a Relevant Interest)
in which he is interested directly or indirectly whether as an officer, shareholder, creditor or otherwise
howsoever;

any contract concerning the adoption, modification or operation of a pension fund, superannuation or similar
scheme or retirement, death or disability benefits scheme or employees’ share scheme which relates both to
directors and employees of the company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings and does not provide in respect
of any director as such any privilege or advantage not accorded to the employees to which the fund or scheme
relates;

any contract for the benefit of employees of the company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings under which
he benefits in a similar manner to the employees and which does not accord to any director as such any privilege
or advantage not accorded to the employees to whom the contract relates; and

any contract for the purchase or maintenance of insurance against any liability for, or for the benefit of, any
director or directors or for, or for the benefit of, persons who include directors.

A company shall be deemed to be one in which a director has a Relevant Interest if and so long as (but only if and so
long as) he is to his knowledge (either directly or indirectly) the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or
more of any class of the equity share capital of that company (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class in that
company held as treasury shares) or of the voting rights available to members of that company. In relation to an alternate
director, an interest of his appointor shall be treated as an interest of the alternate director without prejudice to any
interest which the alternate director has otherwise.
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(E)  Where a company in which a director has a Relevant Interest is interested in a contract, he also shall be deemed

99.

100.

(F)

(©)

interested in that contract.

If any question shall arise at any meeting of the board as to the interest of a director (other than the chairman of the
meeting) in a contract and whether it is likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or as to the entitlement of any director
(other than the chairman of the meeting) to vote or be counted in the quorum and the question is not resolved by his
voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting or not to be counted in the quorum, the question shall be referred to the
chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to the director concerned shall be conclusive except in a case where
the nature or extent of the director’s interest (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the board. If
any question shall arise in respect of the chairman of the meeting, the question shall be decided by a resolution of the
board (for which purpose the chairman of the meeting shall be counted in the quorum but shall not vote on the matter)
and the resolution shall be conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interest of the chairman of the
meeting (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the board.

Subject to these articles, the board may also cause any voting power conferred by the shares in any other company held
or owned by the company or any power of appointment to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit,
including the exercise of the voting power or power of appointment in favour of the appointment of the directors or any
of them as directors or officers of the other company, or in favour of the payment of remuneration to the directors or
officers of the other company. Subject to these articles, a director may also vote on and be counted in the quorum in
relation to any of such matters.

General

A)

B)

References in Articles 95 to 98 to:

@) a contract include references to any proposed contract and to any transaction or arrangement or proposed
transaction or arrangement whether or not constituting a contract; and

(i) a conflict of interest include a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.

The company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of Articles 95 to 98 to any extent or ratify any
contract not properly authorised by reason of a contravention of any of the provisions of Articles 95 to 98.

Powers and Duties of the Board

General Powers of Company Vested in Board

Subject to the these articles and to any directions given by the company in general meeting by special resolution, the business
of the company shall be managed by the board which may exercise all the powers of the company whether relating to the
management of the business of the company or not. No alteration of these articles and no
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101.

102.

special resolution shall invalidate any prior act of the board which would have been valid if that alteration had not been made
or that resolution had not been passed. The powers given by this article shall not be limited by any special power given to the
board by any other article.

Borrowing Powers

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company:

(i) to borrow money;

(i)  to mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future) and uncalled capital;

(iii)  to issue debentures and other securities; and

(iv) to give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any third
party.

Agents

(A) The board can appoint anyone as the company’s attorney by granting a power of attorney or by authorising them in
some other way. Attorneys can either be appointed directly by the board or the board can give someone else the power
to select attorneys. The board or the persons who are authorised by it to select attorneys can decide on the purposes,
powers, authorities and discretions of attorneys. But they cannot give an attorney any power, authority or discretion
which the board does not have under these articles.

(B) The board can decide how long a power of attorney will last for and attach any conditions to it. The power of attorney
can include any provisions which the board decides on for the protection and convenience of anybody dealing with the
attorney. The power of attorney can allow the attorney to grant any or all of his power, authority or discretion to any
other person.

(C) The board can:

@) delegate any of its authority, powers or discretions to any manager or agent of the company;
(i1) allow managers or agents to delegate to another person;
(iii)  remove any people it has appointed in any of these ways; and

@iv) cancel or change anything that it has delegated, although this will not affect anybody who acts in good faith who
has not had any notice of any cancellation or change.
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103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

(D) Any appointment or delegation by the board which is referred to in this article can be on any conditions decided on by the
board.

(E) The ability of the board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers and is not limited because certain articles
refer to powers being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board while other articles do not.

Delegation to Individual Directors

The board may entrust to and confer upon any director any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-
delegate) upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the
exclusion of, its own powers, authorities and discretions and may from time to time revoke or vary all or any of them but no
person dealing in good faith and without notice of the revocation or variation shall be affected by it. The power to delegate
contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the board generally and shall
not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or
discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board.

Registers

The company may keep an overseas or local or other register in any place and the board may make and vary such regulations
as it may think fit respecting the keeping of the register.

Provision for Employees

The board may exercise any power conferred by the Companies Acts to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or
formerly employed by the company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or the transfer to any person of
the whole or part of the undertaking of the company or that subsidiary.

Proceedings of the Board

Board Meetings

The board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. A director at any
time may, and the secretary on the requisition of a director at any time shall, summon a board meeting.

Notice of Board Meetings

Notice of a board meeting shall be deemed to be properly given to a director if it is given to him personally or by word of
mouth or sent in writing to him at his last known address or any other address given by him to the company for this purpose. A
director may waive his entitlement to notice of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively and any retrospective waiver
shall not affect the validity of the meeting or of any business conducted at the meeting.
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108. Quorum

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the board may be fixed by the board and, unless so fixed at any
other number, shall be two. Subject to the provisions of these articles, any director who ceases to be a director at a board
meeting may continue to be present and to act as a director and be counted in the quorum until the termination of the board
meeting if no other director objects and if otherwise a quorum of directors would not be present.

109. Directors below Minimum through Vacancies

The continuing directors or a sole continuing director may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their number but, if and so long
as the number of directors is reduced below the minimum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles or is below the
number fixed by or in accordance with these articles as the quorum or there is only one continuing director, the continuing
directors or director may act for the purpose of filling vacancies or of summoning general meetings of the company but not for
any other purpose. If there are no directors or director able or willing to act, then any two members (excluding any member
holding shares as treasury shares) may summon a general meeting for the purpose of appointing directors.

110. Appointment of Chairman

The board may appoint a director to be the chairman or a deputy chairman of the board, and may at any time remove him from
that office. The chairman of the board or failing him a deputy chairman shall act as chairman at every meeting of the board. If
more than one deputy chairman is present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree,
the deputy chairman who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. But if no chairman of the board or deputy
chairman is appointed, or if at any meeting neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after
the time appointed for holding the meeting, the directors present may choose one of their number to be chairman of the
meeting. References in these articles to a deputy chairman include, if no one has been appointed to that title, a person appointed
to a position with another title which the board designates as equivalent to the position of deputy chairman.

111. Competence of Meetings

A meeting of the board at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions
vested in or exercisable by the board.

112. Voting

Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes the chairman of
the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.

113. Delegation to Committees

(A) The board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) to any committee,
consisting of such person or persons (whether a
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114.

115.

116.

member or members of its body or not) as it thinks fit, provided that the majority of persons on any committee or sub-
committee must be directors. References in these articles to committees include sub-committees permitted under this
article.

(B) Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any
regulations which may be imposed on it by the board. The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two
or more members shall be governed by the provisions contained in these articles for regulating the meetings and
proceedings of the board so far as the same are applicable and are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the
board.

(C) The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of
the board generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is
made to particular powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the
board.

Participation in Meetings

All or any of the members of the board may participate in a meeting of the board by means of a conference telephone or any
communication equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to speak to and hear each other or by a series
of telephone calls from the chairman of the meeting. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the
meeting and shall be entitled to vote and be counted in a quorum accordingly. Any such meeting will be treated as taking place
where the chairman is located.

Resolution in Writing

A resolution in writing signed by all the directors who are at the relevant time entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the
board and who would be entitled to vote on the resolution at a meeting of the board (if that number is sufficient to constitute a
quorum) shall be as valid and effectual as a resolution passed at a meeting of the board properly called and constituted. The
resolution may be contained in one document or in several documents in like form each signed by one or more of the directors
concerned.

Validity of Acts of Board or Committee

All acts done by the board or by any committee or by any person acting as a director or member of a committee shall,
notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the board or
committee or person so acting or that they or any of them were disqualified from holding office or had vacated office or were
not entitled to vote, be as valid as if each such member or person had been properly appointed and was qualified and had
continued to be a director or member of the committee and had been entitled to vote.
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Seals
117. Use of Seals

118.

119.

120.

The board shall provide for the custody of every seal of the company. A seal shall only be used by the authority of the board or
of a committee of the board authorised by the board in that behalf. Subject as otherwise provided in these articles, and to any
resolution of the board or committee of the board dispensing with the requirement for any counter-signature on any occasion,
any instrument to which the common seal is applied shall be signed by at least one director and the secretary, or by at least two
directors or by one director in the presence of a witness who attests the signature or by such other person or persons as the
board may approve. Any instrument to which an official seal is applied need not, unless the board otherwise decides or the law
otherwise requires, be signed by any person.

Dividends and Other Payments

Declaration of Dividends by Company

The company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends in accordance with the respective rights of the
members, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the board.

Payment of Interim and Fixed Dividends by Board

The board may pay such interim dividends as appear to the board to be justified by the financial position of the company and
may also pay any dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled by the board whenever the financial position of the
company, in the opinion of the board, justifies its payment. If the board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to the
holders of any shares for any loss they may suffer in consequence of the payment of an interim or fixed dividend on any other
class of shares ranking pari passu with or after those shares.

Calculation and Currency of Dividends
(A) Exceptin so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide:

@) all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the share in respect of which the
dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this
article as paid up on the share;

(i1) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the share during any
portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid; and

(iii)  dividends may be declared or paid in any currency.

(B) The board may decide the basis of conversion for any currency conversions that may be required and how any costs
involved are to be met.
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121.

122.

123.

(C) The board may also decide that a particular Approved Depositary should be able to receive dividends in a currency other
than the currency in which it is declared and may make arrangements accordingly. In particular, if an Approved
Depositary has chosen or agreed to receive dividends in another currency, the directors may make arrangements with
that Approved Depositary for payment to be made to them for value on the date on which the relevant dividend is paid,
or a later date decided on by the directors.

Amounts Due on Shares may be Deducted from Dividends

The board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to a member by the company on or in respect of any shares
all sums of money (if any) presently payable by him to the company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the
company. Sums so deducted can be used to pay amounts owing to the company in respect of the shares.

No Interest on Dividends

Subject to the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any shares, no dividend or other moneys payable by the company on
or in respect of any share shall bear interest against the company.

Payment Procedure

Any dividend or other sum payable in cash by the company in respect of a share may be paid by cheque, warrant or similar
financial instrument sent by post addressed to the holder at his registered address or, in the case of joint holders, addressed to
the holder whose name stands first in the register in respect of the shares at his address as appearing in the register or addressed
to such person and at such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every cheque, warrant or similar
financial instrument shall, unless the holder or joint holders otherwise direct, be made payable to the holder or, in the case of
joint holders, to the holder whose name stands first on the register in respect of the shares, and shall be sent at his or their risk
and payment of the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument by the financial institution on which it is drawn shall
constitute a good discharge to the company. In addition, any such dividend or other sum may be paid by any bank or other
funds transfer system or such other means including, in respect of uncertificated shares, by means of the facilities and
requirements of a relevant system and to or through such person as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct and the
company may agree, and the making of such payment shall be a good discharge to the company and the company shall have no
responsibility for any sums lost or delayed in the course of payment by any such system or other means or where it has acted
on any such directions and accordingly, payment by any such system or other means shall constitute a good discharge to the
company. Any one of two or more joint holders may give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys payable or
property distributable on or in respect of the shares held by them. Where a person is entitled by transmission to a share, any
dividend or other sum payable by the company in respect of the share may be paid as if he were a holder of the share and his
address noted in the register were his registered address and where two or more persons are so entitled, any one of them may
give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of the shares.
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124. Uncashed Dividends

125.

126.

127.

The company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or to employ any other
means of payment, including payment by means of a relevant system, for any dividend payable on any shares in the company
which is normally paid in that manner on those shares if in respect of at least two consecutive dividends payable on those
shares the cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments have been returned undelivered or remain uncashed during or at
the end of the period for which the same are valid or that means of payment has failed. In addition, the company may cease to
send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or may cease to employ any other means of payment
if, in respect of one dividend payable on those shares, the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument has been returned
undelivered or remains uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same is valid or that means of payment has
failed and reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new postal address or account of the holder. Subject to the
provisions of these articles, the company must recommence sending cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments or
employing such other means in respect of dividends payable on those shares if the holder or person entitled by transmission
requests such recommencement in writing.

Forfeiture of Unclaimed Dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise made
use of by the board for the benefit of the company until claimed. Any dividend or other sum unclaimed after a period of 12
years from the date when it was declared or became due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert to the company unless
the board decides otherwise and the payment by the board of any unclaimed dividend or other sum payable on or in respect of a
share into a separate account shall not constitute the company a trustee in respect of it.

Dividends Not in Cash

Any general meeting declaring a dividend may, upon the recommendation of the board, by ordinary resolution direct, and the
board may in relation to any interim dividend direct, that it shall be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and
in particular of paid up shares or debentures of any other company, and where any difficulty arises in regard to the distribution
the board may settle it as it thinks expedient, and in particular may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or
may ignore fractions altogether, and may fix the value for distribution purposes of any assets or any part thereof to be
distributed and may determine that cash shall be paid to any members upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to secure
equality of distribution and may vest any assets to be distributed in trustees as may seem expedient to the board.

Scrip Dividends and Dividend Plans Generally

The board may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the company, offer any holders of ordinary shares (excluding any
member holding shares as treasury shares) the right to elect to receive ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in
respect of the whole (or some part, to be determined by the board) of any dividend specified by the ordinary resolution. The
following provisions shall apply:

(i)  an ordinary resolution may specify some or all of a particular dividend (whether or not already declared) or may specify
some or all of any dividends declared or paid within a specified period, but such period may not end later than the fifth
anniversary of the date of the meeting at which the ordinary resolution is passed;
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(i)  the entitlement of each holder of ordinary shares to new ordinary shares shall be such that the relevant value of the

(iii)

@v)

)

(vi)

entitlement shall be as nearly as possible equal to (but not greater than) the cash amount (disregarding any tax credit) of
the dividend that such holder elects to forgo. For this purpose “relevant value” shall be calculated by reference to the
average of the middle market quotations for the company’s ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange as derived
from the Daily Official List (or any other publication of a recognised investment exchange showing quotations for the
company’s ordinary shares) on such five consecutive dealing days as the board shall determine provided that the first of
such days shall be on or after the day on which the ordinary shares are first quoted “ex” the relevant dividend or in such
other manner as may be determined by or in accordance with the ordinary resolution. A certificate or report by the
auditors as to the amount of the relevant value in respect of any dividend shall be conclusive evidence of that amount
and in giving such a certificate or report the auditors may rely on advice or information from brokers or other sources of
information as they think fit;

no fraction of any ordinary share shall be allotted. The board may make such provisions as it thinks fit for any fractional
entitlements including provisions whereby, in whole or in part, the benefit thereof accrues to the company and/or under
which fractional entitlements are accrued and/or retained without interest and in each case accumulated on behalf of any
holder of ordinary shares and such accruals or retentions are applied to the allotment by way of bonus to or cash
subscription on behalf of such holder of fully paid ordinary shares and/or provisions whereby cash payments may be
made to such holders in respect of their fractional entitlements;

the board, if it intends to offer an election in respect of any dividend, shall give notice to the holders of ordinary shares
of the right of election offered to them, and specify the procedure to be followed which, for the avoidance of doubt, may
include an election by means of a relevant system and the place at which, and the latest time by which, elections must be
lodged in order for elections to be effective; no such notice need be given to holders of ordinary shares who have
previously given election mandates in accordance with this article and whose mandates have not been revoked; the
accidental omission to give notice of any right of election to, or the non receipt (even if the company becomes aware of
such non-receipt) of any such notice by, any holder of ordinary shares entitled to the same shall neither invalidate any
offer of an election nor give rise to any claim, suit or action;

the board shall not proceed with any election unless the company has sufficient reserves or funds that may be
capitalised, and the board has authority to allot sufficient shares, to give effect to it after the basis of allotment is
determined;

the board may exclude or restrict from any offer any shareholder who is an Approved Depositary or a nominee for an
Approved Depositary if the offer or exercise of the right to or by the persons on whose behalf the Approved Depositary
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(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

(xi)

holds the shares would suffer legal or practical problems of the kind mentioned in Article 127(vii). If other shareholders
(other than those excluded under Article 127(vii)) have the right to opt for new shares, the directors must be satisfied
that an appropriate dividend reinvestment plan or similar arrangement is available to a substantial majority of the people
on whose behalf the Approved Depositary holds shares or that such arrangement will be available promptly and the first
sentence of this Article 127(vi) does not apply until the directors are satisfied of this;

the board may exclude from any offer or make other arrangement in relation to any holders of ordinary shares where the
board believes that such exclusion or arrangement is necessary or expedient in relation to legal or practical problems
under the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory, or the
board believes that for any other reason the offer should not be made to them;

the dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been offered) shall not be payable on
ordinary shares in respect of which an election has been made (for the purposes of this article “the elected ordinary
shares”) and instead additional ordinary shares shall be allotted to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on the basis
of allotment calculated as stated. For such purpose the board shall capitalise, out of any amount standing to the credit of
any reserve or fund (including the retained earnings) at the relevant time whether or not the same is available for
distribution as the board may determine, a sum equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the additional ordinary shares
to be allotted on that basis and apply it in paying up in full the appropriate number of ordinary shares for allotment and
distribution to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on that basis. The board may do all acts and things considered
necessary or expedient to give effect to any such capitalisation;

the additional ordinary shares when allotted shall rank pari passu in all respects with the fully-paid ordinary shares then
in issue except that they will not be entitled to participation in the relevant dividend;

unless the board otherwise determines, or unless the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, the new ordinary
share or shares which a member has elected to receive instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part) of the
specified dividend declared or paid in respect of his elected ordinary shares shall be in uncertificated form (in respect of
the member’s elected ordinary shares which were in uncertificated form on the date of the member’s election) and in
certificated form (in respect of the member’s elected ordinary shares which were in certificated form on the date of the
member’s election);

the board may also from time to time establish or vary a procedure for election mandates, which, for the avoidance of
doubt, may include an election by means of a relevant system, under which a holder of ordinary shares may elect in
respect of future rights of election offered to that holder under this article until the election mandate is revoked or
deemed to be revoked in accordance with the procedure;
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128.

129.

130.

(xii) the board may decide how any costs relating to making new shares available in place of a cash dividend will be met,
including deciding to deduct an amount from the entitlement of a shareholder under this article; and

(xiii) at any time before new ordinary shares are allotted instead of cash in respect of any part of a dividend, the board may
determine that such new ordinary shares will not be allotted. Any such determination may be made before or after any
election has been made by holders of ordinary shares in respect of the relevant dividend.

Capitalisation of Reserves

Power to Capitalise Reserves and Funds

The company may, upon the recommendation of the board, at any time and from time to time pass an ordinary resolution to the
effect that it is desirable to capitalise all or any part of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including
retained earnings) at the relevant time whether or not the same is available for distribution and accordingly that the amount to
be capitalised be set free for distribution among the members or any class of members who would be entitled to it if it were
distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions, on the footing that it is applied either in or towards paying up the
amounts unpaid at the relevant time on any shares in the company held by those members respectively or in paying up in full
shares, debentures or other obligations of the company to be allotted and distributed credited as fully paid up among those
members, or partly in one way and partly in the other, but so that, for the purposes of this article: (i) a share premium account
and a capital redemption reserve, and any reserve or fund representing unrealised profits, may be applied only in paying up in
full shares of the company that are to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up; and (ii) where the amount capitalised is
applied in paying up in full shares that are to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up, the company will also be entitled to
participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares of the relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the
proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of members to the distribution will be calculated accordingly. The board may
authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the company on behalf of the persons entitled to participate in the
distribution and the agreement shall be binding on those persons.

Settlement of Difficulties in Distribution

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any distribution of any capitalised reserve or fund the board may settle the matter as it
thinks expedient and in particular may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may resolve that the
distribution should be as nearly as may be practicable in the correct proportion but not exactly so or may ignore fractions
altogether, and may determine that cash payments shall be made to any members in order to adjust the rights of all parties, as
may seem expedient to the board.

Record Dates

Power to Choose Any Record Date

Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the company or the board may fix any date as the record date for any
dividend, distribution, allotment or issue and such
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record date may be on or at any time before or after any date on which the dividend, distribution, allotment or issue is declared,
paid or made. The power to fix any such record date shall include the power to fix a time on the chosen date.

Records and Summary Financial Statements

131. Inspection of Records

No member in his capacity as such shall have any right of inspecting any accounting record or book or document of the
company except as conferred by law, ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or authorised by the board or by ordinary
resolution of the company.

132. Summary Financial Statements

The company may send or supply summary financial statements to members of the company instead of copies of its full
accounts and reports.

Service of Notices, Documents and Other Information

133. Method of Service

(A) Any notice, document (including a share certificate) or other information may be served on or sent or supplied to any
member by the company:

@) personally;

(i1) by sending it through the post addressed to the member at his registered address or by leaving it at that address
addressed to the member;

(iii) by means of a relevant system;

@iv) where appropriate, by sending or supplying it in electronic form to an address notified by the member to the
company for that purpose;

W) where appropriate, by making it available on a website and notifying the member of its availability in
accordance with this article; or

(vi) by any other means authorised in writing by the member.

In the case of joint holders of a share, service, sending or supply of any notice, document or other information on or to
one of the joint holders shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service on or sending or supplying to all the joint
holders.

(B) Inthe case of joint holders of a share, anything to be agreed or specified in relation to any notice, document or other
information to be served on or sent or supplied to them may be agreed or specified by any one of the joint holders and
the agreement or specification of the senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of that of the other joint holders and, for
this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint
holding.
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(C)  If any member, including any joint holder, who is without a United Kingdom or United States postal address provides

134.

135.

D)

E)

the company with such postal address is entitled to have notice or documents served or supplied to him at that address. If
such a member fails to provide the company with a United Kingdom or United States postal address he may be ignored
for the purposes of sufficient service or supply of any notice or documents.

If on three consecutive occasions any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to a member
has been returned undelivered, such member shall not thereafter be entitled to receive notices, documents or other
information from the company until he shall have communicated with the company and supplied to the company (or its
agent) a new registered address, or a postal address within the United Kingdom or the United States for the service of
notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information, or shall have informed the company of an
address for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information in electronic form. For
these purposes, any notice, document or other information sent by post shall be treated as returned undelivered if the
notice, document or other information is served, sent or supplied back to the company (or its agents) and a notice,
document or other information served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall be treated as returned undelivered if the
company (or its agents) receives notification that the notice, document or other information was not delivered to the
address to which it was sent.

The company may at any time and in its sole discretion choose to serve, send or supply notices, documents or other
information in hard copy form alone to some or all members.

Record Date for Service

Any notice, document or other information may be served, sent or supplied by the company by reference to the register as it
stands at any time not more than 15 days before the date of service, sending or supply. No change in the register after that time
shall invalidate that service, sending or supply. Where any notice, document or other information is served on or sent or
supplied to any person in respect of a share in accordance with these articles, no person deriving any title or interest in that
share shall be entitled to any further service, sending or supply of that notice, document or other information.

Members Resident Abroad or on Branch Registers

A)

Any member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the
company a postal address within the United Kingdom or the United States at which notices, documents or other
information may be served upon, or sent or supplied to, him shall be entitled to have notices, documents or other
information served on or sent or supplied to him at that address or, where applicable, by making them available on a
website and notifying the holder at that address. Any member whose registered address is not within the United
Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company an address for the purposes of communications by
electronic means may, subject to these articles, have notices, documents or other information served on or sent or
supplied to him
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136.

137.

at that address or, where applicable, by making them available on a website and notifying the holder at that address.
Otherwise, a member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States shall not be
entitled to receive any notice, document or other information from the company.

(B) For a member registered on a branch register, notices, documents or other information can be posted or despatched in
the United Kingdom, the United States or in the country where the branch register is kept.

Service of Notice on Person Entitled by Transmission

A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, upon supplying the company with a postal address within the United
Kingdom or the United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information shall be
entitled to have served upon or sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or other information to which he
would have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where applicable, to be notified at that address of the
availability of the notice, document or other information on a website. A person who is entitled by transmission to a share,
upon supplying the company with an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means for the service of notices
and the despatch or supply of documents and other information may have served on, sent or supplied to him at such address
any notice, document or other information to which he would have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where
applicable, may be notified at that address of the availability of the notice, document or other information on a website. In
either case, such service, sending or supply shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service, sending or supply of such
notice, document or other information on all persons interested (whether jointly with or as claimants through or under him) in
the share. Otherwise, any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to any member pursuant to these
articles shall, notwithstanding that the member is then dead or bankrupt or that any other event giving rise to the transmission
of the share by operation of law has occurred and whether or not the company has notice of the death, bankruptcy or other
event, be deemed to have been properly served, sent or supplied in respect of any share registered in the name of that member
as sole or joint holder.

Deemed Delivery

(A) Any notice, document or other information, if served, sent or supplied by the company by post, shall be deemed to have
been received on the day following that on which it was posted if first class post was used or 48 hours after it was posted
if first class post was not used and, in proving that a notice, document or other information was served, sent or supplied,
it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice, document or other information was properly addressed, prepaid and put in
the post.

(B)  Any notice, document or other information not served, sent or supplied by post but left by the company at a registered
address or at an address (other than an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means) notified to the
company in accordance with these articles by a person who is entitled by transmission to a share shall be deemed to have
been received on the day it was so left.
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138.

139.

(C)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by means of a relevant system shall
be deemed to have been received when the company or any sponsoring system-participant acting on its behalf sends the
issuer-instruction relating to the notice, document or other information.

(D)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company using electronic means shall be
deemed to have been received on the day on which it was sent notwithstanding that the company subsequently sends a
hard copy of such notice, document or information by post. Any notice, document or other information made available
on a website shall be deemed to have been received on the day on which the notice, document or other information was
first made available on the website or, if later, when a notice of availability is received or deemed to have been received
pursuant to this article. In proving that a notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by electronic
means was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to prove that it was properly addressed.

(E)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by any other means authorised in
writing by the member concerned shall be deemed to have been received when the company has carried out the action it
has been authorised to take for that purpose.

Notice When Post Not Available

If there is a suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom, the United States or some part of either
the United Kingdom or the United States, the company need only give notice of a general meeting to those members with
whom the company can communicate by electronic means and who have provided the company with an address for this
purpose. The company shall also advertise the notice in at least one newspaper with a national circulation and make it available
on its website from the date of such advertisement until the conclusion of the meeting or any adjournment thereof. If at least six
clear days prior to the meeting the sending or supply of notices by post in hard copy form has again become generally possible,
the company shall send or supply confirmatory copies of the notice by post to those members who would otherwise receive the
notice in hard copy form.

Destruction of Documents

Presumptions Where Documents Destroyed
If the company destroys or deletes:

(i)  any share certificate which has been cancelled at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the date of
cancellation, or

(i)  any instruction concerning the payment of dividends or other moneys in respect of any share or any notification of
change of name or address at any time after a period of two years has elapsed from the date the instruction or
notification was recorded by the company, or
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140.

(iii))  any instrument of transfer of shares or Operator-instruction for the transfer of shares which has been registered by the
company at any time after a period of six years has elapsed from the date of registration, or

(iv)  any instrument of proxy which has been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one year has elapsed
from the date of use, or

(v)  any instrument of proxy which has not been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one month has
elapsed from the end of the meeting to which the instrument of proxy relates, or

(vi) any other document on the basis of which any entry is made in the register at any time after a period of six years has
elapsed from the date the entry was first made in the register in respect of it,

and the company destroys or deletes the document or instruction in good faith and without express notice that its preservation
was relevant to a claim, it shall be presumed irrebuttably in favour of the company that every share certificate so destroyed was
a valid certificate and was properly cancelled, that every instrument of transfer or Operator-instruction so destroyed or deleted
was a valid and effective instrument of transfer or instruction and was properly registered and that every other document so
destroyed was a valid and effective document and that any particulars of it which are recorded in the books or records of the
company were correctly recorded. If the documents relate to uncertificated shares, the company must comply with any
requirements of the uncertificated securities rules which limit its ability to destroy these documents. Nothing contained in this
article shall be construed as imposing upon the company any liability which, but for this article, would not exist or by reason
only of the destruction of any document of the kind mentioned above before the relevant period mentioned in this article has
elapsed or of the fact that any other condition precedent to its destruction mentioned above has not been fulfilled. References in
this article to the destruction of any document include references to its disposal in any manner.

Indemnity and Insurance

Indemnity of Directors

(A) To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or former director or other officer of the company or of
any associated company shall be indemnified by the company out of its own funds against all costs, charges, losses,
expenses and liabilities incurred by him in performing his duties and/or in exercising his powers and/or in supposedly
doing these things and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or office.

(B) To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or former director or other officer of the company or of
any associated company is exempted from any liability to the company where that liability would be covered by the

indemnity in Article 140(A).
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(C)  Without prejudice to Article 140(A), the company may purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for any
persons who are or were at any time directors, officers or employees of the company or of any associated company or
trustees of any pension fund or employee share scheme in which employees of any such company are interested.
(D) No director or former director of the company or of any associated company shall be accountable to the company or the
members for any benefit provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify the
person from being or becoming a director of the company.
(E)  For the purposes of this article, no person appointed or employed by the company or an associated company as an

auditor is an officer.
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This Deed (the “Deed”) is made on 29 May 2014 between:

(1) NOVARTIS AG, a corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) incorporated in Switzerland whose registered office is at Lichtstrasse
35, 4056 Basel, Switzerland (the “Seller”); and

(2) GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC, a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose registered office is at
980 Great West Road Brentford, TW8 9GS (the “Purchaser”),

each a “party” and together the “parties”.

Whereas:

(A) The Seller and the Purchaser entered into the Original Agreement (as defined below) on 22 April 2014 (the “Signing
Date”).

(B) The Seller and the Purchaser now wish to amend and restate the Original Agreement, in the form of the Amended

Agreement (as defined below).

It is agreed as follows:

1  Definitions and Interpretation

In this Deed, unless the context otherwise requires, the provisions in this Clause 1 apply.

1.1 Incorporation of defined terms

Unless otherwise stated, terms defined in the Original Agreement shall have the same meaning in this Deed.
1.2 Definitions

“Amended Agreement” means the Original Agreement, as amended and restated in the form set out in the Schedule to this
Deed; and

“Original Agreement” means the Implementation Agreement in relation to Project Constellation, dated 22 April 2014.
1.3 Interpretation clauses

1.3.1 The principles of interpretation set out in Clause 1 of the Original Agreement shall have effect as if set out in
this Deed, save that references to “this Agreement” shall be construed as references to “this Deed”.

1.3.2 References to this Deed include the Schedule.
2 Amendment

2.1 In accordance with Clauses 20.3 and 13.1 of the Original Agreement, the parties agree that the Original Agreement shall be
amended and restated as set out in the Schedule to this Deed.

2.2 The amendment and restatement of the Original Agreement pursuant to clause 2.1 shall take effect from the Signing Date,
as if the Amended Agreement had been entered into on the Signing Date. Therefore, upon this Deed being entered into the
Amendment Agreement shall supersede the Original Agreement in its entirety.

3 Miscellaneous

3.1 Each party represents and warrants that it has full power and authority to enter into this Deed and to perform its obligations
under it.
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3.2 The provisions of Clauses 10, 11.1, 11.2, 12, 13, 15.2, 15.3, 16 and 18 to 24 of the Amended Agreement shall apply to this
Deed as if set out in full in this Deed and as if references in that clause to “this Agreement” are references to this Deed and
references to “party” or “parties” are references to parties to this Deed.
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In witness whereof this Deed has been delivered on the date first stated above.

Executed as a DEED by /s/ Roy Papatheodorou
Roy Papatheodorou

and }

Jonathan Emery /s/ Jonathan Emery
on

behalf of

NOVARTIS AG
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Executed as a DEED by )
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC ) /s/ David Redfern
acting by its duly appointed attorney ) (Signature of attorney)
)
in the presence of: )
Witness’s signature: /s/ Claire Jackson
Name (print): Claire Jackson
Occupation: Solicitor
Address: One Bunhill Row, London
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Dated 22 April 2014

as amended and restated on 29 May 2014
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC
and

NOVARTIS AG

IMPLEMENTATION AGREEMENT
in relation to Project Constellation

Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London EC1Y 8YY
(SRN/RJZS/SVKW)
521285161
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This AGREEMENT is entered into on 22 April 2014 and amended and restated on 29 May 2014

BETWEEN:

(1)  GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC, a company registered in England under number 03888792 and whose registered office is at
980 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex TW8 9GS (“GSK”); and

(2) NOVARTIS AG, a share corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) registered in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Basel-Stadt,
Switzerland under number CHE-103.867.266 and whose registered office is at Basel Switzerland and whose address is
Lichtstrasse 35, 4056 Basel (“Novartis”),

each, a “party” and together, the “parties”.

WHEREAS:

1. On the same date as this Agreement, the parties entered into the Target Asset Agreements and the Put Option Agreement (as
defined below).

2. The parties wish to enter into this Agreement to set out their agreement in relation to various matters that apply to the

Transaction and the Put Option Agreement (each as defined below) as a whole, including the GSK Shareholder Approval
Condition (as defined below) and the process in relation to the satisfaction of the same, and certain deal protection measures,
including exclusivity and break fees.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement:

“Affiliates” means, with respect to any person, any other person that Controls, is Controlled by or is under
common Control with such person, and “Affiliates” shall be interpreted accordingly;

“Agreed Form” in relation to any document means that document in a form agreed by the parties and initialled
or otherwise confirmed for the purposes of identification by or on behalf of the parties
(including by its counsel);

s

“Alternative Transaction’ has the meaning given in clause 4.1(A);

“Business Day” means a day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday or public holiday in the canton of Basel Stadt
(Switzerland), in New York (US) or in London (United Kingdom);

4
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“CHJV”

“CH Target Asset Agreement”
“Clean Team Members”

“Clean Team Meeting”

“Clean Team Only Information”
“Clean Team Notice”
“Completion”

(L)

“Consumer Antitrust Judgment

“Consumer Antitrust Reason”

“Consumer Competent
Authorities”

“Consumer Competition
Condition”

“Control”

Page 1 of 1

has the meaning given to it in the definition of Target Asset Agreements;

has the meaning given to it in the definition of Target Asset Agreements;

has the meaning given in Schedule 4;

has the meaning given in clause 4.7;

has the meaning given to it in Schedule 4, Part B, paragraph 3;

has the meaning given in clause 4.6;

means closing of the Transaction pursuant to the terms of the Target Asset Agreements;

means an order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination, decision or
award issued by or on the application of a Consumer Competent Authority pursuant to its
antitrust or competition functions;

means a horizontal, vertical or other competition concern held by one or more Consumer
Competent Authorities arising solely from a relationship between the assets agreed to be
transferred under the CH Target Asset Agreement;

means the authorities responsible for granting approvals under the Consumer Competition
Condition;

means the condition relating to anti-trust and competition matters as set out in clause 4.1.1 to
4.1.3 and 4.1.5 of the CH Target Asset Agreement;

means, in relation to a person, the ability of another person to ensure that the activities and
business of the first mentioned person are conducted in accordance with the wishes of that
other person (whether by exercise of contractual rights, ownership of shares or otherwise), and
a person shall be deemed to have Control of a body corporate if that person has the contractual
right to procure that the activities and business of that body corporate are conducted in
accordance with that person’s wishes or if that person possesses the majority of the issued
share capital or the voting rights in that body corporate or the right to receive the majority of
the income of that body corporate on any distribution by it of all of its income or the majority
of its assets on a winding up (and “Controller”, “Controlled” and “Controlling” shall be
construed accordingly);
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“Exclusivity Period”

“FCA”

“Firm”

“FSMA”

“Group”

“GSK Articles of Association”
“GSK Break Fee”

“GSK Class 1 Circular”

“GSK Directors”

“GSK Exclusive Assets”
“GSK’s Group”

“GSK Recommendation”

“GSK Shareholder Approval
Condition”

“GSK Shareholder Meeting”

“GSK Shareholder Resolution”

“GSK Shareholders”
“GSK Sponsor”

“GSK Transaction
Announcement”
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has the meaning given in clause 4.1;

means the Financial Conduct Authority;

has the meaning given to it in clause 4.10;

means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

means any party’s Affiliates, as the context may require;

means the articles of association of GSK in force and effect from time to time;
means an amount equal to USD$900,000,000;

means the Class 1 circular to be prepared by GSK and approved by the UKLA in connection
with the Transaction and the Put Option Agreement under and in accordance with the Listing
Rules, including a notice convening the GSK Shareholder Meeting;

means the directors of GSK from time to time;
has the meaning given in clause 4.1;

means GSK and its Affiliates from time to time;
has the meaning given in clause 2.11(A);

means the condition set out in clause 2.1;

has the meaning given in clause 2.1;

has the meaning given in clause 2.1;

means the holders of ordinary shares in the capital of GSK from time to time;
means the person acting as sponsor for GSK in relation to the GSK Class 1 Circular;

means the announcement to be made by GSK substantially in the Agreed Form;
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“Key Objectives”
“Listing Rules”
“Longstop Date”

“Notified Party”
“Notifying Party”
“Oncology Antitrust Judgment”

“Oncology Antitrust Reason”

“Oncology Competent
Authorities”

“Oncology Competition
Condition”

“Oncology Target Asset
Agreement”

“Option Completion”
“Novartis Approval”
“Novartis Board”

“Novartis Board Certificate”
“Novartis Break Fee”

“Novartis Businesses”

Page 1 of 1

has the meaning given in clause 2.4;
means the listing rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA;

has the meaning given to the term Long Stop Date in the Target Asset Agreements (and
includes any agreed extension thereof);

has the meaning given in clause 4.6;
has the meaning given in clause 4.6;

means an order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination, decision, or
award issued by or on the application of an Oncology Competent Authority pursuant to its
antitrust or competition functions;

means a horizontal, vertical or other competition concern held by one or more Oncology
Competent Authorities arising solely from a relationship between Novartis’s assets (and those
of its Group) and the assets agreed to be sold under the Oncology Target Asset Agreement;

means the authorities responsible for granting approvals under the Oncology Competition
Condition;

means the condition relating to anti-trust and competition matters as set out in clause 4.1.1 to
4.1.3 and 4.1.7 of the Oncology Target Asset Agreement;

has the meaning given to it in the definition of Target Asset Agreements;

has the meaning given to “Option Closing” in the Put Option Agreement;
has the meaning given in clause 3.2;

means the board of directors (Verwaltungsrat) of Novartis from time to time;
has the meaning in clause 3.6;

means USD$900,000,000;

has the meaning given in Schedule 2, paragraph (B)(i);

7
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“Novartis Exclusive Assets”
“Novartis’s Group”
“Novartis Shareholders”

“Novartis Transaction
Announcement”

3 6Payee9 9
3 6Payer9 9
“Permitted Purpose”

“Possible Alternative
Transaction”
“Proceedings”

“Project Sponsor”

“Put Option Agreement”

“Relevant Payment”

“Relevant Provisions”

“Representatives”

“Service Document”

“Shareholders’ Agreement”

Page 1 of 1

has the meaning given in clause 4.1;
means Novartis and its Affiliates from time to time;
mean the holders of ordinary shares in Novartis from time to time;

means the announcement to be made by Novartis substantially in the Agreed Form;

has the meaning given in clause 5.20;
has the meaning given in clause 5.20;
has the meaning given in Schedule 4;

has the meaning given in clause 4.6;

means any proceeding, suit or action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement,
whether contractual or non-contractual;

has the meaning given to it in clause 8;

means the Put Option Deed of even date herewith between GSK and Novartis relating to all or
part of the Flu vaccines business;

has the meaning given in clause 5.22;

means clause 4.2 of the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement, clause 4.2 of the Oncology Target
Asset Agreement and clause 4.2 of the CH Target Asset Agreement;

means, in relation to any party, any of its and/or any other member of its Group’s directors,
officers, employees, agents, representatives, bankers, auditors, accountants, financial advisers,
legal advisers and any other professional advisers;

means a claim form, application notice, order, judgment or other document relating to any
Proceedings;

means the Agreed Form shareholders’ agreement in respect of CHJV to be entered into by,
among others, the parties, on the date of completion of the Target Asset Agreements;

8
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“Steering Committee”

“Steering Committee
Representative”

“Target Asset Agreements”

“Tax”

“Tax Authority”

“Third Party Beneficiary”
“Third Party Rights Provisions”
“Transaction”

“UKLA”

“Vaccines Antitrust Judgment”

has the meaning given to it in clause 8;

has the meaning given to it in clause 8;

means:

A)

B)

©

the Share and Business Sale Agreement dated 22 April 2014, and as amended and/or
restated relating to the Vaccines Group (as defined therein) between GSK and Novartis
(the “Vaccines Target Asset Agreement”);

the Asset Sale and Purchase Agreement relating to the sale or licence of certain assets and
other rights relating to certain oncology products dated 22 April 2014, and as amended
and/or restated between GSK and Novartis (the “Oncology Target Asset Agreement”);
and

the Contribution Agreement dated 22 April 2014, and as amended and/or restated among
GSK, Novartis and Leo Constellation Limited (“CHJV”) under which (i) GSK will
contribute its consumer healthcare business to CHJV and (ii) Novartis will contribute its
over-the-counter consumer healthcare business to CHJV (the “CH Target Asset
Agreement”);

has the meaning given thereto in the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement;

has the meaning given thereto in the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement;

has the meaning given in clause 20.1;

has the meaning given in clause 20.1;

means the inter-conditional transactions comprised by the Target Asset Agreements;

means the FCA acting in its capacity as the competent authority under FSMA;

means an order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination, decision, or
award issued by or on the application of a Vaccines Competent Authority pursuant to its
antitrust or competition functions;

9
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“Vaccines Antitrust Reason”

“Vaccines Competent
Authorities”

“Vaccines Competition
Condition”

“Vaccines Target Asset
Agreement”

“VAT”

“Vaccines Group”

“Wider Transaction Documents”

“Working Hours”
“Work Stream Lead”

means a horizontal, vertical or other competition concern held by one or more Vaccines
Competent Authorities arising solely from a relationship between GSK’s assets (and those of
its Group) and the assets agreed to be sold under the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement;

means the authorities responsible for granting approvals under the Vaccines Competition
Condition;

means the condition relating to anti-trust and competition matters as set out in clause 4.1.1 to
4.1.3 and 4.1.5 of the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement; and

has the meaning given to it in the definition of Target Asset Agreements;

has the meaning given thereto in the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement;
has the meaning given thereto in the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement;

means each of the Target Asset Agreements and any other ancillary documents relating thereto
(but not, for the purposes of clause 8, the Shareholders’ Agreement); and

means 9.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. on a Business Day;

has the meaning given to it in clause 8.

1.2 In construing this Agreement, unless otherwise specified:

(A) references to clauses and schedules are to clauses of, and schedules to, this Agreement;

(B)  use of any gender includes the other genders and (unless the context otherwise requires) the singular shall include the

plural and vice versa;

(C) references to a “person” shall be construed so as to include any individual, firm, company or other body corporate,
government, state or agency of a state, local or municipal authority or government body or any joint venture, association
or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);

(D)  “body corporate” shall have the meaning given in section 1173 of the Companies Act 2006;

10
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(E) areference to any statute or statutory provision shall be construed as a reference to the same as it may have been, or may
from time to time be, amended, modified or re-enacted;

(F)  any reference to a “day” (including within the phrase “Business Day”) shall mean a period of 24 hours running from
midnight to midnight;

(G) references to times are to London times;
(H) references to “include” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation™;

(I)  areference to any other document referred to in this Agreement is a reference to that other document as amended,
varied, novated or supplemented (other than in breach of the provisions of this Agreement or that other document) at any
time;

(J)  headings and titles are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this Agreement;

(K) areference to any English legal term for any action, remedy, method of judicial proceeding, legal document, legal status,
court, official or any legal concept or thing shall in respect of any jurisdiction other than England be treated as a
reference to any analogous term in that jurisdiction;

(L) the rule known as the ejusdem generis rule shall not apply and accordingly general words introduced by the word
“other” shall not be given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are preceded by words indicating a
particular class of acts, matters or things; and

(M) general words shall not be given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are followed by particular examples
intended to be embraced by the general words.

The schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have the same force and effect as if expressly set out in the body of this
Agreement, and any reference to this Agreement shall include the schedules.

GSK SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

The sale and purchase under each of the Target Asset Agreements and any sale and purchase under the Put Option Agreement
shall be conditional upon the passing, at a duly convened and held general meeting of the GSK Shareholders, of an ordinary
resolution validly approving the same in accordance with the GSK Articles of Association, the Listing Rules and all other
applicable law and regulation (such condition being the “GSK Shareholder Approval Condition”, such resolution being the
“GSK Shareholder Resolution” and such meeting being the “GSK Shareholder Meeting”). Subject to any requirement of
the FCA to the contrary, GSK shall procure that the GSK Shareholder Resolution as proposed to GSK Shareholders includes
approval of the Novartis put option set out in clause 19 of the Shareholders’ Agreement and such other Novartis exit and share
transfer rights under that agreement as fall, under Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules, to be classified at the date of this Agreement
and the CH Target Asset Agreement.

11
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2.2 Subject to clause 2.12, GSK shall use reasonable endeavours to:

23

A)

B)

©

publish (or procure the publishing of) the GSK Class 1 Circular (together with the relevant forms of proxy) in
accordance with (as to both issuance and content) applicable law and regulation;

following the publication of the GSK Class 1 Circular and without prejudice to the other provisions of this clause 2.2
and clauses 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5, publish (or procure the publishing of) any supplementary circular to the GSK Class 1
Circular (or any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice to, or
following the publishing of, the GSK Class 1 Circular) as is required to be published by GSK in connection with the
Transaction and/or the Put Option Agreement under and in accordance with the Listing Rules or other applicable law or
regulation (and, for the avoidance of doubt, unless so required by the Listing Rules or other applicable law or regulation,
GSK shall not, subject always to clause 2.12, seek to revise, alter, supplement or modify the GSK Class 1 Circular
following its initial publication without Novartis’s written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed)); and

fulfil (or procure the fulfilment of) the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition,

in each case, as soon as reasonably practicable having regard to the Key Objectives.

Subject to clause 2.12, GSK shall:

A)

B)

©

D)
E)

prior to the GSK Shareholder Meeting and subject to applicable law and regulation, keep Novartis informed, on a
regular basis, of the number of proxy votes received in respect of the GSK Shareholder Resolution;

in accordance with applicable law and regulation and the GSK Articles of Association, (i) hold (subject to any
adjournment (any such adjournment being subject to the provisions of clause 2.3(F)) such GSK Shareholder Meeting at
the time and date specified in the GSK Class 1 Circular, and (ii) propose and hold a vote upon the GSK Shareholder
Resolution (such resolution(s) to be voted on by way of a poll) on such date;

not amend the GSK Shareholder Resolution other than with the prior written consent of Novartis (not to be unreasonably
withheld);

permit a reasonable number of Novartis’s advisers and representatives to attend the GSK Shareholder Meeting;

not propose any resolution that would result in the revocation or invalidity of the GSK Shareholder Resolution such that
the Transaction cannot be implemented in accordance with its terms; and

12
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24

(©)

(H)

specified in the GSK Class 1 Circular without the prior written consent of Novartis (not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed) unless, in the view of the GSK Directors (acting in good faith): (i) such adjournment is required by applicable
law or regulation, (ii) it is not reasonably practicable to seek such consent because the adjournment is on account of a
force majeure event or an emergency adjournment; (iii) such adjournment is reasonably necessary for the proper conduct
of, or proper consideration of any matter at, the GSK Shareholder Meeting; or (iii) the motion to adjourn is only moved
at the GSK Shareholder Meeting by GSK Shareholders (other than the GSK Directors);

if the GSK Shareholder Meeting is adjourned to another day than that for which it was originally convened, procure that
it shall be adjourned for as short a period as is reasonably practicable and permissible; and

shall not induce or encourage any shareholder to seek to adjourn the GSK Shareholder Meeting.

For the purposes of clause 2.2, the “Key Objectives” are the following:

A)

B)

©)

that the GSK Class 1 Circular contains all information necessary for the GSK Shareholders to make a properly informed
decision as to whether or not to pass the GSK Shareholder Resolution, taking account of all the constituent parts of the
Transaction as well as the Put Option Agreement, the conditions to which each of them is subject, and the matters,
circumstances or requirements relevant to any of them or to the satisfaction of such conditions;

that the process of fulfilling the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
publication of the GSK Class 1 Circular, shall be conducted so as to minimise, to the greatest extent possible, the risk of
a supplementary circular to the GSK Class 1 Circular (or any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material,
document, announcement or notice to, or following the publishing of, the GSK Class 1 Circular) being required to be
published by GSK under the Listing Rules or otherwise; and

that the process of satisfying the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition shall be conducted so as to avoid, to the greatest
extent possible, any prospect of more than one resolution of the GSK Shareholders being required by virtue of Listing
Rule 10.5.2 or otherwise in connection with the Transaction and the Put Option Agreement.

13
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2.5 The Key Objectives shall be solely for the GSK Directors to assess and deliver, acting in good faith after consultation with

2.6

2.7

2.8

outside counsel and the GSK Sponsor. As at the date of this Agreement, and subject to Novartis’s compliance with clause 2.8
and Schedule 2, GSK’s good faith expectation is that the Key Objectives are likely to be satisfied (and that it would therefore
be in a position to publish or procure the publishing of the GSK Class 1 Circular) once either:

(A) all matters, facts and circumstances that potentially materially affect (i) the Transaction, any or all of its constituent
parts, the Put Option Agreement and/or any or all of the conditions to which any of the foregoing is subject, or (ii) the
matters, circumstances or requirements relevant to the Transaction, any of its constituent parts, the Put Option
Agreement and/or to the satisfaction of such conditions have, in each case, been finalised (including, without limitation,
conditions relating to competition and anti-trust matters); or

(B) to the extent that any such matters, facts and/or circumstances referred to in clause 2.5(A) have not been finalised, any
remaining uncertainty in respect of them is not material, and such remaining uncertainty and the range of possible
outcomes in relation to such matters, facts and/or circumstances are capable of full and fair disclosure in the GSK Class
1 Circular in a way that meets the Key Objectives,

and, without prejudice to the generality of clauses 2.6 and 2.9, GSK shall keep Novartis informed and consult with Novartis in
relation to its assessment of the matters specified in (A) and (B) above.

GSK shall keep Novartis informed on an on-going basis of anticipated timings in relation to the publishing of the GSK Class 1
Circular and of the satisfaction of the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition.

GSK shall take all reasonable steps as are required in connection with the preparation and approval by the UKLA of the GSK
Class 1 Circular, with a view to having a near finalised draft of the GSK Class 1 Circular (subject to any such amendments as
may be required to satisfy the Key Objectives and/or to reflect any updates, developments or changes in relation to the
Transaction, any or all of its constituent parts, the Put Option Agreement or any other matter) as soon as reasonably practicable
following the date of this Agreement. GSK’s current indicative timetable in connection with the preparation and approval by
the UKLA of the GSK Class 1 Circular is set out in Schedule 1.

Novartis shall use reasonable endeavours to provide, either itself or through its Representatives, to GSK and/or its
Representatives (having regard to the indicative timetable in connection with the preparation and approval by the UKLA of the
GSK Class 1 Circular as set out in Schedule 1) all such information, documentation, co-operation and assistance as GSK and/or
any other member of its Group and/or any of its and/or their Representatives may reasonably request in connection with:

(A) the preparation, approval by the UKLA and/or publishing of the GSK Class 1 Circular;

(B)  the preparation, approval by the UKLA and/or publishing of any supplementary circular to the GSK Class 1 Circular (or
any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice to, or following the
publication of, the GSK Class 1 Circular) required to be published by GSK in connection with the Transaction and/or
the Put Option Agreement under and in accordance with the Listing Rules or otherwise;

14
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2.10

(C) any preparation, approval by the UKL A and/or publishing of any ancillary documents to those set out in clauses 2.8(A)
and 2.8(B), including, for the avoidance of doubt, any form of proxy in connection with the GSK Shareholder
Resolution;

(D) the convening of the GSK Shareholder Meeting for the purposes of passing the GSK Shareholder Resolution; and
(E)  any other matter in connection with the satisfaction of the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition,

which information, documentation, co-operation and assistance shall include those matters set out in Schedule 2. Novartis
further agrees that: (i) any information or documentation provided by it and/or any other member of its Group and/or any of its
and/or their Representatives on its behalf pursuant to this clause 2.8 and/or Schedule 2 shall be prepared in good faith and shall
not be misleading in any material respect at the time of supply; and (ii) prior to publication of the GSK Class 1 Circular it will
(reasonably promptly upon request by GSK) confirm to GSK whether any information or documentation within (i) continues
not to be misleading in any material respect.

GSK shall and/or shall procure that its relevant professional advisers shall:

(A) prior to first submitting a draft of the GSK Class 1 Circular to the UKLA and prior to publishing the GSK Class 1

Circular:

@) give Novartis and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to review such GSK Class 1 Circular (or draft thereof);
and

(i1) give reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers in
relation to the same within the timeframe specified, acting reasonably, by GSK and/or its professional advisers;
and

(B)  prior to publishing any supplementary circular to the GSK Class 1 Circular (and/or any other draft amended,
supplemental and/or supplemented material, document, announcement and/or notice thereto or following the publication
thereof), to the extent reasonably practicable:

@) give Novartis and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to review the same; and

(i1) give reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers in
relation to the same within the timeframe specified, acting reasonably, by GSK and/or its professional advisers.

GSK shall provide Novartis and its advisers with any material written comments that GSK or its advisers may receive from
time to time from the UKLA or its staff with respect to information contained in the GSK Class 1 Circular (or any ancillary or
supplemental

15
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2.11

2.12

2.13

document thereto and/or any draft thereof) that (i) relates to or impacts upon the Transaction (or the timing thereof) or (ii) is
information on or from Novartis and its Group. GSK shall promptly consult with Novartis and its advisers prior to responding
to any such comments and shall provide Novartis with copies of all written responses to such comments (or if oral responses,
reasonable summaries thereof). GSK and Novartis shall each use all reasonable endeavours to resolve, and each party agrees to
consult and cooperate with the other party in resolving, all such comments as promptly as practicable after receipt thereof.

GSK confirms that its board of directors has by way of unanimous board resolution determined that this Agreement, the
Transaction and the Put Option Agreement are in the best interests of GSK and the GSK Shareholders as a whole. Subject to
clause 2.12, GSK shall procure that:

(A) the GSK Transaction Announcement shall include a statement of the GSK Directors’ intention to unanimously
recommend that the GSK Shareholders vote in favour of the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK Shareholder
Meeting when convened (the “GSK Recommendation”);

(B) the GSK Directors shall give the GSK Recommendation in the GSK Class 1 Circular;

(C)  subject to clause 2.13, the GSK Directors shall not adversely change, withdraw or qualify the GSK Recommendation
(or, prior to publication of the GSK Class 1 Circular, their intention to provide such recommendation); and

(D) the GSK Class 1 Circular shall contain a statement that the GSK Directors intend, in respect of any personal
shareholding in GSK that any such director may have at the time of the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution, to vote
in accordance with the GSK Recommendation.

In the event that the GSK Directors shall at any time be minded to adversely change, withdraw or qualify the GSK
Recommendation (or, prior to publication of the GSK Class 1 Circular, their intention to provide such recommendation), GSK
shall promptly notify Novartis of the same and, in reasonable detail, of the facts, matters and circumstances underlying the
same.

The obligations of GSK set out in clauses 2.2, 2.3 and 2.11(A) to 2.11(D) (inclusive) are subject to the fiduciary duties (and
any other duty to provide advice or recommendation to the GSK Shareholders) from time to time of the GSK Directors (as
determined in good faith by the GSK Directors after consultation with external counsel).

For the purposes of clause 2.11(C) and clause 5.1(A)(iii), the GSK Directors shall be deemed not to have adversely changed,
withdrawn or qualified:

(A) the GSK Recommendation if, following the publishing of the GSK Class 1 Circular, GSK is required to produce a
supplementary circular thereto (and/or any other amended, supplemental and/or supplemented material, document,
announcement and/or notice thereto or following the publishing thereof); or

(B) their intention to provide the GSK Recommendation if, prior to publishing of the GSK Class 1 Circular, GSK is required
to make or issue any further announcement, statement or notice in relation to the Transaction and/or the Put Option
Agreement,
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32

33

34

35

provided that in any such supplementary circular (or such amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document,
announcement or notice thereto or following the publishing thereof) or, as the case may be, announcement, statement or notice,
the GSK Directors re-affirm the GSK Recommendation or, as the case may be, their intention to provide the GSK
Recommendation, in any such case, based on the matters, facts and circumstances as set out in any public announcements,
statements or notices that have been and/or are made or given or in any documents that have been and/or are published, in any
such case, by GSK in connection with the Transaction and/or the Put Option Agreement.

NOVARTIS BOARD RECOMMENDATION

The sale and purchase under each of the Target Asset Agreements and any sale and purchase under the Put Option Agreement
shall be conditional upon Novartis not delivering, in accordance with this clause 3, an Novartis Board Certificate prior to the
conclusion of the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK Shareholder Meeting.

The Novartis Board has, at its board meeting on or around the date hereof, passed a unanimous resolution that the Transaction
is in the best interests of Novartis and Novartis Shareholders as a whole (the “Novartis Approval”). Novartis shall procure
that the Novartis Transaction Announcement shall include a statement of the Novartis Approval.

Subject to clause 3.5, the Novartis Board shall not adversely change, withdraw or qualify the Novartis Approval prior to the
vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK Shareholder Meeting.

In the event that the Novartis Board shall at any time prior to the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK
Shareholder Meeting be minded to adversely change, withdraw or qualify the Novartis Approval, Novartis shall promptly
notify GSK of the same and, in reasonable detail, of the facts, matters and circumstances underlying the same.

The Novartis Board shall be entitled to adversely change, withdraw or qualify the Novartis Approval in the event that the
Novartis Board determines (acting in good faith after consultation with external counsel and having taken advice from an
independent financial adviser) that, based on the notional assumptions that:

(A) Novartis is incorporated in England;
(B) Novartis is the subject of a premium listing in the United Kingdom under the Listing Rules;
(C) Novartis is not the subject of a listing or registration in any other jurisdiction; and

(D) the transactions specified in clause 3.1 above constitute a class 1 transaction for the purposes of the Listing Rules and, as
such, require approval of Novartis Shareholders,
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3.6

3.7

they would advise Novartis Shareholders to vote against a shareholder resolution approving the transactions specified in
clause 3.1 above.

In the event that, in circumstances entitling them to do so under clause 3.5, the Novartis Board adversely changes, withdraws
or qualifies the Novartis Approval at any time prior to the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK Shareholder
Meeting, Novartis may, by no later than the earlier of (i) the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK Shareholder
Meeting and (ii) the close of business on the first Business Day after such change, withdrawal or qualification, deliver a
certificate to GSK in the form set out in Schedule 3 of the Agreement (the “Novartis Board Certificate”) and any such
certificate shall:

(A)  be accompanied by the form of announcement to be made by Novartis under clause 3.7; and

(B) include confirmation that the Novartis Board has received independent financial advice from a named adviser prior to
reaching its conclusion.

In the event that Novartis delivers an Novartis Board Certificate pursuant to clause 3.6, it shall contemporaneously make an ad-
hoc announcement (in accordance with applicable listing rules, regulatory requirements and Novartis’s own ad hoc publication
practice) which includes:

(A) astatement that the Novartis Board has concluded that the Transaction is no longer in the best interests of Novartis and
Novartis Shareholders as a whole; and

(B) areasonable statement of the reasons for the change, withdrawal or qualification of the Novartis Approval (with the
reasonableness of such statement being judged by reference to Novartis’s own ad hoc publication practice).

EXCLUSIVITY

Each of GSK and Novartis agree that they shall not (and shall procure that no other member of its respective Group shall),
between (i) the date of this Agreement, and (ii) Completion or, as the case may be, termination of the Target Asset Agreements
(inclusive) (the “Exclusivity Period”):

(A) enter into any agreement, form any understanding or arrangement, or enter into, participate in or continue any
discussions or process with any third party:

@) to dispose of or otherwise transfer (whether in a single transaction or a series of transactions and whether by
share and/or asset sale or otherwise) all of, a material part of, or material rights in respect of or referable to:

(a)  in the case of GSK, the assets being sold or contributed by GSK and/or members of its Group under the
Oncology Target Asset Agreement and/or the CH Target Asset Agreement (the “GSK Exclusive
Assets”); and

(b)  in the case of Novartis, the assets being sold or contributed by Novartis and/or members of its Group
under the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement and/or the CH Target Assets Agreement (the “Novartis
Exclusive Assets”); or

(i1) in relation to a transaction which would or might reasonably be expected to adversely affect the prospect of
satisfying the Consumer Competition Condition, the Oncology Competition Condition or the Vaccines
Competition Condition (other than to an extent which is de minimis),
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4.2

B)

©
D)

any such actual or proposed disposal, transfer, acquisition or transaction being an “Alternative Transaction”;

supply or continue to supply any information or provide or continue to provide any due diligence facilities, materials or
data room access relating to:

(i) in the case of GSK, the GSK Exclusive Assets; and

(i) in the case of Novartis, the Novartis Exclusive Assets,

to any third party in connection with an Alternative Transaction;

solicit or encourage any proposals or offers from any third party in relation to an Alternative Transaction; or

initiate, or communicate to any third party the initiation of, any formal or informal sale process (whether by auction or
otherwise) in relation to an Alternative Transaction,

in each case, without the consent of the other party, provided that the provisions of this clause 4.1 shall not apply to (i) any
disposal transaction being proposed in order to assist the satisfaction of any competition or anti-trust condition to any Target
Asset Agreement, or (ii) any other assets of GSK’s Group or Novartis’s Group that would otherwise be caught by the
provisions of this clause 4.1 as may be agreed by GSK and Novartis.

The restrictions contained in clause 4.1 shall not prohibit any transaction that has a wider strategic rationale for the relevant
party than the Transaction and the principal purpose of which:

A)

B)

in the case of GSK, is not the acquisition (whether direct or indirect) by a third party or third parties of all or a material
part of the GSK Exclusive Assets (or a material interest therein or material rights referable thereto) or another
transaction having the same or equivalent effect; or

in the case of Novartis, is not the acquisition (whether direct or indirect) by a third party or third parties of all or a
material part of the Novartis Exclusive Assets (or a material interest therein or material rights referable thereto) or
another transaction having the same or equivalent effect,
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and the provisions of clauses 4.3 and 4.4 shall not apply in relation thereto.

4.3  During the Exclusivity Period, each party shall notify the other party promptly (and, in any event, within two Business Days) in
writing if it (and/or any other member of its respective Group and/or any of its and/or their respective Representatives) receives
any proposal or offer from any third party in relation to an Alternative Transaction which is restricted under clause 4.1, such
notification to include (to the extent not prohibited by applicable law or regulation, but provided that no party shall voluntarily
assume any obligation of confidence in respect of the proposal or offer) the material terms of such Alternative Transaction,
including, without limitation, details of the price, form of consideration, timetable, conditionality and the identity of all
interested parties involved in such Alternative Transaction, to the extent the same are known.

4.4  Prior to responding to any proposal or offer from any third party as referred to in clause 4.3, the party that has received the
proposal or offer shall discuss its response with the other party and, in any event, such response shall be limited to confirming
the existence of the exclusivity and non-solicit measures set out in this Agreement (with such confirmation being in terms of
the description in the GSK Transaction Announcement).

4.5  Each party warrants that any and all negotiations and supply or provision of information, due diligence facilities, materials
and/or data room access between (i) it (and/or any other member of its respective Group and/or any of its and/or their
respective Representatives), and (ii) any third party in connection with an Alternative Transaction which is restricted under
clause 4.1 (or which would be so restricted but for clause 4.2) have been discontinued.

Dispute Resolution Mechanism

4.6  If during the Exclusivity Period, either party is uncertain as to the application of clause 4.1(A)(ii) and whether any proposed
transaction or arrangement would constitute an Alternative Transaction (a “Possible Alternative Transaction”), such party
(the “Notifying Party”’) may notify the other party (the “Notified Party”) in writing that it wishes to convene a meeting of the
parties’ respective Clean Team Members to discuss such Possible Alternative Transaction (a “Clean Team Notice”) and the
parties shall procure that a meeting of the Clean Team Members is convened within 3 Business Days of the receipt of the Clean
Team Notice by the Notified Party.

4.7  No later than 2 Business Days prior to the meeting convened pursuant to clause 4.6 (the “Clean Team Meeting”), the
Notifying Party shall provide a written summary of the Possible Alternative Transaction to the other party’s Clean Team
Members (or such Clean Team Members as are confirmed to be attending the relevant Clean Team Meeting), such notification
to include the material terms of the Possible Alternative Transaction, including, without limitation, details of the price, form of
consideration, timetable, conditionality and the identity of all interested parties involved in any such Possible Alternative
Transaction, to the extent the same are known.
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4.8  Each party shall procure that their respective Clean Team Members (or a minimum of at least two of their Clean Team

49

4.10

Members) attend the Clean Team Meeting and use reasonable endeavours to resolve whether any notified Possible Alternative
Transaction is a restricted Alternative Transaction for the purposes of clause 4.1(A)(ii) (acting reasonably and in good faith).
Each party shall comply with and shall procure that their respective Clean Team Members comply with the confidentiality and
conduct provisions set out in Part B of Schedule 4.

If the parties’ respective Clean Team Members agree that a Possible Alternative Transaction is or is not an Alternative
Transaction, such determination shall be recorded in writing and signed by a Clean Team Member on behalf of each party.
Such determination shall, in the absence of manifest error, fraud or breach of the Notifying Party’s disclosure obligations in
clause 4.7), be final and binding on the parties and, without prejudice to any other rights which they may respectively have
under this Agreement, the parties expressly waive, to the extent permitted by law, any rights of recourse they may otherwise
have to challenge it.

If the parties’ respective Clean Team Members do not reach agreement at the Clean Team Meeting or within 10 Business Days
thereof, any remaining dispute with respect to the application of clause 4.1(A)(ii) may be referred (on the application of either
party) for determination by such independent law firm of international standing with extensive experience in the competition
and merger control aspects of international transactions as the parties shall agree or, failing agreement, such firm as is
appointed on application by either party by the President of the Law Society of England and Wales from time to time (the
“Firm”). The Firm shall be requested to make its decision within 30 Business Days of confirmation and acknowledgement by
the Firm of its appointment (or such later date as the parties and the Firm agree in writing). The following provisions shall
apply once the Firm has been appointed:

(A) the parties shall each prepare a written statement within 7 days of the Firm’s appointment on the matters in dispute
which (together with the relevant supporting documents) shall be submitted to the Firm for determination and copied at
the same time to the other;

(B) following delivery of their respective submissions, the parties shall each have the opportunity to comment once only on
the other’s submission by written comment delivered to the Firm not later than 7 days after receipt of the other’s
submission and, thereafter, neither party shall be entitled to make further statements or submissions except insofar as the
Firm so requests (in which case it shall, on each occasion, give the other party (unless otherwise directed) 5 days to
respond to any statements or submission so made);

(C) in giving its determination, the Firm shall state the reasons for its determination; and

(D)  the Firm shall act as an expert (and not as an arbitrator) in making its determination which shall, in the absence of
manifest error or fraud, be final and binding on the parties and, without prejudice to any other rights which they may
respectively have under this Agreement, the parties expressly waive, to the extent permitted by law, any rights of
recourse they may otherwise have to challenge it.
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4.11 The parties shall each be responsible for their own costs in connection with the review and agreement or determination of the
Possible Alternative Transaction. The fees and expenses of the Firm shall be borne equally between the parties or in such other
proportions as the Firm shall determine.

5. BREAK FEES
Break fee payable by GSK to Novartis

5.1  Subject to clause 5.16 (and, where applicable, clauses 5.2, 5.3, 5.5 and 5.6), GSK shall pay to Novartis by way of
compensation the GSK Break Fee if:

(A) in relation to the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition any of the following occur:

@) as at 5 p.m. on the Longstop Date, no vote has been held on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at a GSK
Shareholder Meeting (except where such vote is not able to held on the GSK Shareholder Resolution at a GSK
Shareholder Meeting by Spm on the Longstop Date because Novartis has failed to provide information,
documentation, co-operation or assistance that it is required to provide under paragraph (A) or (B) of Schedule 2
or as otherwise may be required (in respect of Novartis) by reason of applicable law or regulation (or by any
regulator) and such failure has caused GSK to be unable (despite its reasonable efforts to otherwise obtain or
generate any required information or documentation) to obtain UKLA approval and post the GSK Shareholder
Circular in time to enable such vote to take place prior to 5 p.m. on the Longstop Date;);

(i1) with a vote having been held on the GSK Shareholder Resolution, such resolution is not passed by the GSK
Shareholders at the GSK Shareholder Meeting (or any adjournment thereof); or

(iii))  subject to clause 2.13, the GSK Directors adversely change, withdraw or qualify the GSK Recommendation (or,
prior to publication of the GSK Class 1 Circular, their intention to provide such recommendation) and the GSK
Shareholder Resolution is not then passed by the GSK Shareholders at the GSK Shareholder Meeting (or any
adjournment thereof) within eight weeks of any such change, withdrawal or qualification; or

(B) in relation to the Vaccines Competition Condition:

@) the Vaccines Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date; and
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(i) either:

©

D)

E)

(iii)

(a)  the Vaccines Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop Date but for a Vaccines
Antitrust Reason; or

(b)  GSK has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than
in any respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition
Condition; and

Novartis has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition; or

in relation to the Consumer Competition Condition:

®
(i)

(iii)

@iv)

the Consumer Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date; and

the Consumer Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop Date but for a Consumer
Antitrust Reason; and

GSK has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Consumer Competition Condition;
and

Novartis has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Consumer Competition Condition;
or

in relation to the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement:

®

(i)

(iii)

either GSK or Novartis has validly issued a notice to terminate the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement pursuant
to clause 4.4.1(ii) thereof on the basis of a Vaccines Antitrust Judgment; and

either:
(a)  that Vaccines Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for a Vaccines Antitrust Reason; or

(b)  GSK has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than

in any respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the issuance of the Vaccines Antitrust Judgment;
and

Novartis has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to issuance of the Vaccines Antitrust Judgment; or

in relation to the CH Target Asset Agreement:

®

either GSK or Novartis has validly issued a notice to terminate the CH Target Asset Agreement pursuant to
clause 4.4.1(ii) thereof on the basis of a Consumer Antitrust Judgment; and
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(i) that Consumer Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for a Consumer Antitrust Reason; and

52

53

54

55

(iii))  GSK has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the issuance of the Consumer Antitrust Judgment; and

@iv) Novartis has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the issuance of the Consumer Antitrust Judgment.

Subject to Clause 5.4, GSK shall not be required to pay the GSK Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.1(B) in circumstances where
the Vaccines Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

(A) because one or more Vaccines Competent Authorities requires a remedy that entails the approval of a specific third party
purchaser prior to completion of GSK’s acquisition of Novartis’s vaccines-related assets; and

(B) the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition or Consumer Competition Condition is a
factor that materially contributes to no suitable third party purchaser being able and prepared to be put forward for
approval by the relevant Vaccines Competent Authority.

Subject to Clause 5.4, GSK shall not be required to pay the GSK Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.1(B) in circumstances where
the Vaccines Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

(A) because one or more Vaccines Competent Authorities declines to issue a decision on the compatibility of GSK’s
acquisition of Novartis’s vaccine-related assets with the relevant law; and

(B)  the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition or the Consumer Competition Condition
is a factor that materially contributes to the relevant Vaccines Competent Authority declining to issue a decision.

Clause 5.2 and clause 5.3 shall not apply if GSK’s failure to comply with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this
Agreement materially contributes to the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition or
Consumer Competition Condition.

Subject to Clause 5.7, GSK shall not be required to pay the GSK Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.1(C) in circumstances where
the Consumer Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

(A) because one or more Consumer Competent Authorities requires a remedy that entails the approval of a specific third
party purchaser prior to completion of the transactions envisaged in the CH Target Asset Agreement; and

(B) the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition is a factor that materially contributes to
no suitable third party purchaser being able and prepared to be put forward for approval by the relevant Consumer
Competent Authority.
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5.6  Subject to Clause 5.7, GSK shall not be required to pay the GSK Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.1(C) in circumstances where
the Consumer Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

A)

B)

because one or more Consumer Competent Authorities declines to issue a decision on the compatibility of transactions
envisaged in the CH Target Asset Agreement with the relevant law; and

the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition is a factor that materially contributes to
the relevant Consumer Competent Authority declining to issue a decision.

5.7  Clause 5.5 and clause 5.6 shall not apply if GSK’s failure to comply with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this
Agreement materially contributes to the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition.

Break fee payable by Novartis to GSK

5.8  Subject to clause 5.17 (and, where applicable, to clauses 5.9, 5.10, 5.12 and 5.13), Novartis shall pay to GSK by way of
compensation the Novartis Break Fee if:

A)

B)

in relation to the Oncology Competition Condition:

®
(i)

(iii)

the Oncology Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date; and
either:

(a)  the Oncology Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop Date but for an
Oncology Antitrust Reason; or

(b)  Novartis has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other
than in any respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Oncology
Competition Condition; and

GSK has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition; or

in relation to the Consumer Competition Condition:

®
(i)

(iii)

@v)

the Consumer Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date; and

the Consumer Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop Date but for a Consumer
Antitrust Reason; and

Novartis has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in
any respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Consumer Competition
Condition; and

GSK has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Consumer Competition Condition;
or
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(C) inrelation to the Oncology Target Asset Agreement:

59

D)

E)

®

(i)

(iii)

either GSK or Novartis has validly issued a notice to terminate the Oncology Target Asset Agreement pursuant
to clause 4.4.1(ii) thereof on the basis of an Oncology Antitrust Judgment; and

either:
(a)  that Oncology Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for an Oncology Antitrust Reason; or

(b)  Novartis has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other
than in any respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the issuance of the Oncology Antitrust
Judgment; and

GSK has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to issuance of the Oncology Antitrust Judgment; or

in relation to the CH Target Asset Agreement:

®

(ii)
(iii)

@v)

either GSK or Novartis has validly issued a notice to terminate the CH Target Asset Agreement pursuant to
clause 4.4.1(ii) thereof on the basis of a Consumer Antitrust Judgment; and

that Consumer Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for a Consumer Antitrust Reason; and

Novartis has not complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in
any respect which is immaterial in its contribution to the non-satisfaction of the Consumer Competition
Condition; and

GSK has complied with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions and this Agreement, other than in any
respect which is immaterial in its contribution to issuance of the Consumer Antitrust Judgment; or

an Novartis Board Certificate is delivered to GSK.

Subject to clause 5.11, Novartis shall not be required to pay the Novartis Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.8(A) in circumstances
where the Oncology Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

A)

B)

because one or more Oncology Competent Authorities requires a remedy that entails the approval of a specific third
party purchaser prior to completion of Novartis’s acquisition of GSK’s oncology-related assets; and

the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition or Consumer Competition Condition is a
factor that materially contributes to no suitable third party purchaser being able and prepared to be put forward for
approval by the relevant Oncology Competent Authority.
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5.10 Subject to clause 5.11, Novartis shall not be required to pay the Novartis Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.8(A) in circumstances
where the Oncology Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

(A) because one or more Oncology Competent Authorities declines to issue a decision on the compatibility of GSK’s
acquisition of Novartis’s oncology-related assets with the relevant law; and

(B) the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition or Consumer Competition Condition is a
factor that materially contributes to the relevant Oncology Competent Authority declining to issue a decision.

5.11 Clause 5.9 and clause 5.10 shall not apply if Novartis’s failure to comply with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions
and this Agreement materially contributes to the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition or
the Consumer Competition Condition.

5.12  Subject to clause 5.14, Novartis shall not be required to pay the Novartis Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.8(B) in circumstances
where the Consumer Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

(A) because one or more Consumer Competent Authorities requires a remedy that entails the approval of a specific third
party purchaser prior to completion of the transactions envisaged in the CH Target Asset Agreement; and

(B) the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition is a factor that materially contributes to
no suitable third party purchaser being able and prepared to be put forward for approval by the relevant Consumer
Competent Authority.

5.13  Subject to clause 5.14, Novartis shall not be required to pay the Novartis Break Fee pursuant to clause 5.8(B) in circumstances
where the Consumer Competition Condition has not been satisfied by the Longstop Date:

(A) because one or more Consumer Competent Authorities declines to issue a decision on the compatibility of transactions
envisaged in the CH Target Asset Agreement with the relevant law; and

(B) the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition is a factor that materially contributes to
the relevant Consumer Competent Authority declining to issue a decision.

5.14 Clause 5.12 and clause 5.13 shall not apply if Novartis’s failure to comply with its obligations under the Relevant Provisions
and this Agreement materially contributes to the actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition.
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Expert determination
5.15 Inthe event of any dispute between the parties as regards whether:

(A) for the purposes of clause 5.1(B)(ii)(a), the Vaccines Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop
Date but for a Vaccines Antitrust Reason;

(B) for the purposes of clause 5.1(C)(ii), the Consumer Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop
Date but for a Consumer Antitrust Reason;

(C) for the purposes of clause 5.1(D)(ii)(a), a Vaccines Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for a Vaccines
Antitrust Reason;

(D) for the purposes of clause 5.1(E)(ii), a Consumer Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for a Consumer
Antitrust Reason;

(E)  for the purposes of clause 5.3, one or more Vaccines Competent Authorities has declined to issue a decision on the
compatibility of GSK’s acquisition of Novartis’s vaccine-related assets with the relevant law and, if so, whether the
actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition or the Consumer Competition Condition was
a factor that materially contributed to the relevant Vaccines Competent Authority declining to issue a decision;

(F)  for the purposes of clause 5.6, one or more Consumer Competent Authorities has declined to issue a decision on the
compatibility of transactions envisaged in the CH Target Asset Agreement with the relevant law and, if so, whether the
actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Oncology Competition Condition was a factor that materially contributed to
the relevant Consumer Competent Authority declining to issue a decision;

(G) for the purposes of clause 5.8(A)(ii)(a), the Oncology Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop
Date but for an Oncology Antitrust Reason;

(H) for the purposes of clause 5.8(B)(ii), the Consumer Competition Condition would have been satisfied by the Longstop
Date but for a Consumer Antitrust Reason;

D) for the purposes of clause 5.8(C)(ii)(a), an Oncology Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for an
Oncology Antitrust Reason;

(J)  for the purposes of clause 5.8(D)(ii), a Consumer Antitrust Judgment would not have been issued but for a Consumer
Antitrust Reason;

(K) for the purposes of clause 5.10, one or more Oncology Competent Authorities has declined to issue a decision on the
compatibility of Novartis’s acquisition of GSK’s vaccine-related assets with the relevant law and, if so, whether the
actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition or the Consumer Competition Condition was
a factor that materially contributed to the relevant Oncology Competent Authority declining to issue a decision; or

(L) for the purposes of clause 5.13, one or more Consumer Competent Authorities has declined to issue a decision on the
compatibility of transactions envisaged in the CH Target Asset Agreement with the relevant law and, if so, whether the
actual or expected non-satisfaction of the Vaccines Competition Condition was a factor that materially contributed to the
relevant Consumer Competent Authority declining to issue a decision,
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the matter shall be referred to an expert appointed in accordance with the procedure under clause 4.10 (the “Expert”). The
Expert shall be requested to make its decision within 25 Business Days of confirmation and acknowledgement by the Expert of
its appointment (or such later date as the parties and the Expert agree in writing). The following provisions shall apply once the
Expert has been appointed:

®

(i)

(iii)
(iv)

)

the parties shall each prepare a written statement within 14 days of the Expert’s appointment on the matters in dispute
which (together with the relevant supporting documents) shall be submitted to the Expert for determination and copied
at the same time to the other;

following delivery of their respective submissions, the parties shall each have the opportunity to comment once only on
the other’s submission by written comment delivered to the Expert not later than 7 days after receipt of the other’s
submission and, thereafter, neither party shall be entitled to make further statements or submissions except insofar as the
Expert so requests (in which case it shall, on each occasion, give the other party (unless otherwise directed) 5 days to
respond to any statements or submission so made);

in giving its determination, the Expert shall state the reasons for its determination;

the Expert shall act as an expert (and not as an arbitrator) in making its determination which shall, in the absence of
manifest error or fraud, be final and binding on the parties and, without prejudice to any other rights which they may
respectively have under this Agreement, the parties expressly waive, to the extent permitted by law, any rights of
recourse they may otherwise have to challenge it; and

the parties shall each be responsible for their own costs in connection with the above Expert determination process. The
fees and expenses of the Expert shall be borne equally between the parties or in such other proportions as the Expert
shall determine.

Miscellaneous

5.16 For the avoidance of doubt, in no event or circumstance shall GSK be required to make a payment pursuant to:

A)

B)

more than one of clauses 5.1(A), (B), (C), (D) and (E) and, accordingly, subject to clause 5.16(B), the maximum amount
payable by GSK pursuant to clause 5.1 shall not in any event exceed the GSK Break Fee; or

(i) clause 5.1(A), (B), (C), (D) or (E), and (ii) clause 5.21 and 5.22 (in each case, if applicable), which equals more than
the maximum amount permitted under the Listing Rules.

5.17 For the avoidance of doubt, in no event or circumstance shall Novartis be required to make a payment pursuant to:

A)

B)

more than one of clauses 5.8(A), (B), (C), (D) and (E) and, accordingly, subject to clause 5.17(B), the maximum amount
payable by Novartis pursuant to clause 5.8 shall not in any event exceed the Novartis Break Fee; or

(i) clause 5.8(A), (B), (C), (D) or (E) and (ii) clauses 5.21 and 5.22 (in each case, if applicable), which equals more than
an amount equal to the limit set by clause 5.16(B) in respect of GSK.
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5.18 In the event that both:

5.19

5.20

5.21

5.22

(A) the GSK Break Fee; and
(B) the Novartis Break Fee,

become payable pursuant to clause 5.1 and clause 5.8, respectively, the sums payable shall be set-off against one another,
resulting in no payment being made by GSK to Novartis or vice versa.

In the event that only the GSK Break Fee or the Novartis Break Fee becomes payable, GSK shall pay the GSK Break Fee or
Novartis shall pay the Novartis Break Fee (as the case may be) within five Business Days of the circumstances set out in
clause 5.1 or clause 5.8, respectively, occurring.

Any payment to be made pursuant to clause 5.19 shall be made in immediately available funds (and without any deduction or
withholding, save as required by law) to the bank account notified to the party paying the break fee (the “Payer”) by the party
receiving the break fee (the “Payee”).

If any deduction or withholding is required by law to be made from any payment required to be made pursuant to clause 5.19
then the Payer shall be obliged to pay to the Payee such sum as will, after the deduction or withholding has been made, leave
the Payee with the same amount as it would have been entitled to receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a
deduction or withholding. If the Payer thus makes an increased payment and the Payee, in respect of the Tax that gave rise to
such increased payment, receives and utilises a loss, relief, allowance or credit in respect of any Tax or any deduction in
computing its income, profits or gains for the purposes of any Tax, the Payee shall reimburse the Payer such amount as shall
leave the Payee in the same position as the Payee would have been in had no such deduction or withholding been required to be
made.

The parties anticipate that any payment to be made pursuant to clause 5.19 would not be treated as the consideration for a
taxable supply for VAT purposes. If any Tax Authority determines that any such payment (the “Relevant Payment”) is the
consideration for a taxable supply then the Relevant Payment shall be inclusive of any amounts in respect of VAT but shall be
subject to adjustment on the following basis:

(A) if the Payer (or the representative member of its VAT group) is liable to account for VAT under a reverse charge
mechanism, to the extent that the Payer (or such representative member) is not entitled to recover such VAT from the
relevant Tax Authority, the Relevant Payment shall be reduced such that the aggregate of the reduced payment and any
irrecoverable VAT in respect thereof equals the original amount of the Relevant Payment; and

(B) if the Payee (or the representative member of its VAT group) is liable to account for VAT, the Payee shall issue a valid
VAT invoice to the Payer and the amount of the Relevant Payment (inclusive of amounts in respect of VAT) shall be
increased by the amount which the Payer (or the representative member of its VAT group) is entitled to recover as input
tax in respect thereof.
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5.23 The parties agree that in the event that the GSK Break Fee becomes payable pursuant to clause 5.1, Novartis shall not have any
other rights or remedies under, or in connection with, the Target Asset Agreements and the Put Option Agreement against GSK
or any member of its Group (save in respect of any rights or provisions that are expressly preserved under any of the Target
Asset Agreements or the Put Option Agreement).

5.24 The parties agree that in the event the Novartis Break Fee becomes payable pursuant to clause 5.8, GSK shall not have any
other rights or remedies under, or in connection with the Target Asset Agreements against Novartis or any member of its
Group (save in respect of any rights or provisions that are expressly preserved under any of the Target Asset Agreements or the
Put Option Agreement).

6. TERMINATION
6.1  This Agreement shall terminate:
(A) if agreed in writing between the parties;
(B) automatically if any Target Asset Agreement terminates or is terminated in accordance with its terms; or

(C) automatically in the event that the GSK Break Fee and/or the Novartis Break Fee becomes payable under clause 5.1 or
clause 5.8, respectively,

except for:
@) in all cases, clause 1 and clauses 9 to 24 (inclusive) and any rights and obligations that have accrued as a result
of such termination or prior thereto;
(i) clauses 5.16 to 5.24 (inclusive) if this Agreement terminates in accordance with clause 6.1(C); and

(iii))  clause 5 in its entirety if this Agreement terminates at the Longstop Date in accordance with clause 6.1(B) in
circumstances where the Vaccines Competition Condition, the Consumer Competition Condition and/or the
Oncology Competition Condition is not satisfied as at the Longstop Date,

which shall survive such termination.

6.2  Any termination of this Agreement pursuant to this clause 6 shall be without prejudice to any accrued rights, obligations and
liabilities of any party under this Agreement prior to such termination.
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7. INITIAL BUSINESS PLAN

7.1  The parties agree that the initial business plan relating to the joint venture to be formed pursuant to the Shareholders’

8.2

8.3

8.4

Agreement shall be agreed by the parties prior to Completion and shall:
(A) cover the period from the Completion Date up to and including 31 December 2017; and

(B) include at least the items listed in Schedule 1 (Business Plan) of the Shareholders’ Agreement (on the basis provided
therein).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that Novartis shall not have a veto right over any element of the initial
business plan that would result in Novartis obtaining “control” of the joint venture for the purposes of the European Union
Merger Regulation.

STEERING COMMITTEE
Each of the parties shall appoint:

(A) aproject sponsor (the “Project Sponsor”’) who shall be generally responsible for managing the overall performance of
that party’s obligations under this Agreement and each of the Wider Transaction Documents; and

(B)  workstream leaders in respect of each of the regulatory, financial, commercial, distribution and clinical workstreams
(each a “Workstream Lead”) who shall be generally responsible for coordinating performance of the relevant party’s
obligations under this Agreement and the Wider Transaction Documents in respect of the relevant workstream,

each Project Sponsor, and Workstream Lead, a “Steering Committee Representative”.

It is envisaged that the Project Sponsors and Workstream Leads shall meet once per week or fortnight (or as otherwise agreed
between them) as a committee (the “Steering Committee”) in person, by telephone or teleconference to discuss progress
towards Completion.

The Steering Committee shall be the primary forum through which the parties will work together to:

(A) monitor the performance of each of the parties’ respective obligations under this Agreement and the Wider Transaction
Documents;

(B) plan for the separation and integration aspects of the Transaction; and
(C) resolve disputes under this Agreement and the Wider Transaction Documents.

Either party may substitute or replace any of its Steering Committee Representatives by written notice to the other party with a
person it considers to be of equivalent business seniority. Each party shall promptly notify the other of any temporary or
permanent change to the contact details of any of its Steering Committee Representatives.
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8.5  Both parties will use reasonable endeavours to manage all issues relating to this Agreement and the Wider Transaction
Documents. Any dispute or difference which arises between the parties shall, if not first resolved within ten (10) Business Days
by the relevant Workstream Leads, be referred to the Steering Committee for determination.

8.6  If the Steering Committee is unable to resolve the matter within ten (10) Business Days, the dispute is to be referred to a senior
executive (to be notified after the date hereof) of the Novartis Group (on the one hand) and a senior executive (to be notified
after the date hereof) of the GSK Group (on the other hand) for resolution, who shall act in good faith to seek to resolve the
dispute.

9. ANNOUNCEMENTS

9.1  Subject to clauses 9.2 and 9.3, no announcement (or other publication) concerning the Transaction and/or the Put Option
Agreement shall be made by or on behalf of any party without the prior written consent of the other party.

9.2  Notwithstanding clause 9.1, any party may make an announcement concerning the Transaction and/or the Put Option
Agreement if required by:

(A) applicable law or regulation; or

(B) any securities exchange or regulatory or governmental body or any Tax Authority to which that party is subject or
submits, wherever situated, including (amongst other bodies) the Financial Conduct Authority, the London Stock
Exchange plc, the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, HMRC, the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Swiss Federal Tax
Administration, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or the New York Stock Exchange;

(C)  whether or not the requirement has the force of law.

Any announcement to be made pursuant to this clause 9.2 shall, to the extent reasonably practicable and legally permissible, be
made only after notice to, and consultation with, the other party.

9.3  Following execution of this Agreement, GSK shall release the GSK Transaction Announcement and Novartis shall release the
Novartis Transaction Announcement.

9.4  The restrictions contained in this clause 9 shall continue to apply without limit in time, unless otherwise agreed between the
parties.

10. CONFIDENTIALITY

10.1 Each party shall, and shall procure that any other member of their respective Groups shall, treat as confidential all information
obtained as a result of the negotiations and/or discussions regarding the Transaction and/or the Put Option Agreement and/or
the
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entering into and/or performance of the Wider Transaction Documents and/or the Put Option Agreement and/or the
Shareholders’ Agreement any agreements or documents thereunder, which relates to:

(A) the provisions of the Wider Transaction Documents and/or the Put Option Agreement and/or the Shareholders’

Agreement;

(B) the negotiations relating to the Wider Transaction Documents and/or the Put Option Agreement and/or the Shareholders’

Agreement;

(C) the subject matter of the Wider Transaction Documents and/or the Put Option Agreement and/or the Shareholders’

Agreement; or

(D) the termination of any of the Wider Transaction Documents (and, for the avoidance of doubt, including any statement of
facts, matters or circumstances underlying any notification of a prospective change of the Novartis Approval or the GSK
Recommendation that is provided by GSK or Novartis, as the case may be, under clause 3.4 or 2.11);

(E) any other party or any member of its Group and its or their business, rights and/or assets,

provided that,
()

(i)

with effect from Completion:

(@)

(b)

(©

the information relating to the business, affairs and operations within the scope of the transaction
comprised in the Vaccines Target Asset Agreement shall be treated as confidential by Novartis and each
other member of its Group and shall not be required to be kept confidential by GSK or any other member
of its Group;

the information relating to the business, affairs and operations within the scope of the transaction
comprised in the Oncology Target Asset Agreement shall be treated as confidential by GSK and each
other member of its Group and shall not be required to be kept confidential by Novartis or any other
member of its Group; and

the information relating to the business, affairs and operations within the scope of the transaction
comprised in the contribution by Novartis under the CH Target Asset Agreement shall be treated as
confidential by Novartis and each other member of its Group and shall not be required to be kept
confidential by GSK or any other member of its Group (save as required under the provisions of the
Shareholders’ Agreement); and

with effect from Option Completion (if any), the information relating to the business, affairs and operations
within the scope of any transaction under the Put Option Agreement shall be treated as confidential by Novartis
and each other member of its Group and shall not be required to be kept confidential by GSK or any other
member of its Group.
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10.2 Notwithstanding the other provisions of this clause 10, a party may disclose any such confidential information:

10.3

A)

B)

©
D)

E)
(F)
(©)

(H)

if and to the extent required by applicable law or regulation (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the listing rules) or
for the purpose of any judicial or arbitral proceedings to which it is a party;

if and to the extent required by any securities exchange or regulatory or governmental body to which that party (or a
member of its group for any Tax purpose) is subject or submits, wherever situated, including (amongst other bodies) the
Financial Conduct Authority, the London Stock Exchange plc, the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, HMRC, the SIX
Swiss Exchange, the Swiss Federal Tax Administration, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or the New York
Stock Exchange, whether or not the requirement for disclosure of such information has the force of law;

to a Tax Authority in connection with the disclosing party’s (or a member of its group’s Tax affairs);

to any member of its respective Group and its and any member of its respective Group’s Representatives, in each case,
on a “need-to-know” basis and provided they have a duty (contractual or otherwise) to keep such information
confidential;

to the extent the information is in or has come into the public domain through no fault of that party;
if and to the extent the other party has given prior written consent to the disclosure;

if and to the extent necessary to exercise its rights or perform its obligations under the Target Asset Agreements and/or
the Put Option Agreement; or

if and to the extent required in connection with any regulatory consent or clearance process.

Any information to be disclosed pursuant to clause 10.2(A), clause 10.2(B) or clause 10.2(c) shall, to the extent reasonably
practicable and legally permissible, be disclosed only after notice to and consultation with the other party.

The restrictions contained in this clause 10 shall continue to apply to each party without limit in time, unless otherwise agreed
between the parties.
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10.4 The parties agree that the confidentiality agreement dated 29 November 2013 between them shall be terminated with effect
from the date of this Agreement, without any prejudice to any accrued rights and obligations under such confidentiality
agreement prior to such termination.

11. REMEDIES AND WAIVERS

11.1 No delay or omission by any party to this Agreement in exercising any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this
Agreement or any other documents referred to in it shall:

(A) affect that right, power or remedy; or
(B) operate as a waiver or variation of it.

11.2 The single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement shall not preclude any
other or further exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.

11.3  The rights, powers and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, powers and
remedies provided by law.

11.4 Notwithstanding any express remedies provided under this agreement and without prejudice to any other right or remedy which
any party may have, the parties acknowledge and agree that damages alone may not be an adequate remedy for any breach of
this Agreement. Accordingly, the parties may be entitled to the remedies of injunction, specific performance and other
equitable relief for any threatened or actual breach of this Agreement. Furthermore, each party acknowledges and agrees that it
will not raise any objection to the application by or on behalf of the other party or any other member of its respective Group for
any such remedies.

12. ASSIGNMENT
No party shall without the prior written consent of the other:

(A) assign, or purport to assign, all or any part of the benefit of, or its rights or benefits under, this Agreement (together with
any causes of action arising in connection with any of them);

(B) unless otherwise expressly set out in this Agreement, make a declaration of trust in respect of or enter into any
arrangement whereby it agrees to hold in trust for any other person all or any part of the benefit of, or its rights or
benefits under, this Agreement;

(C) sub-contract or enter into any arrangement whereby another person is to perform any or all of its obligations under this
Agreement;

(D) transfer, charge or otherwise deal with any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement; or
(E)  grant, declare, create or dispose of any right or interest in it, in whole or in part,

and any purported assignment in contravention of this clause 12 shall be void.
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13.  VARIATION
13.1 No variation of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and duly executed by or on behalf of all the parties to it.
13.2  If this Agreement is varied:

(A) the variation shall not constitute a general waiver of any provisions of this Agreement;

(B) the variation shall not affect any rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement that have already accrued up to
the date of variation; and

(C) the rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, except as, and only to
the extent that, they are so varied.

14. FURTHER ASSURANCE

14.1 Each party shall at its own cost, from time to time on request of the other party, now or at any time in the future, do or procure
the doing of all acts and/or execute or procure the execution of all documents in a form satisfactory to such other party which
such other party may reasonably consider necessary for giving full effect to this Agreement and securing to such other party
the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon such other party under this Agreement.

14.2 Without prejudice to the generality of clause 14.1, each party agrees that it and the members of its Group shall use all
reasonable endeavours to finalise full-form documentation in respect of the various term-sheets and other short-form
arrangements referenced in the Wider Transaction Documents, the Put Option Agreement, the Shareholders’ Agreement and
documents thereunder (including, in the case of the Shareholders’ Agreement, the principles governing the Shareholder Loan
terms). In the event that full-form documentation is not finalised, the parties agree that the terms of the relevant term-sheet or
other short-form arrangement or specified principles shall operate as and constitute binding agreements for the provision of the
relevant service or the relevant matter.

14.3  Each of the parties shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that their respective external auditors cooperate prior to
Completion to agree the necessary processes and reporting procedures in relation to CHJV, its subsidiaries and subsidiary
undertakings (the “CHJV Group”) that are required to ensure that Novartis’s external auditors are able to meet their
obligations in relation to the US Securities and Exchange Commission and Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
auditing requirements. The parties shall procure, to the extent they are legally able, that CHJV takes reasonable steps from
Completion to implement such agreed processes and reporting procedures and to provide Novartis’s external auditors with
reasonable access to CHJV’s external auditors as is required to enable Novartis to finalise its annual reporting procedures.
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14.4  Each of the parties shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that their respective external auditors cooperate (acting reasonably)
prior to Completion to agree the necessary processes and procedures that are required to be undertaken by each of them in relation
to the CHJV Group and the preparation of the information set out in Schedule 2 and other further information and comfort letters
required in relation to the preparation of the GSK Class 1 Circular, in each case having regard to the indicative timetable in
Schedule 1.

15. WARRANTIES AND ENTIRE AGREEMENT
15.1 GSK and Novartis each warrant to the other that:
(A) itis validly existing and is a company duly incorporated and registered under the law of its jurisdiction of incorporation;

(B) it has the legal right and full power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement which will constitute valid and
binding obligations on it in accordance with its terms;

(C)  except as referred to in this Agreement or any Target Asset Agreement, it
(i) is not required to make any announcement, consultation, notice, report or filing; and
(i1) does not require any consent, approval, registration, authorisation or permit,
in each case in connection with the performance of this Agreement.
15.2 The parties agree that:

(A)  this Agreement, the Wider Transaction Documents and the Put Option Agreement, respectively, constitute the whole and
only agreement between the parties relating to the respective subject matter of such agreements or documents;

(B)  each party acknowledges that in entering into this Agreement, the Wider Transaction Documents and/or the Put Option
Agreement and/or any other agreement or document thereunder it is not relying upon any pre contractual statement which is
not set out in such agreements or documents.

(C)  except in the case of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation, each party acknowledges that in entering this Agreement, the
Target Asset Agreements and the Put Option Agreement, it is not relying on any pre-contractual statement which is not set
out in this Agreement, the Target Asset Agreements and the Put Option Agreement;
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(D) except in the case of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation, no party shall have a right of action against any other party
arising out of, or in connection with, any pre-contractual statement which is not set out in this Agreement, the Target
Asset Agreements and the Put Option Agreement; and

(E) this Agreement, the Target Asset Agreements and the Put Option Agreement may only be varied in writing signed by
each of the parties.

15.3 For the purposes of this clause 15, “pre-contractual statement” means any draft, agreement, undertaking, representation,
warranty, promise, assurance or arrangement of any nature whatsoever, whether or not in writing, relating to the subject matter
of this Agreement, the relevant Target Asset Agreement or the Put Option Agreement (as the case may be) made or given by
any person at any time prior to the date of this Agreement, the relevant Target Asset Agreement or the Put Option Agreement
(as the case may be).

15.4 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement, the only conditions precedent to completion of each of the Target Asset
Agreements shall be those set out in the relevant clause of each such agreement as well as the matters specified in clauses 2.1
and 3.1 of this Agreement.

16. NOTICES
16.1 A notice under this Agreement shall only be effective if it is in writing. E-mail is permitted.

16.2 Notices under this Agreement shall be sent to a party at its address and for the attention of the individual set out below:

Party and title of individual Address E-mail address

GSK As stated above As shall be notified
For the attention of:

Company Secretary

Novartis As stated above As shall be notified

For the attention of:
Corporate Secretary

provided that a party may change its notice details on giving notice to the other party of the change in accordance with this
clause 16.2. That notice shall only be effective on the day falling five clear Business Days after the notification has been
received or such later date as may be specified in the notice.

16.3 Any notice given under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been duly given as follows:

(A) if delivered personally, on delivery;
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(B) if sent by first class inland post, two clear Business Days after the date of posting;
(C) if sent by airmail, six clear Business Days after the date of posting; and
(D) if sent by e-mail, when despatched.

16.4 Any notice given under this agreement outside Working Hours in the place to which it is addressed shall be deemed not to have
been given until the start of the next period of Working Hours in such place.

16.5 No notice given under this agreement may be withdrawn or revoked except with the agreement of the other parties.

16.6 The provisions of this clause 16 shall not apply in relation to the service of Service Documents.

17. COSTS AND EXPENSES

Without prejudice to clause 5, each party shall bear their own costs and expenses in connection with the Transaction, this
Agreement, the Target Asset Agreements, and the Put Option Agreement, including, for the avoidance of doubt and without
limitation, the negotiation, entering into and completion of this Agreement, the Target Asset Agreements and the Put Option
Agreement.

18. INVALIDITY

If at any time any provision (or part of any provision) of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any
respect under the law of any jurisdiction, that shall not affect or impair:

(A) the legality, validity or enforceability in that jurisdiction of any other (or the remainder of a) provision of this
Agreement; or

(B) the legality, validity or enforceability under the law of any other jurisdiction of that or any other provision of this
Agreement.

19. COUNTERPARTS

19.1 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the parties on separate counterparts, but shall not be
effective until each party has executed at least one counterpart.

19.2  Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this Agreement, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the
same instrument.

20. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

20.1 Certain provisions of this Agreement (such provisions, the “Third Party Rights Provisions’) confer a benefit on certain
persons named therein who are not a party to this
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Agreement (each, a “Third Party Beneficiary”) and, subject to the remaining provisions of this clause 20, are intended to be
enforceable by the Third Party Beneficiary by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

20.2 The parties do not intend that any term of this Agreement, save for the Third Party Rights Provisions, should be enforceable,
by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, by any person who is not a party to this Agreement.

20.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 20.1, this Agreement may be terminated or varied in any way and at any time by the
agreement of the parties to this Agreement without the consent of any Third Party Beneficiary.

21. GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement is to be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law. Any matter, claim or dispute arising out
of, or in connection with, this Agreement, whether contractual or non-contractual, is to be governed by and determined in
accordance with English law.

22. JURISDICTION

22.1 The courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute, whether contractual or non-contractual, arising
out of, or in connection with, this Agreement. Any Proceedings shall be brought in the English courts.

22.2  Each party waives (and agrees not to raise) any objection, on the grounds of forum non conveniens or on any other ground, to
the taking of Proceedings in the English courts. Each party also agrees that a judgment against it in Proceedings brought in
England shall be conclusive and binding upon it and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction.

22.3 Each party irrevocably submits and agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

23. LANGUAGE
23.1 Each notice or other communication under, or in connection with, this Agreement shall be:
(A) in English; or

(B) if not in English, accompanied by an English translation made by a translator, and certified by an officer of the party
giving the notice to be accurate.

23.2 The receiving party/agent shall be entitled to assume the accuracy of, and rely upon any English translation of, any document
provided pursuant to clause 23.1(B).

24. AGENT FOR SERVICE

24.1 Novartis irrevocably appoints Linklaters LLP of One Silk Street, London EC2Y 8HQ to be its agent for the receipt of Service
Documents. It agrees that any Service Document may be effectively served on it in connection with Proceedings in England
and Wales by service on its agent effected in any manner permitted by the UK Civil Procedure Rules.
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24.2 If the agent at any time ceases for any reason to act as such, Novartis shall appoint a replacement agent having an address for
service in England or Wales and shall notify GSK of the name and address of the replacement agent. Failing such appointment
and notification, GSK shall be entitled by notice to Novartis to appoint a replacement agent to act on behalf of Novartis. The
provisions of this clause 24 applying to service on an agent apply equally to service on a replacement agent.

24.3 A copy of any Service Document served on an agent shall be sent by post to Novartis. Failure or delay in so doing shall not
prejudice the effectiveness of service of the Service Document.

4



O O

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile 1185 MWR_rend 23-Feb-2015 07:49 EST 856918 EX4 743 7*
FORM 20-F . LON exd-Tpg0es HTMESS  0C
Page 1 of 1

ARE :.. ‘-“; £ E
L 1l i
; £ %' =E E_ N
il HE ] E | |
1 L,
i i & :
4 i i
: i g
|
T E
[

mlrun
SoTRGaY § 0a|
SR, § 08N

aan|

[

TmuTdyas|

AT RO v

(9%

AVINIAID T SSVID ASD *HTAVLINILL HALLVOIANI
I I'INAIHDS

[13 [F3 ir (13 & [13 [} [11 £33 51 [1} [§3 L1 11 & [ [] [ L] 3 [] 1 F4 1
) C0 o i ) o e B 2 i A i o ) e i e ) ) el ) R ) i i
P LG T FA A,

L " 113

X
{rioroe]




R N AT

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile  1%%*"**  MWHRf rend 23-Feh-2015 08:18 EST 856918 EX4_744 &*
FORM 20-F  Lon HTMESS 0C
Page 1 of 1
SCHEDULE 2

GSK SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL CONDITION: NOVARTIS INFORMATION AND ASSISTANCE

The information, documentation and assistance referred to in clause 2.8 shall include:

A)

B)

the provision of information about Novartis and/or any other member of its Group reasonably required or necessary to be
included in any public documents, announcements, statements and/or notices to be produced by GSK in connection with the
GSK Shareholder Approval Condition under the Listing Rules or otherwise (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the GSK
Class 1 Circular and/or any supplementary circular thereto (and/or any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material,
document, announcement or notice thereto or following the publication thereof));

without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (A) above, the provision of the necessary information, documentation, co-
operation and assistance in connection with the following requirements of the GSK Class 1 Circular, whether pursuant to the
Listing Rules or otherwise:

(i) the following historical financial information in respect of each of (i) the business/operations to be sold under the
Vaccines Target Asset Agreement, (ii) the business/operations to be contributed to CHJV under the CH Target Asset
Agreement, and (iii) each of the various possible packages of assets which may be the subject of a sale under the Put
Option Agreement (the “Novartis Businesses™) for the last three financial years:

(a)
(b)
(©
(d

(e)
®

balance sheet and explanatory notes;
income statement and explanatory notes;
cash flow statement and explanatory notes;

statement showing changes in equity, other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and
distributions to owners;

accounting policies; and

any additional explanatory notes,

in each case, presented on a basis that is consistent with the accounting policies and practices used by GSK in its last
published annual consolidated accounts as at the date of the GSK Class 1 Circular (or, if not so presented, then
accompanied by all such information as is reasonably required by GSK for the purpose of converting such historic
financial information to such basis of presentation);
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(ii)  an opinion from an independent accountant confirming (on customary terms) that the financial information referred to in

(iii)

@v)

)

(vi)

(vii)

paragraph (B)(i) above:

(a)  ispresented in a form that is consistent with the accounting policies and practices used by GSK in its last
published annual consolidation accounts as at the date of the GSK Class 1 Circular (or, if not so
presented, then accompanied by all such information as is reasonably required by GSK for the purpose of
converting such historic financial information to such basis of presentation); and

(b)  gives a true and fair view of the financial position of each of the Novartis Businesses.

Instead of requiring such opinion from Novartis’s accountant, GSK may procure that such opinion is instead provided
by its accountant, and, in the event it does so, Novartis shall procure that its accountant provides to GSK’s accountant
customary back-to-back comfort (in the form of comfort letters) in respect of the same;

confirmation that Novartis has not made any acquisitions during or subsequent to the three year period referred to in
paragraph (B)(i) above which would trigger the requirement under the Listing Rules to include additional financial
information in the GSK Class 1 Circular such that the financial information provided represents at least 75 per cent. of
each of the Novartis Businesses;

in relation to the Novartis Businesses, the provision of information and assistance to the extent reasonably requested by
GSK in respect of the requirement to include in the GSK Class 1 Circular a statement of the effect of the Transaction on
the earnings, assets and liabilities of GSK’s Group, which may be presented as a pro forma statement(s) and/or by way
of narrative description(s);

in relation to the Novartis Businesses, the provision of information and assistance to the extent reasonably requested by
GSK in connection with the preparation of the working capital statement required to be included in the GSK Class 1
Circular;

a confirmation from Novartis’s accountant (on customary terms) that there has been no significant change in the
financial or trading position of any of the Novartis Businesses since the end of the last financial period when audited or
interim financial information was published;

in relation to the Novartis Businesses, the provision of information and assistance to the extent reasonably requested by
GSK in relation to the following matters that are required to be included in the GSK Class 1 Circular:

(a)  the material risks to the Transaction;

(b)  the material new risks to GSK’s Group as a result of the Transaction;
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©

D)

(c) any existing risk factors affecting GSK’s Group that will be impacted by the Transaction;

(d)  the most significant recent trends in production, sales and inventory, costs and selling prices affecting
GSK (assuming the Transaction has taken place);

(e)  information on any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably
likely to have a material effect on GSK’s prospects for the financial year in which the GSK Class 1
Circular is published (assuming the Transaction has taken place);

(viii) the provision of information and assistance to the extent reasonably requested by GSK in relation to any estimated

(ix)

)

synergies or other quantified estimated financial benefits expected to arise from the Transaction that are to be included
in the GSK Class 1 Circular, to the extent the information is required to be included in the GSK Class 1 Circular in
respect of the same under the Listing Rules;

a summary of the material contracts relating to the Novartis Businesses that the GSK Shareholders would reasonably
require for the purposes of making a properly informed assessment of the Transaction (as determined by Novartis, acting
reasonably); and

a summary of any Significant Litigation relating to the Novartis Businesses (and for these purposes, “Significant
Litigation” means any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which Novartis is aware) which may have, or have had, significant effects on the financial
position or profitability of the GSK Group or the relevant Novartis Businesses (as determined by Novartis, acting
reasonably));

in relation to Novartis and the Novartis Businesses, the verification in accordance with the requirements of clause 2.8 of any
public documents or parts thereof produced by GSK in connection with the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition under the
Listing Rules or otherwise (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the GSK Class 1 Circular and any supplementary circular
thereto (and/or any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice thereto or
following publication thereof));

upon reasonable request by GSK, assisting GSK and its Representatives in the making of any submissions, applications and/or
notifications to, providing information to and/or engaging in discussions, negotiations and/or any other communication with,
the FCA (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the UKLA) in connection with the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition; and
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(E) taking reasonable steps to provide access to, and to procure that information, documentation, co-operation and assistance is
provided by, Novartis’s professional advisers (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Novartis’s accountants) in connection
with the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition, including reasonable co-operation and assistance for the purposes of and in
connection with:

(i)  the provision of customary comfort letters (addressed to GSK and/or and of its respective Representatives) in relation to
the GSK Class 1 Circular and/or any supplementary circular thereto (and/or any other amended, supplemental or
supplemented material, document, announcement or notice thereto or following the publishing thereof); and

(i)  the preparation and approval by the UKLA of the GSK Class 1 Circular and/or any supplementary circular thereto
(and/or any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice thereto or
following the publishing thereof).

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Schedule 2 shall impose a higher standard in relation to the provision of information, co-
operation or assistance than the provisions of clause 2.8.

47



R R

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile  1§%>"  MWR rend 23-Feh-2015 08:18 EST 856918 EX4 748 T*
FORM 20-F START PAGE . LON HTMESS 0C
Page 1 of 1
SCHEDULE 3

FORM OF NOVARTIS BOARD CERTIFICATE

To:  GlaxoSmithKline plc
[ADDRESS]

FAO: The Board
[DATE]
Dear Sirs

Novartis Board Certificate - Implementation agreement in relation to Project Constellation dated 22 April 2014 (the
“Implementation Agreement”’)

Capitalised terms used but not defined in this certificate have the meaning set forth in the Implementation Agreement.

In accordance with clause 3.6 of the Implementation Agreement, we hereby notify you that the Novartis Board has concluded that the
Transaction and the Put Option Agreement are no longer in the best interests of Novartis and Novartis Shareholders as a whole. The
Novartis Board received independent financial advice from [name adviser] prior to the Board reaching such conclusion.

Yours faithfully

[®] (Corporate Secretary)
On behalf of the Directors of Novartis AG
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SCHEDULE 4
CLEAN TEAM

Part A: Clean Team Members

Name Function
GSK: To be notified as provided below
Novartis: To be notified as provided below

Part B: Clean Team Confidentiality Provisions

1. Each of the parties recognises that the other party may provide it with access to certain potentially competitively sensitive
information pursuant to clause 4.7 of this Agreement. Access to this information will be limited to certain employees of the
parties, external counsel and external advisors hired by the parties in connection with the Transaction listed in Part A of this
Schedule 4 (the “Clean Team Members”’). Each of GSK and Novartis can add or remove Clean Team Members by written
notice to the other party provided that any additional Clean Team Members satisfy the criterion in paragraph 4 below.

2. The purpose of the Clean Team Members is to analyse information provided to them pursuant to clause 4.7 of the Agreement
solely for the purpose of making the determination required pursuant to clause 4.8 (the “Permitted Purpose”). The Permitted
Purpose will be undertaken in a manner that is fully consistent with and in compliance with all applicable competition and
other laws and regulations.

3. Any information provided by a party for the Permitted Purpose that is competitively sensitive will be designated “Clean Team
Only Information” and the permitted disclosure, sharing or use of such Clean Team Only Information is limited to that
prescribed in this Agreement.

4. Clean Team Members shall not be involved in any day-to-day commercial role (including any role with day-to-day
responsibility for determining pricing or commercial strategy) with respect to any product areas in which the parties compete
for such time as is reasonably necessary to ensure that any Clean Team Only Information could not be used with
anticompetitive object or effect, and in any event for a period of no less than twelve months from Completion.

5. The parties shall limit disclosure and access to Clean Team Only Information to Clean Team Members and Clean Team
Members shall use the Clean Team Only Information only for the Permitted Purpose.

6. The parties shall procure that all Clean Team Members who are permitted access to Clean Team Only Information shall be
advised that such information may be competitively sensitive, may contain business secrets confidential to either party and is
provided on the terms set out in this Agreement.

49



A L

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile %% MWRf_rend 23-Feb-2015 07:49 EST 856918 EX4_750 5*
FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS  0C

Page 1 of 1
7. Clean Team Members will preserve the confidential nature of Clean Team Only Information. The parties shall not disclose,

reproduce or distribute any of the Clean Team Only Information in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, (or permit any of the
foregoing) to any third party which is not a Clean Team Member, unless required to do so by law, applicable regulation, any
stock exchange or competent governmental or regulatory authority or a valid and effective order or other document issued by
any court of competent jurisdiction. If a party is obliged to disclose Clean Team Only Information to any third party pursuant
to this paragraph 7, it shall, to the extent permitted by law:

(a)

(b)
(©

(d

(e)

®

consult with the other party as to possible steps to avoid or limit disclosure and take any such steps which would not
result in significant adverse consequences to the other party;

take all reasonable steps to agree the contents of the disclosure with the other party prior to making the disclosure;

use its reasonable endeavours to gain assurances as to confidentiality from the body to whom the information is to be
disclosed;

co-operate with the other party if it wishes to issue legal or other proceedings to challenge the validity of the
requirement to disclose such Clean Team Only Information;

disclose only the minimum amount of information necessary in order to satisfy such requirement as advised by legal
counsel and exercise reasonable effort to obtain reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to the
Clean Team Only Information disclosed; and

keep the other party promptly informed of the full circumstances of any such disclosure and all related matters and
developments.

8. Clean Team Only Information shall not include information which: (i) is in the public domain prior to its disclosure; (ii) is lawfully
in the other party’s possession prior to disclosure; (iii) becomes available in the public domain by virtue of publication or otherwise,
unless this is the result of an unauthorised act or omission by or on behalf of the other party; (iv) is independently developed by an
employee or other agent of the other party; or (v) is otherwise not competitively sensitive.
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IN WITNESS whereof, the parties have entered into this Agreement the day and year first before written

For and on behalf of GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC

NOVARTIS AG
Name: Name
Function: Attorney-in-Fact Function: Attorney-in-Fact
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Exhibit 4.8

EXECUTION VERSION

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

29 May 2014
NOVARTIS AG
and
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC
and

LEO CONSTELLATION LIMITED

DEED OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT
relating to the
CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT
relating to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture

dated 22 April 2014

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP
65 Fleet Street
London EC4Y 1HS
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This Deed (the “Deed”) is made on 29 May 2014 between:

1 NOVARTIS AG, a corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) incorporated in Switzerland whose registered office is at Lichtstrasse 35,
4056 Basel, Switzerland (“Novartis”);

(2) GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC, a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose registered office is at 980
Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS (“GSK”); and

A3 LEO CONSTELLATION LIMITED, a company incorporated in England and Wales whose registered office is at 980 Great

West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS (the ‘“Purchaser”).

each a “party” and together the “parties”.

Whereas:

(A) The parties entered into the Original Agreement (as defined below) on 22 April 2014 (the “Signing Date”).

B) In connection with the Original Agreement, GSK provided the Original GSK Disclosure Letter (as defined below) to the
Purchaser and Novartis provided the Original Novartis Disclosure Letter (as defined below) to the Purchaser.

© The parties now wish to amend and restate the Original Agreement, in the form of the Amended Agreement (as defined
below).

(D) GSK and the Purchaser now wish to amend and restate the Original GSK Disclosure Letter, in the form of the Amended GSK

Disclosure Letter (as defined below).
(E) Novartis and the Purchaser now wish to amend and restate the Original Novartis Disclosure Letter, in the form of the
Amended Novartis Disclosure Letter (as defined below).

It is agreed as follows:

1 Definitions and Interpretation
In this Deed, unless the context otherwise requires, the provisions in this clause 1 apply.
1.1 Incorporation of defined terms

Unless otherwise stated, terms defined in the Original Agreement shall have the same meaning in this Deed.

1.2 Definitions

“Amended Agreement” means the Original Agreement, as amended and restated in the form set out in Schedule 1 to this
Deed;

“Amended GSK Disclosure Letter” means the Original GSK Disclosure Letter, as amended and restated in the form set out
in Schedule 2 to this Deed;

Amended Novartis Disclosure Letter” means the Original Novartis Disclosure Letter, as amended and restated in the form
set out in Schedule 3 to this Deed;

“Original Agreement” means the Contribution Agreement relating to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture, dated 22 April
2014,
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“Original GSK Disclosure Letter” means the letter given on the Signing Date from GSK to the Purchaser disclosing
information constituting exceptions to the Seller’s Warranties; and

“Original Novartis Disclosure Letter” means the letter given on the Signing Date from Novartis to the Purchaser
disclosing information constituting exceptions to the Seller’s Warranties.

1.3 Interpretation Clauses

1.3.1 The principles of interpretation set out in Clause 1 of the Original Agreement shall have effect as if set out in
this Deed, save that references to “this Agreement” shall be construed as references to “this Deed”.

1.3.2 References to this Deed include the Schedules.

2 Amendment

2.1 In accordance with Clauses 15.5.3 and 15.6.1 of the Original Agreement, the parties agree that the Original Agreement
shall be amended and restated as set out in Schedule 1 to this Deed.

2.2 GSK and the Purchaser agree that the Original GSK Disclosure Letter shall be amended and restated as set out in
Schedule 2 to this Deed.

23 Novartis and the Purchaser agree that the Original Novartis Disclosure Letter shall be amended and restated as set out in
Schedule 3 to this Deed.

24 The amendment and restatement of:
24.1 the Original Agreement pursuant to clause 2.1;
24.2 the Original GSK Disclosure Letter pursuant to clause 2.2; and
24.3 the Original Novartis Disclosure Letter pursuant to clause 2.3,

shall take effect from the Signing Date, as if the Amended Agreement, the Amended GSK Disclosure Letter and the
Amended Novartis Disclosure Letter had been entered into on the Signing Date. Therefore, upon this Deed being entered

into:
@) the Amended Agreement shall supersede the Original Agreement in its entirety;
(i1) the Amended GSK Disclosure Letter shall supersede the Original GSK Disclosure Letter in its
entirety; and
(iii) the Amended Novartis Disclosure Letter shall supersede the Original Novartis Disclosure Letter in
its entirety.
2.5 GSK and Novartis agree that the Agreed Terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement and the Articles of Association and the

Agreed Terms of the Completion Board Resolutions (as defined in the Shareholders’ Agreement) have been amended in
the form initialled for identification purposes by GlaxoSmithKline’s Lawyers and Novartis’s Lawyers on the date of this
Deed.



QIR |I

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile '%%™"" MWRf_rend 25-Feh-2015 21:35 EST 856918 EX4_8 4
FORM 20-F . LON HTM ESS UC
Page 1 of 1
Miscellaneous
3.1 Each party represents and warrants that it has full power and authority to enter into this Deed and to perform its obligations
under it.
3.2 The provisions of Clauses 12, 15.3 to 15.6 and 15.14 to 15.18 of the Amended Agreement shall apply to this Deed as if set

out in full in this Deed and as if references in that clause to “this Agreement” are references to this Deed and references to
“party” or “parties” are references to parties to this Deed.
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In witness whereof this Deed has been delivered on the date first stated above.
Executed as a DEED by
Roy Papatheodorou and } /s/ Roy Papatheodorou

Jonathan Emery
on behalf of NOVARTIS AG

/s/ Jonathan Emery
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Executed as a DEED by )
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC acting by its ) /s/ David Redfern
duly appointed attorney ) (Signature of attorney)
)
in the presence of: )
Witness’s signature: /s/ Claire Jackson
Name (print): Claire Jackson
Occupation: Solicitor
Address: One Bunhill Row, London
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Executed as a DEED by )
LEO CONSTELLATION LIMITED ) /s/ David Redfern
acting by its duly appointed attorney ) (Signature of attorney)
)
in the presence of: )
Witness’s signature: /s/ Claire Jackson
Name (print): Claire Jackson
Occupation: Solicitor
Address: One Bunhill Row, London

7
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Schedule 1

Amended Agreement
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Dated 22 April 2014
as amended and restated on 29 May 2014

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC
and
NOVARTIS AG
and

LEO CONSTELLATION LIMITED

CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT
relating to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture
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Contribution Agreement
This Agreement is made on 22 April 2014 and amended and restated on =~ May 2014

between:

1) Novartis AG, a corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) registered in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Basel-Stadt,
Switzerland under number CHE-103.867.266 and whose registered office is at Basel Switzerland and whose address is
Lichtstrasse 35, 4056 Basel (“Novartis”);

2) GlaxoSmithKline Plc, a company registered in England under number 03888792 and whose registered office is at 980
Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex TW8 9GS (“GlaxoSmithKline”, with each of Novartis and GlaxoSmithKline
being, a “Seller”” and together, the “Sellers”); and

3) Leo Constellation Limited, a company registered in England under number 08998608 whose registered office is at 980
Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex TW8 9GS (the ‘“Purchaser”),

each a “party” and together the “parties”.

Whereas:

(A) Each Seller and certain of its Affiliates (as defined below), including that Seller’s Target Group Companies (as defined
below), are engaged in that Seller’s Contributed Business (as defined below).

B) As of the date of this Agreement, each Seller and certain of its Affiliates directly or indirectly own shares or other equity
interests in that Seller’s Target Group Companies.

©) Each Seller has agreed to sell (or procure the sale of) its Target Group (as defined below) and to assume the obligations
imposed on it as a Seller under this Agreement, in each case, on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

D) The Purchaser has agreed to purchase (or procure the purchase of) the Target Groups and to assume the obligations
imposed on the Purchaser under this Agreement, in each case, on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

E) In connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Purchaser and GlaxoSmithKline and/or Novartis,
and/or certain of their respective Affiliates, have entered into or will enter into the Ancillary Agreements (as defined
below).

It is agreed as follows:

1. Interpretation
In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the provisions in this Clause 1 apply:
1.1 Definitions

“2012 Accounts” means, for each Target Group Company, the audited financial statements of that Target Group Company,
prepared in accordance with legislation as in force and applicable to that Target Group Company for the accounting
reference period ended on the 2012 Accounts Date, comprising the balance sheet, the profit and loss account and the notes
to the accounts;

12
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“2012 Accounts Date” means 31 December 2012;
“2013 Operating Income” means the operating income for 2013 annexed to the Disclosure Letter at Annex B.

“A Shares” means the A ordinary shares in the capital of the Purchaser, having the rights and restrictions set out in the
articles of association of the Purchaser as at Closing, and which, immediately following Closing, will represent 63.5 per
cent. of the ordinary share capital of the Purchaser;

“Action” means the taking of any steps by any Governmental Entity to seek a Judgment which would have the effect of
preventing the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Purchaser;

“Affiliate” means,
@) with respect to the parties, any other person that is Controlled by such person; or

(i1) with respect to any other person, any other person that Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control
with such person, and “Affiliates” shall be interpreted accordingly;

“Affiliate Contract” means:

@) in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, any Contract between or among any member of GlaxoSmithKline’s Group
(other than its Target Group Company) on the one hand, and its Target Group Company on the other hand, to
the extent that it relates to any services that will be and, as at Closing are, provided under the Ancillary
Agreements, but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt: (i) any Ancillary Agreement; and (ii) any Contract
comprising or related to any Intra-Group Trading Payables or Intra-Group Trading Receivables; or

(i1) in respect of Novartis, any Contract between or among any member of Novartis’s Group (other than its Target
Group Company) on the one hand, and its Target Group Company on the other hand, but excluding (i) any
Ancillary Agreement; (ii) any Contract comprising or related to any Intra-Group Trading Payables or Intra-
Group Trading Receivables; (iii) any Novartis Services Contract; and (iv) any Novartis Distribution and Sales
Products Contract;

“Agreed Terms” means, in relation to a document, such document in the terms agreed between GlaxoSmithKline and
Novartis and initialled for identification purposes by GlaxoSmithKline’s Lawyers and Novartis’s Lawyers, with such
alterations as may be agreed in writing between the parties from time to time;

“Agreed UK Restructuring Arrangement’ means the pension augmentation (or cash in lieu of augmentation) policy
applying on redundancy to UK employees of the GlaxoSmithKline Group who joined service prior to 1 April 2005 as
disclosed to Novartis prior to the date of this Agreement via a document which was signed on 22 April 2014 by Eleanor
Hart of Slaughter and May and Andrew Murphy of Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP for identification purposes;

“Agreement” means this contribution agreement as it may have been amended or restated from time to time;

“Ancillary Agreements” means the Implementation Agreement, the Local Transfer Documents, the Disclosure Letters, the
Tax Indemnity, the France Offer Letters, the France SAPAs, the Netherlands Offer Letter, the Netherlands SAPA, the
Transitional Services Agreements, the Manufacturing, Distribution and Supply Agreements, the Seller Intellectual Property
Licence Agreement, the Purchaser Trademark Licence Agreement, the Seller Trademark Licence Agreement, the
Intellectual Property Assignment Agreements, the Pharmacovigilance Agreement, the Services Agreement and the
Shareholders’ Agreement;

13
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“Animal Health Term Sheet” has the meaning given to it in Clause 5.2.3(i);

“Anti-Bribery Law” means any Applicable Law that relates to bribery or corruption, including the US Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977 and the UK Bribery Act 2010, in each case, as amended, re-enacted or replaced from time to time;

“Applicable Law” means any supra-national, federal, national, state, municipal or local statute, law, ordinance, regulation,
rule, code, order (whether executive, legislative, judicial or otherwise), judgment, injunction, notice, decree or other
requirement or rule of law or legal process (including common law), or any other order of, or agreement issued,
promulgated or entered into by, any Governmental Entity or any rule or requirement of any national securities exchange,
including all Healthcare Laws, and GCP, GLP, and GMP, each as may be amended, re-enacted or replaced from time to
time;

“Appointment Notice” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.4 of Schedule 12;

“Articles of Association” means the articles of association of the Purchaser in the Agreed Terms, as amended from time to
time in accordance with the provisions of the Shareholders’ Agreement;

“Associated Person” means, in relation to a Seller’s Group, a person (including any director, officer, employee, agent or
other intermediary) who performs services for or on behalf of any member of that Seller’s Group or who holds shares of
capital stock, partnership interests, limited liability company membership interests or units, shares, interests or other
participations in any member of that Seller’s Group (in each case, when performing such services or acting in such
capacity);

“Assumed Liabilities” means all Liabilities relating to the Target Group Businesses other than: (i) the Excluded
Liabilities; (ii) any Assumed Pension and Employment Liabilities; and (iii) any Liabilities in respect of Tax (other than Tax
which has been provided for or reflected in the Closing Statement and Tax which has been assumed by a member of the
Purchaser’s Group under an express provision of this Agreement);

“Assumed Pension and Employment Liabilities” means (i) any Liabilities assumed by the Purchaser or a member of the
Purchaser’s Group as contemplated by Schedule 7; and (ii) any Transferred Employee Benefit Liabilities (as defined in
Schedule 8) which the Purchaser agrees to assume in accordance with Schedule 8§;

“B Shares” means the B ordinary shares in the capital of the Purchaser, having the rights and restrictions set out in the
articles of association of the Purchaser as at Closing, and which, immediately following Closing, will represent 36.5 per
cent. of the ordinary share capital of the Purchaser;

“Base Working Capital Range” means, in respect of a Seller, the range between its Minimum Working Capital Amount
and its Maximum Working Capital Amount;

“Benefit Plans” means the US Benefit Plans and the Non-US Benefit Plans;
“Brand” means the primary name of a Product;

“Business Day” means a day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a public holiday in the canton of Basel-Stadt
(Switzerland) or London (United Kingdom);

“Business Information” means, in respect of a Seller: (i) Commercial Information; (ii) Medical Information; and (iii) any
other information Predominantly Related to its Contributed Business;
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“Business Sellers” means, in respect of a Seller, the members of that Seller’s Group (other than its Target Group
Companies) that own assets of or otherwise conduct any of its Target Group Businesses;

“Call for New Tender” means, in respect of a Seller, any calls for a tender (including any tender for a basket of products),
whether a new tender or the renewal of an existing tender, which includes its Products and which is published after Closing
of which that Seller and/or any of its Affiliates become aware and which relates in whole or in part to the sale of its
Products;

“Cash Balances” means cash in hand or credited to any account with a financial institution and securities which are readily
convertible into cash;

“Cash Pooling Arrangements” means, in respect of a Seller, the cash pooling arrangements of that Seller’s Group in
which any of its Target Group Companies participate;

“Cash Portion” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, £190,500,000 and, in respect of Novartis, £109,500,000;

“Certificate” means, in the case of a Seller, a certificate signed by a director, officer or an authorised signatory of that
Seller in the form set out in Schedule 5 to be provided to the Purchaser immediately prior to Closing;

“CFIUS” means the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States;

“CFIUS Approval” means written notice from CFIUS that any review or investigation of the Transaction under

Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950 of the United States, as amended (50 U.S.C. App. Section 2170), has
been concluded and there are no unresolved national security concerns with respect to the Transaction or the President shall
have determined not to take action with respect to the Transaction;

“CFIUS Filing” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.2.3(ii);

“Chinese JV Contracts” means the joint venture contract between Tianjin Pharmaceutical Corporation and SmithKline
Beckman Corporation dated April 1984, as amended from time to time, and any other ancillary agreements thereto;

“Chinese JV Interests” means all of the shares or other equity interests held by SmithKline Beckman Corporation in The
Sino-American Tianjin Smith Kline & French Laboratories, Ltd, a joint venture company governed by the Chinese JV
Contracts;

“Clinical Trials/Data Liability” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from any breach of Applicable
Law in connection with the conduct of, or reporting or data in relation to, clinical studies or trials (including post-approval
studies) sponsored or supported by or in relation to a Target Group or otherwise recommended by a Governmental Entity;

“Closing” means the completion of the sale of (i) the Shares and (ii) the Target Group Businesses in respect of each of
GlaxoSmithKline and Novartis, in each case, pursuant to this Agreement and any Ancillary Agreement, and Closing shall
be deemed to have taken place even if some of the Shares in relation to the Joint Venture Entities only or other elements of
the Contributed Businesses have not transferred to the Purchaser pursuant to Schedule 6 to which the provisions of
Schedule 6 shall then apply;

“Closing Date” means the date on which Closing takes place in accordance with Clause 6.1;

“Closing Statement” means, in respect of a Seller, the statement setting out the Working Capital, the Working Capital
Adjustment, the Target Group Companies’ Cash Balances, the Intra-Group Non-Trade Receivables, the Third Party
Indebtedness, the Intra-Group Non-Trade Payables and the Tax Adjustment, to be prepared by that Seller and agreed or
determined in accordance with Clause 7 and Schedule 12;
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“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 of the United States, as amended, section
4980B of the Code, Title I Part 6 of ERISA and any similar US state group health plan continuation law, together with its
implementing regulations;

“Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, together with its implementing regulations;

“Commercial Information” means, in respect of a Seller, information that is, as of the Closing Date, owned by that Seller
and/or its Affiliates and Predominantly Related to that Seller’s Contributed Business;

“Commercial Practices Liability” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from any breach of
Applicable Law in connection with Commercialisation;

“Commercialise” means to promote, market, distribute, sell and/or otherwise commercialise a product and
“Commercialising” and “Commerecialisation” shall be construed accordingly;

“Company Lease” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Part 3 of Schedule 2;
“Company Leased Properties” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Part 3 of Schedule 2;
“Company Owned Properties” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Part 3 of Schedule 2;

“Company Properties” means the Company Owned Properties and the Company Leased Properties, and “Company
Property” means any one of them;

“Consumer Healthcare Product” means, in respect of any jurisdiction, any oral care, nutritional care, skin care or other
cosmetic or healthcare product or device of any kind, in each case, for the treatment of, or use by, human beings which is
available without, or both with and without, a prescription, but excluding any such product or device that is subject to the
same regulatory classification and/or regulatory treatment (including in relation to advertising) as a product or device that
is available only with a prescription;

“Contract” means any binding contract, agreement, instrument, lease, licence or commitment, excluding: (i) any lease or
other related or similar agreements, undertakings and arrangements with respect to the leasing or ownership of the
Properties (to which the provisions set out in Schedule 2 shall apply); and (ii) any contract with any Employee;

“Contracts Liabilities” means Liabilities relating to: (i) the Transferred Contracts; (ii) the Transferred Intellectual
Property Contracts; and (iii) all other contracts (or any part thereof) transferred, assigned, novated or assumed by the
Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement or to which a Target Group Company is or was a party or under which a Target
Group Company has any Liability, and “Contracts Liability” shall be construed accordingly;

“Contributed Business” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business and, in respect
of Novartis, the Novartis OTC Business;

“Control” means the power to direct the management and policies of a person (directly or indirectly), whether through
ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise (and the term “Controlled” shall be interpreted accordingly);
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“Co-Owned Target Group Intellectual Property Rights” means any Target Group Intellectual Property Right that is
owned in part by a third party;

“Copyright” means any works of authorship, copyrights, database rights, mask work rights and registrations and
applications thereof;

“December Presentation” means, in the case of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline December 2013 Presentation
and, in the case of Novartis, the Novartis December 2013 Presentation;

“Decision” means the issuing of any decision by a competition, antitrust, foreign investment, national, local, supranational
or supervisory or other government, governmental, quasi-governmental, trade, or regulatory body, agency, branch,
subdivision, department, commission, official or authority, including any Tax Authority and any governmental department
and any court or other tribunal, that would have the effect of prohibiting the acquisition of the Target Groups by the
Purchaser;

“Deferred Employee” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, any GlaxoSmithKline Deferred Employee and, in respect of
Novartis, any Novartis Deferred Employee;

“Disclosure Letter” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the letter dated on the same date as this Agreement from
GlaxoSmithKline to the Purchaser and, in respect of Novartis, the letter dated on the same date as this Agreement from
Novartis to the Purchaser;

“Draft Closing Statement” has the meaning given to it in Clause 7.1.1;

“Effective Time” means 11.59 p.m. (local time in the relevant location) on the Closing Date or, if the Closing Date is not
the last day of a month but the first Business Day of a month, 11.59 p.m. on the last day of the immediately preceding
month;

“Election Date” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.2.3(ii);
“Employee Benefit Indemnification Amount” has the meaning given to it in Schedule 8;
“Employee Benefits” has the meaning given to it in Schedule 8;

“Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Employees and, in respect of Novartis, the
Novartis Employees;

“Encumbrance” means any claim, charge, mortgage, lien, option, equitable right, power of sale, pledge, hypothecation,
usufruct, retention of title, right of pre-emption, right of first refusal or other security interest of any kind or an agreement,
arrangement or obligation to create any of the foregoing, and for the avoidance of doubt, shall exclude any licences of, or
claims of infringement in relation to, Intellectual Property Rights;

“Endo Excluded Contract” means the license and supply agreement between Novartis, Novartis Consumer Health, Inc.
and Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. dated 4 March 2008, in relation to, among other things, a license to Commercialise
Voltaren Gel as a Prescription Product;

“Environmental Laws” means any and all Applicable Law regulating or imposing Liability or standards of conduct
concerning pollution or protection of the environment (including surface water, groundwater or soil);

“Environmental Liabilities” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from any Environmental Law or
environmental, health or safety matter or condition, including natural resources, but excluding any Product Liability;

17



ACTIRRE 1 AR

GSK FORM 20-F ANNUAL RR Donnelley ProFile 118%™ ~ MWRf_rend 25-Feb-2015 21:36 EST 856918 EX4 818 2*
FORM 20-F . LON HTMESS  0C
Page 1 of 1

“Environmental Permit” means any permit, licence, consent or authorisation required by Environmental Laws issued by
any relevant competent authority and used in relation to the operation or conduct of Manufacturing at any Property;

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 of the United States, as amended, together with its
implementing regulations;

“Estimated Employee Benefit Adjustment” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate (in so far as
practicable), made in good faith after consulting with the other Seller, of 95 per cent of the anticipated aggregate of its
Employee Benefit Indemnification Amounts, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Intra-Group Non-Trade Payables” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its
Intra-Group Non-Trade Payables, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Intra-Group Non-Trade Receivables” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its
Intra-Group Non-Trade Receivables, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Intra-Group Trade Balances” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its Intra-
Group Trade Balances, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Intra-Group Trade Payables” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its Intra-
Group Trade Payables, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Intra-Group Trade Receivables” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its Intra-
Group Trade Receivables, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Target Group Companies’ Cash Balances” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of
its Target Group Companies’ Cash Balances, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Tax Adjustment” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its Tax Adjustment, to be
notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Third Party Indebtedness” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its Third Party
Indebtedness, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Transferred Accounts Payables” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its
Transferred Accounts Payables, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Transferred Accounts Receivables” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its
Transferred Accounts Receivables, to be notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Working Capital” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller’s reasonable estimate of its Working Capital, to be
notified by that Seller to the Purchaser pursuant to Clause 6.4;

“Estimated Working Capital Adjustment” means, in respect of a Seller:
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@) if its Estimated Working Capital is no less than its Minimum Working Capital Amount and no greater than its

Maximum Working Capital Amount, zero;

(i1) if its Estimated Working Capital is less than its Minimum Working Capital Amount, the amount by which its
Estimated Working Capital is less than its Minimum Working Capital Amount, such amount being treated as a
negative amount; or

(iii) if its Estimated Working Capital is greater than its Maximum Working Capital Amount, the amount by which
its Estimated Working Capital exceeds its Maximum Working Capital Amount, such amount being treated as a
positive amount;

“Excluded Assets” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Assets and, in respect of
Novartis, the Novartis Excluded Assets;

“Excluded Contracts” means, in respect of a Seller, each Contract that is not Exclusively Related to that Seller’s
Contributed Business;

“Excluded Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Employees and, in respect of
Novartis, the Novartis Excluded Employees;

“Excluded Liabilities” means, in respect of a Seller:

(i) all Liabilities:
(a) relating to that Seller’s Target Group Businesses; and
(b) of that Seller’s Target Group Companies (other than Liabilities in respect of Tax),

in either case, to the extent that they have arisen or arise (whether before or after Closing) as a result of, or
otherwise relate to, any act, omission, fact, matter, circumstance or event undertaken, occurring, in existence or
arising before Closing, and in either case, other than (a) any Assumed Pension and Employment Liabilities,

(b) any Liabilities to the extent taken into account, provided for or reflected in the Closing Statement
(including in respect of Tax), (c) any Intra-Group Trade Payables and (d) Transferred Accounts Payables
between any member of that Seller’s Group (other than a Target Group Company) and a Business Seller of that
Seller’s Group; and

(i) all Liabilities relating to its Seller’s Retained Business;

“Exclusively Related to” means, in respect of a Seller’s Contributed Businesses, exclusively related to, or used or held for
use exclusively in connection with, that Contributed Business;

“FCA” means the Financial Conduct Authority;
“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration (or its successor);

“Final Payment Date” means five Business Days after the date on which the process described in Part 1 of Schedule 12
for the preparation of its Closing Statement is complete;

“France Assumed Liabilities” means, in respect of a Seller, the Assumed Liabilities to the extent they relate to that
Seller’s France Business;

“France Business” means, in respect of Novartis, that part of its Contributed Business that is conducted in France,
including Novartis Santé Familiale S.A.S, its France Assumed Liabilities and its France Employees and, in respect of
GlaxoSmithKline, that part of its Contributed Business that is conducted in France, its France Assumed Liabilities and its
France Employees;
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“France Closing” has, in respect of a Seller, the meaning given to it in that Seller’s France SAPA;

“France Employees” means, in respect of Novartis, the Employees employed by Novartis Santé Familiale S.A.S. and, in
respect of GlaxoSmithKline, those of the GlaxoSmithKline Employees who are employed in France;

“France Offer Letter” means, in respect of a Seller, the letter from the Purchaser to that Seller in respect of the binding
offer from the Purchaser to acquire that Seller’s France Business dated on the date hereof;

“France Put Option Exercise” means, in respect of a Seller, the meaning given to it in that Seller’s France Offer Letter;
“France SAPA” means, in respect of a Seller, the meaning given to it in that Seller’s France Offer Letter;

“FSAs” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 7 of Schedule 7;

“FSMA” means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

“Full Title Guarantee” means, in respect of a Seller on the basis that the covenants implied under Part 1 of the Law of
Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994 where a disposition is expressed to be made with full title guarantee are
deemed to be given by that Seller (on behalf of its relevant Share Seller or Business Seller) on Closing;

“GlaxoSmithKline’s Articles of Association” means the articles of association of GlaxoSmithKline in force and effect
from time to time;

“GlaxoSmithKline Business Employees” means the employees of any member of GlaxoSmithKline’s Group who work
wholly or substantially in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business from time to time including, for the avoidance of any
doubt, the GlaxoSmithKline International Assignees other than the GlaxoSmithKline Company Employees and the
GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Employees and provided that, in relation to the Seller’s Warranties only, the words “from time
to time” shall be deemed to be replaced by “at the date of this Agreement”, and “GlaxoSmithKline Business Employee”
means any one of them;

[>I<>I<>I<]

“GlaxoSmithKline Company Employees” means the employees from time to time of any of the GlaxoSmithKline
Consumer Group Companies other than the GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Employees, and provided that, in relation to the
Seller’s Warranties only, the words “from time to time” shall be deemed to be replaced by “at the date of this Agreement”,
and “GlaxoSmithKline Company Employee” means any one of them;

“GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business” means:

@) the business of researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing, selling, promoting and/or
otherwise Commercialising the GlaxoSmithKline Products in the GlaxoSmithKline Territories;

(i1) the business of researching and developing the GlaxoSmithKline Pipeline Products;

*** Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the [***] marking. Such
portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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(iii) all rights, title and interest in relation to researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing,

selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising GlaxoSmithKline’s In-Scope Switch Product, in any
jurisdiction, as a Consumer Healthcare Product only;

@iv) the business of manufacturing, distributing, marketing, selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising
the Prescription Products which are managed by and reported for financial purposes in the GlaxoSmithKline
Consumer Healthcare Division for, or since, the year ended December 2013 and, in respect of any such
Prescription Product, in the territories in which sales are reported for such Prescription Product for financial
purposes in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Division for, or since, the year ended December 2013;
and

W) any royalty streams in respect of any products received by and reported for financial purposes in the
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Division for, or since, the year ended 31 December 2013,

in each case, conducted by GlaxoSmithKline’s Group, but excluding the GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Assets;

“GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group” means the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies and the
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Businesses;

“GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Businesses” means the businesses of the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business
(but excluding the businesses carried on by the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies) as set out in Clause 2.3.1,
but subject always to Clause 2.3.2, and “GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Business” means any of them;

“GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies” means those members of GlaxoSmithKline’s Group whose
operations, assets and/or businesses are Exclusively Related to the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business, an indicative list
of which are set out in the table in Part A of Part 1 of Schedule 1, including any Intermediate Holdco as defined in
Schedule 17 (Reorganisations), but excluding any such members whose operations, assets and/or businesses form any part
of the GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Assets and “GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Company” shall mean any one of
them;

“GlaxoSmithKline December 2013 Presentation” means the management presentation entitled Project Constellation
Consumer Healthcare and dated 3 December 2013 and attached to this Agreement as Attachment 1;

“GlaxoSmithKline Deferred Employee” means any person to whom GlaxoSmithKline, any GlaxoSmithKline Consumer
Group Company or any other member of GlaxoSmithKline’s Group has made an offer of employment for a role in the
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business in compliance with Clause 5 and who has accepted such offer in writing and whose
employment in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business will take effect on a date following the Closing Date, save that no
person shall become a GlaxoSmithKline Deferred Employee unless and until GlaxoSmithKline has provided to Novartis a
copy of the offer letter setting out the agreed principal terms of employment and/or employment agreement (if executed)
applicable to such person;

“GlaxoSmithKline Employees” means the GlaxoSmithKline Business Employees and the GlaxoSmithKline Company
Employees, and “GlaxoSmithKline Employee” means any one of them;
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“GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Assets” means the property, rights, businesses and assets referred to in Clause 2.3.2 in
respect of the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Businesses and the assets and businesses set out in Part 1 of Schedule 3;

“GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Businesses” means:

(i) the business(es) (from time to time) of or reported for financial purposes in the business(es) of
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited, an Indian listed company, and its successors and assigns and
any person Controlled by GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Limited from time to time;

(i) the business(es) (from time to time) of or reported for financial purposes in the business(es) of
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Nigeria plc, a Nigerian listed company, and its successor and assigns and any
person Controlled by GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Nigeria plc from time to time;

(iii) the business(es) (from time to time) of the GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceutical Division, including the business
of researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing, selling, promoting and/or otherwise
Commercialising any Consumer Healthcare Products which are managed by and reported for financial
purposes in the GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceutical Division on or prior to the date of this Agreement (including
any development of such products);

@iv) any business(es) (from time to time) of or reported for financial purposes in the business(es) of: (i) Asia Private
Limited, a private limited company incorporated in India; and/or (ii) its successors and assigns and any person
Controlled by Asia Private Limited from time to time, in each case, to the extent that such business(es) are part
of the business(es) conducted by the business(es) referred to in paragraph (i) of this definition; and

W) any assets or liabilities that are deemed to constitute GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Assets pursuant to
paragraph 10.1 of Schedule 6;

“GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Employees” means the employees of any member of GlaxoSmithKline’s Group (including
the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies) as may be agreed in writing between GlaxoSmithKline and Novartis
after the date of this Agreement but before the Closing Date;

“GlaxoSmithKline’s Group” means GlaxoSmithKline and its Affiliates from time to time, provided that, for the purposes
of this Agreement, the Purchaser and any person Controlled by the Purchaser (whether directly or indirectly) from time to
time shall not be included in GlaxoSmithKline’s Group;

“GlaxoSmithKline International Assignees” means the employees of any member of GlaxoSmithKline’s Group
(including the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies) as may be agreed in writing between GlaxoSmithKline and
Novartis after the date of this Agreement but before the Closing Date;

“GlaxoSmithKline Joint Venture Entities” means all entities in which GlaxoSmithKline’s Group holds equity interests
of less than 100 per cent. but whose operations, assets and/or businesses are Exclusively Related to the GlaxoSmithKline
Consumer Business, an indicative list of which are set out in the relevant part of the table in Part B of Part 1 of Schedule 1,
excluding any such entity whose operations, assets and/or businesses form part of the GlaxoSmithKline Excluded Assets;
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“GlaxoSmithKline Key Personnel” means the GlaxoSmithKline Employees listed in Part 1 of Schedule 16;
“GlaxoSmithKline’s Lawyers” means Slaughter and May of One Bunhill Row, London EC1Y 8YY;

“GlaxoSmithKline Material Employee Jurisdictions” means Brazil, China, Germany, the United Kingdom and the
United States of America;

“GlaxoSmithKline Pakistan” means GlaxoSmithKline Pakistan Limited, a company incorporated in Pakistan as a limited
liability company and listed on the Karachi and Lahore Stock Exchanges;

“GlaxoSmithKline Pakistan Business” means that part of the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Business conducted by
GlaxoSmithKline Pakistan or any person Controlled by GlaxoSmithKline Pakistan from time to time;

“GlaxoSmithKline Pakistan Consent” has the meaning given in paragraph 8.1 of Schedule 6;

“GlaxoSmithKline Pipeline Products” means each product that the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Division is
researching and developing;

“GlaxoSmithKline Products” means, in respect of any territory, any Consumer Healthcare Products which are managed
by and reported for financial purposes in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Division in that territory for the year
ended 31 December 2013 or since, an indicative list of which is set out in Part 1 of Schedule 9;

“GlaxoSmithKline Shareholder Meeting” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.1.6;
“GlaxoSmithKline Shareholder Resolution” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.1.6;

“GlaxoSmithKline Shareholders” means the holders of ordinary shares in the capital of GlaxoSmithKline from time to
time;

“GlaxoSmithKline Shares” means the shares and other ownership interests in the capital of: (i) the GlaxoSmithKline
Consumer Group Companies; and (ii) the GlaxoSmithKline Joint Venture Entities that are owned by any member of
GlaxoSmithKline’s Group;

“GlaxoSmithKline Statement of Net Assets” has the meaning given to it in Part 1 of Schedule 18;

“GlaxoSmithKline Territories” means, in respect of any GlaxoSmithKline Product, each of the territories in which sales
are reported for such GlaxoSmithKline Product for financial purposes in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare
Division for the year ended 31 December 2013 or since;

“GlaxoSmithKline US RX Products” means all rights, title and interest in and to any Prescription Products that are
researched or developed, manufactured, distributed, marketed, sold, promoted or otherwise Commercialised by
GlaxoSmithKline’s Seller’s Group in the United States of America and which are managed by and reported for financial
purposes in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Division for the year ended 31 December 2013 or since;

“Good Clinical Practices” or “GCP” means the then-current standards, practices and procedures promulgated or endorsed
by: (i) the ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice (CPMP/ICH/135/95) and any other guidelines
for good clinical practices for trials on medicinal products in the European Union; (ii) the FDA as set forth in the
guidelines entitled “Guidance for Industry E6 Good Clinical Practice: Consolidated Guidance,” including related
regulatory requirements imposed by the FDA; and (iii) the equivalent Applicable Law in any relevant country;
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“Good Laboratory Practices” or “GLP” means the then-current standards, practices and procedures promulgated or
endorsed by: (i) the European Commission Directive 2004/10/EC relating to the application of the principles of good
laboratory practices as well as “The rules governing medicinal products in the European Union,” Volume 3, Scientific
guidelines for medicinal products for human use (ex - OECD principles of GLP); (ii) the then-current standards, practices
and procedures promulgated or endorsed by the FDA as defined in 21 C.F.R. Part 58; and (iii) the equivalent Applicable
Law in any relevant country;

“Good Manufacturing Practices” or “GMP” means the then-current standards, practices and procedures promulgated or
endorsed by: (i) the European Commission Directive 91/356/EEC, as amended by Directives 2003/94/EC and 91/412/EEC
respectively, as well as “The rules governing medicinal products in the European Union,” Volume 4, Guidelines for good
manufacturing practices for medicinal products for human and veterinary use; (ii) the FDA and the provisions of 21 C.F.R.
Parts 210 and 211; (iii) the principles detailed in the ICH Q7A guidelines; and (iv) all Applicable Law with respect to each
of (i) through (iii);

“Governmental Entity” means any supra-national, federal, national, state, county, local, municipal or other governmental,
regulatory or administrative authority, agency, commission or other instrumentality, any court, tribunal or arbitral body
with competent jurisdiction, or any national securities exchange or automated quotation service, including any
governmental regulatory authority or agency responsible for the grant, approval, clearance, qualification, licensing or
permitting of any aspect of the research, development, manufacture, marketing, distribution, promotion, sale or other
commercialisation of the relevant Products including the FDA, the European Medicines Agency, or any successor agency
thereto;

“Governmental Liability” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from any claim, demand, action, suit,
proceedings or investigation by a Governmental Entity (other than a Tax Authority) brought or undertaken in connection
with products sold or developed by, or operations or practices of, the relevant Target Group prior to Closing;

“Hazardous Substance” means any gasoline or petroleum products, polychlorinated biphenyls, urea-formaldehyde
insulation, hazardous wastes, toxic substances, asbestos, pollutants, or contaminants defined as such in or regulated under
any applicable Environmental Law;

“Healthcare Laws” means the federal Anti-kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)); the Anti-Inducement Law (42
U.S.C. § 1320a-7a (a)(5)); the civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq.); the administrative False Claims Law (42
U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(a)); the Exclusion Laws (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7); the Medicare statute (Title XVIII of the Social Security
Act), including Social Security Act §§ 1860D-1 to 1860D-43 (relating to Medicare Part D and the Medicare Part D
Coverage Gap Program); the Medicaid statute (Title XIX of the Social Security Act); the Physician Payment Sunshine Act
(42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7h) and any analogous state laws; the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (42
U.S.C. § 1320d et seq.), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009,
and any other similar law, including the price reporting requirements and the requirements relating to the processing of any
applicable rebate, chargeback or adjustment, under applicable rules and regulations relating to the Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program (42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8), any state supplemental rebate program, Medicare average sales price reporting (42 U.S.C.
§ 1395w-3a); the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. § 256b); the Veterans Health Care Act (38 U.S.C. § 8126),
regulatory requirements applicable to sales on the Federal Supply Schedule or under any state pharmaceutical assistance
program or United States Department of Veterans Affairs agreement, all legal requirements relating to the billing or
submission of claims, collection of accounts receivable, underwriting the cost of, or provision of management or
administrative services in connection with, any and all of the foregoing, by the relevant Seller’s Group and any successor
government programmes, and all foreign equivalents of the foregoing;
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“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, together with its implementing
regulations;

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards, comprising the accounting standards and interpretations
issued, adopted and/or approved by the International Accounting Standards Board;

“Implementation Agreement” means the implementation agreement dated the date of this Agreement between Novartis
and GlaxoSmithKline relating to, amongst other things, the implementation of the Transaction;

“In-Market Inventory” means, in respect of a Seller, all inventory of the Products for Commercialisation that, at any
particular time: (i) is beneficially owned by a member of that Seller’s Group; (ii) is in finished packed form and released
for Commercialisation; and (iii) is located: (a) in (or in transit to) the relevant market; or (b) in (or in transit to) a multi-
market warehouse owned or operated by a member of that Seller’s Group or by a third party; or (c) at a Property pending
despatch following release by the relevant qualified person to the relevant market or multi-market warehouse;

“In-Scope Switch Product” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, Flonase /Flixonase and, in respect of Novartis,
Voltaren, but, in each case, only to the extent relating to the rights to research and develop, manufacture, distribute, market,
sell, promote and/or otherwise Commercialise the same as a Consumer Healthcare Product, and “GlaxoSmithKline’s In-
Scope Switch Product” and “Novartis’s In-Scope Switch Product” shall be construed accordingly;

“Indebtedness” means all loans and other financing liabilities and obligations in the nature of borrowed moneys and
overdrafts, but excluding trade debt and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business;

“Information Technology” means computer hardware, software and network;

“Intellectual Property Assignment Agreements” means the assignments between a Seller and/or one or more of its
Affiliates and the Purchaser and/or one or more of its Affiliates on terms consistent with the Agreed Terms, to be entered
into at Closing, in respect of the transfer of certain Intellectual Property Rights in each of the relevant jurisdictions;

“Intellectual Property Rights” means all (i) Patents; (ii) Know-How; (iii) Trademarks; (iv) internet domain names;
(v) Copyrights; (vi) rights in designs; (vii) database rights; and (viii) all rights or forms of protection, anywhere in the
world, having equivalent or similar effect to the rights referred to in paragraphs (i) to (vii) above, in each case, whether
registered or unregistered and including applications for registration of any such thing;

“International Assignees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline International Assignees and, in
respect of Novartis, the Novartis International Assignees;

“Intra-Group Non-Trade Payables” means, in respect of a Seller, all outstanding loans or other financing liabilities or
obligations (including, for the avoidance of doubt, interest accrued, dividends declared or payable but not paid) owed by its
Target Group Company to a member of that Seller’s Group (other than its Target Group Company) as at the Effective
Time as derived from the Closing Statement, but excluding: (i) Intra-Group Trade Payables and Intra-Group Trade
Receivables; and (ii) any item which falls to be included in calculating the Target Group Companies’ Cash Balances or the
Third Party Indebtedness;
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“Intra-Group Non-Trade Receivables” means, in respect of a Seller, all outstanding loans or other financing liabilities or
obligations (including, for the avoidance of doubt, interest accrued, dividends declared or payable but not paid) owed by a
member of that Seller’s Group (other than its Target Group Company) to its Target Group Company as at the Effective
Time as derived from the Closing Statement, but excluding: (i) Intra-Group Trade Payables and Intra-Group Trade
Receivables; and (ii) any item which falls to be included in calculating the Target Group Companies’ Cash Balances or the
Third Party Indebtedness;

“Intra-Group Trade Payables” means, in respect of a Seller, all trade accounts and notes payable to any member of any
Seller’s Group (excluding a Target Group Company) on the one hand, by any Target Group Company, on the other hand,
in each case, to the extent related to its Target Group, arising in the ordinary course, together with any unpaid financing
charges accrued thereon;

“Intra-Group Trade Receivables” means, in respect of a Seller, all trade accounts and notes receivable from any member
of any Seller’s Group (excluding a Target Group Company) on the one hand, to any Target Group Company, on the other
hand, in each case, to the extent related to its Target Group, arising in the ordinary course, together with any unpaid
financing charges accrued thereon;

“Intra-Group Trading Balances” means, in respect of a Seller, the aggregate of its Intra-Group Trade Payables and its
Transferred Accounts Payables payable to any member of that Seller’s Group (other than a Target Group Company) by a
Business Seller of that Seller’s Group less the aggregate of its Intra-Group Trade Receivables and its Transferred Accounts
Receivables payable by any member of that Seller’s Group (other than a Target Group Company) to a Business Seller of
that Seller’s Group;

“IP Liability” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from any actual or alleged infringement,
misappropriation or other violation of Intellectual Property Rights of third parties;

“Joint Venture Entities” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Joint Venture Entities and, in
respect of Novartis, the Novartis Joint Venture Entities;

“Judgment” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, decision, stipulation, determination or award entered by
or with any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction;

“Key Personnel” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Key Personnel and, in respect of Novartis,
the Novartis Key Personnel;

“Know-How” means all existing and available technical information, know-how and data, including inventions (whether
patentable or not), discoveries, trade secrets, specifications, instructions, processes and formulae, including all biological,
chemical, pharmacological, biochemical, toxicological, pharmaceutical, physical, safety, quality control, preclinical and
clinical data;

“Lease” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Part 4 of Schedule 2;

“Liabilities” means all liabilities, claims, damages, proceedings, demands, orders, suits, costs, losses and expenses, in each
case, of every description, whether deriving from contract, common law, statute or otherwise, whether present or future,
actual or contingent, ascertained or unascertained or disputed and whether owed or incurred severally or jointly or as
principal or surety;

“LIBOR” means the London interbank offered rate, being the interest rate offered in the London inter-bank market for
three month US dollar deposits as displayed on pages LIBORO1 or LIBORO02 of the Reuters screen at 11 a.m. (London) on
the second Business Day prior to the Closing Date;
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“Licensed Intellectual Property Contract” means any Target Group Intellectual Property Contract constituting or
containing a licence of Intellectual Property Rights in respect of the Contributed Business or Products;

“Listing Rules” means the listing rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA;
“Local Transfer Document” has the meaning given to it in Clause 2.6.1;
“Long Stop Date” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.3;

“Losses” means all losses, liabilities, costs (including legal costs and experts’ and consultants’ fees), charges, expenses,
actions, proceedings, claims and demands;

“MA Costs” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4 of Part 2 of Schedule 4;
“MA Documentation” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.4 of Part 2 of Schedule 4;

“Manufacture” or “Manufacturing” or “Manufactured” means, as applicable, the planning, purchasing of materials for,
production, processing, compounding, storage, filling, packaging, labelling, leafleting, warehousing, quality control testing,
waste disposal, quality release, sample retention and stability testing of any products of the relevant Seller’s Contributed
Business;

“Manufacturing Inventory” means, in respect of a Seller, any packed inventory of Products for Commercialisation that
is: (i) in finished form (save for any secondary packaging undertaken outside of a primary manufacturing site);

(ii) beneficially owned by any member of that Seller’s Group; (iii) held at a primary manufacturing site; and (iv) not yet
released by the qualified person at a primary manufacturing site, and excluding in each case, for the avoidance of doubt,
any In-Market Inventory and Manufacturing Stocks;

“Manufacturing Liability” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from any breach of Applicable Law
in connection with the Manufacturing of products of the relevant Seller’s Contributed Business;

“Manufacturing Licences” means any certificates, permits, licences, consents and approvals issued by any Governmental
Entity, used in the operation or conduct of Manufacturing at each relevant Property, and “Manufacturing Licence” shall
be construed accordingly;

“Manufacturing Stocks” means, in respect of a Seller, all stocks of raw materials, active pharmaceutical ingredients,
ingredients, adjuvants, drug substances, intermediates, packaging materials, components, devices and other production and
pre-production consumables and work-in-progress that are beneficially owned by any member of that Seller’s Group for
use in the Manufacture of Products or Pipeline Products, respectively, and held at a primary manufacturing Property;

“Manufacturing, Supply and Distribution Agreement” means, in respect of a Seller, the manufacturing, supply and
distribution agreement expected to be entered into between that Seller and the Purchaser at Closing on terms consistent
with the Agreed Terms;

“Marketing Authorisation Data” means, in respect of a Seller, the existing and available dossiers containing the relevant
Know-How used by that Seller and/or its Affiliates to obtain and maintain the Marketing Authorisations;
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“Marketing Authorisation Holder” means the holder of a Marketing Authorisation;
“Marketing Authorisation Re-Registration” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1(ii) of Part 2 of Schedule 4;

“Marketing Authorisation Re-Registration Date” means the date on which the Governmental Entity approves, or is
deemed to approve, the Marketing Authorisation Re-Registration;

“Marketing Authorisation Transfer” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1(i) of Part 2 of Schedule 4;

“Marketing Authorisation Transfer Date” means the date on which the Governmental Entity approves, or is deemed to
approve, the Marketing Authorisation Transfer;

“Marketing Authorisation Transferee” means the member of the Purchaser’s Group or, where no member of the
Purchaser’s Group satisfies the requirements under Applicable Law to be transferred the relevant Marketing Authorisation,
such third party as is nominated by the Purchaser, in either case, to whom the relevant Marketing Authorisation is to be
transferred;

“Marketing Authorisations” means, in respect of a Seller, the marketing authorisations issued or applications for
marketing authorisations with respect to its Products, and all supplements, amendments and revisions thereto;

“Markets” means, in respect of a Seller, the markets in which its Products are marketed and sold under the relevant
Marketing Authorisation and “Market” shall be construed accordingly;

“Material Adverse Effect” means, in respect of a Seller, any matter, change, event or circumstance arising or discovered
on or after the date of this Agreement and prior to Closing (including a breach of that Seller’s obligations under Clause 5 or
Clause 9.1) (a “Relevant Matter”) that, individually or in aggregate with other Relevant Matters, if known to the
Purchaser prior to the date of this Agreement, could reasonably have been expected to have resulted in the Purchaser
reducing the number of A Shares or B Shares (as the case may be) to be issued by 30 per cent. or more, and, in determining
such reduction regard shall be had to the actual basis on which the number of A Shares to be issued or the number of B
Shares to be issued (as the case may be) was calculated. A Relevant Matter shall not constitute or count towards a
“Material Adverse Effect” to the extent resulting or arising from:

@) any change that is generally applicable to, or generally affects, the industries or markets in which the relevant
Seller’s Target Group operates (including changes arising as a result of usual seasonal variations) or arises
from or relates to changes in Applicable Law or accounting rules or changes in any authoritative interpretation
of any Applicable Law by any Governmental Entity;

(i1) any change in financial, securities or currency markets or general economic or political conditions or changes
in prevailing interest rates or exchange rates;

(iii) the execution of this Agreement, the public announcement thereof or the pendency or consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby (including any cancellations of or delays in customer orders or other
decreases in customer demand, any reduction in revenues and any disruption in supplier, distributor, customer
or similar relationships); or

@iv) the taking of any action expressly required by this Agreement or by any Ancillary Agreement or otherwise
taken with the advance written consent of the Purchaser,
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except, in relation to either paragraph (i) or paragraph (ii) above, if that change adversely affects that Seller’s Target Group
in a disproportionate manner relative to other comparable businesses operating in the same industry and geographic
markets as that Seller’s Target Group (in which case it may constitute or count towards a “Material Adverse Effect”);

“Material Employee Jurisdictions” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Material Employee
Jurisdictions and, in respect of Novartis, the Novartis Material Employee Jurisdictions;

“Maximum Working Capital Amount” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, £600,000,000 and, in respect of Novartis,
US$600,000,000;

“Medical Information” means, in respect of each Seller, information Predominantly Related to its Contributed Business
which is available to or used by it and/or its Affiliates as of the Closing Date relating to clinical and technical matters, such
as therapeutic uses for the approved indications, drug-disease information, and other product characteristics;

“Minimum Working Capital Amount” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, £500,000,000 and, in respect of Novartis,
US$500,000,000;

“Minority Notification” has the meaning given in clause 4.2.10;

“Netherlands Assumed Liabilities” means the Assumed Liabilities to the extent that they relate to the Netherlands
Business;

“Netherlands Business” means that part of GlaxoSmithKline’s Contributed Business that is conducted in the Netherlands,
the Netherlands Assumed Liabilities and the Netherlands Employees;

“Netherlands Closing” has the meaning given to it in the Netherlands SAPA;
“Netherlands Employees” means those of the GlaxoSmithKline Employees who are employed in the Netherlands;

“Netherlands Offer Letter” means the letter from the Purchaser to the Seller in respect of the binding offer from the
Purchaser to acquire the Netherlands Business dated on or around the date hereof;

“Netherlands Put Option Exercise” has the meaning given to it in the Netherlands Offer Letter;
“Netherlands SAPA” has the meaning given in the Netherlands Offer Letter;

“Non-US Benefit Plans” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 17.3.1 of Schedule 13;
“Notice” has the meaning given to it in Clause 15.14.1;

“Notifier” has the meaning given in paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 17;

“Novartis Animal Health Business” means the business conducted by any member of Novartis’s Group of researching
and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing, selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising the Novartis
Animal Health Products;

“Novartis Animal Health Products” means any products which are managed by the Novartis Animal Health Division and
reported in the Animal Health reporting segment of Novartis’s Consumer Health Division;
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“Novartis Business Employees” means the employees of any member of Novartis’s Group who work wholly or
substantially in the Novartis OTC Business from time to time including, for the avoidance of any doubt, the Novartis
International Assignees other than the Novartis Company Employees and the Novartis Excluded Employees and provided
that, in relation to the Seller’s Warranties only, the words “from time to time” shall be deemed to be replaced by “at the
date of this Agreement”, and “Novartis Business Employee” means any one of them;

“Novartis Company Employees” means the employees from time to time of any of the Novartis OTC Group Companies
other than the Novartis Excluded Employees, and provided that, in relation to the Seller’s Warranties only, the words
“from time to time” shall be deemed to be replaced by “at the date of this Agreement”, and “Novartis Company
Employee” means any one of them;

“Novartis December 2013 Presentation” mean the management presentation entitled “Gazelle Management Presentation:
NOTC” and dated December 2013 and attached to this Agreement as Attachment 2;

“Novartis Deferred Employee” means any person to whom Novartis, any Novartis OTC Group Company or any other
member of Novartis’s Group has made an offer of employment for a role within the Novartis OTC Business in compliance
with clause 5 and who has accepted such offer in writing and whose employment within the Novartis OTC Business will
take effect on a date following the Closing Date, save that no person shall become an Novartis Deferred Employee unless
and until Novartis has provided to GlaxoSmithKline a copy of the offer letter setting out the agreed principal terms of
employment and/or employment agreement (if executed) applicable to such person;

“Novartis Distribution and Sales Products Contracts” means any contract between a member of Novartis’s Group
(other than a Novartis OTC Group Company) on the one hand, and any Novartis OTC Group Company on the other hand,
relating to the distribution and sale by the Novartis OTC Business of products owned, managed and reported by the
Seller’s Retained Business;

“Novartis Employees” means the Novartis Business Employees and the Novartis Company Employees, and “Novartis
Employee” means any one of them;

“Novartis Excluded Assets” means the property, rights, businesses and assets referred to in Clause 2.3.2 in respect of the
Novartis OTC Group Businesses and the assets and businesses set out in Part 2 of Schedule 3;

“Novartis Excluded Businesses” means:

(1) the Novartis Animal Health Business;
(i) the Novartis US NRT Business;
(iii) the Novartis Pharmaceutical Division’s business of researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing,

marketing, selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising any Consumer Healthcare Products which are
managed by and reported for financial purposes in the Novartis Pharmaceutical Division on or prior to the date
of this Agreement (including any development of such products);

@iv) the business(es) (as conducted from time to time) owned or managed by, or reported for financial purposes in,
Novartis’s:

(a) Alcon division (including for the avoidance of doubt, Ciba-Giegy); or
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(b) Sandoz division (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Sandocal and Calcium Sandoz, which are
included within the definition of the Novartis OTC Business); and
W) any assets or liabilities that are deemed to constitute Novartis Excluded Assets pursuant to paragraph 9.2 of
Schedule 6;

“Novartis Excluded Employees” means the employees of any member of Novartis’s Group (including the Novartis OTC
Group Companies) as may be agreed in writing between Novartis and GlaxoSmithKline after the date of this Agreement
but before the Closing Date;

“Novartis’s Group” means Novartis and its Affiliates from time to time, provided that, for the purposes of this
Agreement, the Purchaser and any person Controlled by the Purchaser (whether directly or indirectly) from time to time
shall not be included in Novartis’s Group;

“Novartis IndiaCo” means Novartis India Ltd, an Indian listed company;

“Novartis Indian Business” means that part of the Novartis OTC Business conducted by Novartis IndiaCo or any person
Controlled by Novartis IndiaCo from time to time;

“Novartis Indian Consent” has the meaning given in paragraph 7.1 of Schedule 6;

“Novartis International Assignees” means the employees of any member of Novartis’s Group (including the
Novartis OTC Group Companies) who are listed in Schedule 20, and such other employees as may be agreed in writing
between GlaxoSmithKline and Novartis after the date of this Agreement but before the Closing Date;

“Novartis Joint Venture Entities” means an entity in which Novartis’s Group holds equity interests of less than 100 per
cent. but whose operations, assets and/or businesses are Exclusively Related to the Novartis OTC Business, an indicative
list of which are set out in Part B of Part 2 of Schedule 1, excluding any such entity whose operations, assets and/or
businesses form part of the Novartis Excluded Assets;

“Novartis Key Personnel” means the Novartis Employees listed in Part 2 of Schedule 16;
“Novartis’s Lawyers” means Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP of 65 Fleet Street, London EC4Y 1HS;
“Novartis Material Employee Jurisdictions” means United States, Switzerland, Russia, China and India;

“Novartis OTC Business” means:

@) the business of researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing, selling, promoting and/or
otherwise Commercialising the Novartis Products in the Novartis Territories;

(i1) the business of researching and developing any Novartis Pipeline Products;

(iii) all rights, title and interest in relation to researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing,

selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising Novartis’s In-Scope Switch Product, in any jurisdiction,
as a Consumer Healthcare Product only;
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@iv) the business of manufacturing, marketing, distributing, selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising

the Prescription Products which are managed by the Novartis OTC Division and which have been reported for
financial purposes in the OTC reporting segment of the Novartis Consumer Health Division for, or since, the
year ended 31 December 2013 and, in respect of any such Prescription Product, in the territories in which sales
are reported for such Prescription Product in the OTC reporting segment of the Novartis Consumer Health
Division for the year ended 31 December 2013 or since; and

W) any royalty streams in respect of any products received by and reported for financial purposes in the OTC
reporting segment of the Novartis Consumer Healthcare Division for, or since, the year ended 31 December
2013,

in each case, conducted by Novartis’s Group, but excluding the Novartis Excluded Assets;

“Novartis OTC Group” means the Novartis OTC Group Companies and the Novartis OTC Group Businesses, taken as a
whole;

“Novartis OTC Group Businesses” means the businesses of the Novartis OTC Business (but excluding the businesses
carried on by the Novartis OTC Group Companies) as set out in Clause 2.3.1, but subject always to Clause 2.3.2, and
“Novartis OTC Group Business” means any of them;

“Novartis OTC Group Companies” means the members of Novartis’s Group whose operations, assets and/or businesses
are Exclusively Related to the Novartis OTC Business, a non-exhaustive list of which are set out in Part A of Part 2 of
Schedule 1, but excluding any such members whose operations, assets and/or businesses form part of the Novartis
Excluded Assets, and “Novartis OTC Group Company” means any one of them;

“Novartis Pipeline Product” means each product that the Novartis OTC Division is researching and developing, with the
intention of that product becoming a Consumer Healthcare Product (but excluding, in any event, Diovan), an indicative list
of which is set out in Schedule 9, Part 3;

“Novartis Products” means, in respect of any territory, any Consumer Healthcare Products which are managed by the
Novartis OTC Division and which have been reported for financial purposes in the OTC reporting segment of the Novartis
Consumer Health Division in that territory for the year ended 31 December 2013 or since, an indicative list of which is set
out in Schedule 9, Part 2;

“Novartis Services Contracts” means any Contract between or among any member of Novartis’s Group (other than its
Target Group Company and its Business Seller) on the one hand, and its Target Group Company or Business Seller on the
other hand which, in addition to the Ancillary Agreements and any other assets to be transferred pursuant to this
Agreement, is necessary to enable the Purchaser and/or any other member of the Purchaser’s Group to carry on Novartis’s
Contributed Business (or the relevant part thereof) in substantially the same manner as it has been during the twelve
months prior to the date of this Agreement;

“Novartis Shares” means the shares and other equity, partnership or similar interests in the capital of: (i) the Novartis
OTC Group Companies; and (ii) the Novartis Joint Venture Entities that are owned by any member of Novartis’s Group;

“Novartis Statement of Net Assets” has the meaning given to it in Part 2 of Schedule 18;
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“Novartis Territories” means, in respect of any Novartis Product, each of the Territories in which sales are reported for
such Novartis Product in the OTC reporting segment of the Novartis Consumer Healthcare Division for the year ended
31 December 2013 or since;

“Novartis US NRT Business” means the business of researching and developing, manufacturing, distributing, marketing,
selling, promoting and/or otherwise Commercialising any nicotine related products of any nature whatsoever in the United
States of America, conducted by Novartis’s Group, including those commercialised under the Habitrol brand and any other
private label nicotine related products;

“Novartis US RX Products” means all rights, title and interest in and to any Prescription Products that are developed or
researched, manufactured, distributed, marketed, sold, promoted or otherwise Commercialised by Novartis’ Seller’s Group
in the United States of America and which are managed by the Novartis OTC Division and which have been reported for
financial purposes in the OTC reporting segment of the Novartis Consumer Health Division in that territory for the year
ended 31 December 2013 or since, but excluding any Prescription Product that is governed by the Endo Excluded Contract;

[>I<>I<>I<]

“Oncology Sale and Purchase Agreement” means the sale and purchase agreement dated the date of this agreement
between GlaxoSmithKline and Novartis relating to the sale and purchase of certain oncology products;

“Ongoing Clinical Trials” means, in respect of a Seller, the ongoing clinical studies sponsored or supported by that
Seller’s Group (including post-approval studies) or otherwise recommended by a Governmental Entity in respect of the
relevant Products;

“Owned Information Technology” means, in respect of a Seller, the Information Technology Exclusively Related to its
Contributed Business and owned by any of its Target Group Companies;

“Owned Intellectual Property Contracts” means, in respect of a Seller, the Contracts Exclusively Related to its
Contributed Business which relate to Intellectual Property Rights and that are held by any of its Target Group Companies;

“Owned Intellectual Property Rights” means, in respect of a Seller, the Intellectual Property Rights Exclusively Related
to its Contributed Business and owned by any of its Target Group Companies;

“PA Transfer Date” means, in relation to a Product or Product Application, the date upon which the relevant
Governmental Entity approves and notifies such Product Approval or Product Application (as applicable) naming the
Purchaser or the relevant Affiliate of the Purchaser (or designee thereof) as the holder of such Product Approval or Product
Application in the relevant country or territory covered by that Product Approval or Product Application;

“Patents” means patents, design patents, patent applications, and any reissues, re-examinations, divisionals, continuations,
continuations-in-part, provisionals, and extensions thereof or any counterparts to any of the foregoing (including rights
resulting from any post-grant proceedings relating to any of the foregoing);

“Payment” has the meaning given to it in Clause 1.9;
“Payee” has the meaning given in Clause 15.11.1;
“Payer” has the meaning given in Clause 15.11.1;

*** Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the [***] marking. Such
portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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“Permit” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 10.2 of Schedule 13;
“Permitted Encumbrance” means, in respect of a Seller:
@) Encumbrances imposed by Applicable Law;

(i1) Encumbrances imposed in the ordinary course of business which are not yet due and payable or which are
being contested in good faith;

(iii) pledges or deposits to secure obligations under Applicable Law relating to workers’ compensation,
unemployment insurance or to secure public or statutory obligations; and

@iv) liens, title retention arrangements or deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts (other than for
borrowed money), conditional sales contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds,
performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of its Contributed
Business;

“Pharmacovigilance Agreement” means the agreement between each of the Sellers and the Purchaser, to be entered into
at Closing, in respect of pharmacovigilance and regulatory matters;

“Pipeline Product Approvals” means, in respect of a Seller, the approvals in relation to its Pipeline Products;
“Pipeline Products” means the GlaxoSmithKline Pipeline Products and the Novartis Pipeline Products;

“Predominantly Related to” means, in respect of a Seller’s Contributed Business, exclusively or predominantly related to,
or used or held for use predominantly in connection with, that Seller’s Contributed Business;

“Prescription Product” means, in respect of any jurisdiction, any oral care, nutritional care, skin care or other cosmetic or
healthcare product or device of any kind, in each case, for the treatment of, or use by, human beings, which is (i) only
available with a prescription, or (ii) available without, or both with and without, a prescription but is subject to the same
regulatory classification and/or regulatory treatment (including in relation to advertising) as a product or device that is only
available with a prescription;

“Proceedings” means any legal actions, proceedings, suits, litigations, prosecutions, investigations, enquiries, mediations
or arbitrations;

“Product Applications” means, in respect of a Seller, all applications for Product Approval filed with respect to the
relevant Products Under Registration, with each individual application being a “Product Application”;

“Product Approvals” means, in respect of a Seller, all permits, licences, certificates, registrations or other authorisations
or consents issued by any Governmental Entity to that Seller or one of its Affiliates with respect to its Products or the use,
research, development, marketing, distribution or sale thereof, including the Marketing Authorisations;

“Product Filings” means, in respect of any Seller, all filings, written representations, declarations, listings, registrations,
reports or submissions with or to any Governmental Entity, including adverse event reports and all submitted data relating
to each relevant Product;
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“Product Liabilities” means any Liability arising out of, relating to or resulting from actual or alleged harm, injury,
damage or death to persons in connection with the use of any product (including in any clinical trial or study);

“Product Partners” means, in respect of a Seller, any third parties which, pursuant to a Contract with that Seller or any of
its Affiliates, co-develop, co-promote, co-market, or otherwise have a licence or other right to research, develop,
manufacture, promote, distribute, market, or sell any Product, including all manufacturers and suppliers of that Product;

“Products” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Products and, in respect of Novartis, the Novartis
Products;

“Products Under Registration” means, in respect of a Seller, the Products of that Seller which are pending Product
Approval as of the date hereof;

“Properties” means the Company Properties and the Transferred Properties, and “Property” means any one of them;

“Proprietary Information” means, in respect of a Seller, all confidential and proprietary information of that Seller or its
Affiliates that is Predominantly Related to its Contributed Business, including relevant confidential Medical Information,
confidential Know-How and confidential Commercial Information;

“Purchase Consideration” has the meaning given to it in Clause 3.1.1;

“Purchaser’s Bank Account” means the account notified by the Purchaser to each of the Sellers no later than two
Business Days prior to the Closing Date;

“Purchaser’s Disagreement Notice” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.4 of Schedule 12;

“Purchaser’s Group” means the Purchaser and its Affiliates from time to time, excluding any member of
GlaxoSmithKline’s Group or Novartis’s Group;

“Purchaser Trademark Licence Agreement” means the agreement between a Seller and/or one or more of its Affiliates
and the Purchaser and/or one or more of its Affiliates on terms consistent with the Agreed Terms, to be entered into at
Closing, in respect of the grant of licences from that Seller to the Purchaser of certain Intellectual Property Rights;

“Recipient” has the meaning given in paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 17;

“Registered Intellectual Property Rights” means all Intellectual Property Rights that are registered, issued, filed, or
applied for under the authority of any Governmental Entity;

“Registered Target Group Intellectual Property Rights” means all Target Group Intellectual Property Rights that are
Registered Intellectual Property Rights;

“Regulation” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.1.1;

“Relevant Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Employees and, in respect
of Novartis, the Relevant Novartis Employees;

“Relevant Employers” means, in respect of each Seller, the Business Seller’s and such other members of that Seller’s
Group that employ that Seller’s Relevant Employees;

“Relevant Employer’s FSAs” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 7 of Schedule 7;
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“Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Business Employees” means the GlaxoSmithKline Business Employees immediately prior
to the Closing Date, and “Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Business Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Company Employees” means the GlaxoSmithKline Company Employees immediately
prior to the Closing Date (excluding any who do not work wholly or substantially in the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer
Business), and “Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Company Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Employees” means the Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Business Employees and the Relevant
GlaxoSmithKline Company Employees, and “Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant Novartis Business Employees” means the Novartis Business Employees immediately prior to the Closing
Date, and “Relevant Novartis Business Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant Novartis Company Employees” means the Novartis Company Employees immediately prior to the Closing
Date (excluding any who do not work wholly or substantially in the Novartis OTC Business), and “Relevant Novartis
Company Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant Novartis Employees” means the Relevant Novartis Business Employees and the Relevant Novartis Company
Employees, and “Relevant Novartis Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant Part” means, in respect of a Shared Business Contract, the part of it which Exclusively Relates to the relevant
Contributed Business (or the part of the relevant Contributed Business that is transferred to the Purchaser at Closing);

“Relevant Period” means the period of two years prior to the date of this Agreement;
“Relevant Persons” has the meaning given to it in Clause 8.2.2(vi);

“Relevant Target Business Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the Relevant GlaxoSmithKline Business
Employees and, in respect of Novartis, the Relevant Novartis Business Employees, and “Relevant Target Business
Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant Target Company Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the Relevant GlaxoSmithKline
Company Employees and, in respect of Novartis, the Relevant Novartis Company Employees, and “Relevant Target
Company Employee” means any one of them;

“Relevant Tax Deduction” has the meaning given in Clause 15.11.2;
“Reorganisation” has the meaning given to it in Clause 2.3.5;

“Reporting Accountants” means the London office of Ernst & Young or, if that firm is unable or unwilling to act in any
matter referred to them under this Agreement, the London office of Deloitte or, if that firm is also unable or unwilling to
act in any matter referred to them under this Agreement, an internationally recognised and independent firm of accountants
who does not act as auditor to the relevant Seller or the Purchaser, to be agreed by the Seller and the Purchaser within
seven days of a notice by one to the other requiring such agreement or, failing such agreement, to be nominated on the
application of either of them by or on behalf of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales;

“Required Notifications” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.2.1;
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“Sanctions Law” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 10.5 of Schedule 13;

“Select Equity Plans” means the Novartis Restricted Stock Plan of 1 November 2007 (Rest of the World), the Novartis
Restricted Stock Plan of 1 November 2007 (Switzerland), the Novartis Restricted Stock Unit Plan of November 2007 (Rest
of the World and Switzerland), the Novartis Stock Option Plan of September 2003 (Rest of the World), the Novartis Stock
Option Plan of February 2005 (Switzerland) and the Novartis Corporation 2011 Stock Incentive Plan for North American
Employees effective 1 January 2011, and a “Select Equity Plan” means any one of them;

“Seller Intellectual Property Licence Agreement” means the agreement between the relevant Seller and/or one or more
of its Affiliates and the Purchaser and/or one or more of its Affiliates on terms consistent with the Agreed Terms, to be
entered into at Closing, in respect of the grant of licences from the Purchaser to the relevant Seller of certain Target Group
Intellectual Property Rights;

“Seller Marks” means:

@) with respect to GlaxoSmithKline, any Trademark of GlaxoSmithKline containing the mark
“GlaxoSmithKline”, and any other mark listed in Part 1 of Schedule 21, or any variants of the foregoing; and

(i1) with respect to Novartis, any Trademark of Novartis containing the mark including the names “Novartis”,
“Sandoz”, “Alcon” or “Ciba Vision” or any of the variants of the foregoing;

“Seller Partner” means, in respect of a Seller, any counterparty to a development, contract research, commercialisation,
manufacturing, distribution, sales, marketing, supply, consulting or other collaboration contract with that Seller or any of
its Affiliates;

“Seller Trademark Licence Agreement” means the agreement between the relevant Seller and/or one or more of its
Affiliates and the Purchaser and/or one or more of its Affiliates on terms consistent with the Agreed Terms, to be entered
into at Closing, in respect of the grant of licences from the relevant Seller to the Purchaser of certain Intellectual Property
Rights;

“Seller’s Bank Account” means, in respect of a Seller, the account notified by such Seller to the Purchaser no later than
two Business Days prior to the Closing Date;

“Seller’s Disagreement Notice” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.5 of Schedule 12;

“Seller’s Group” means, in respect of a Seller, that Seller and its Affiliates from time to time, provided that, for the
purposes of this Agreement, the Purchaser and any person Controlled by the Purchaser (whether directly or indirectly)
from time to time shall not be included in any Seller’s Group;

“Seller’s Group Insurance Policy” means, in respect of a Seller, all insurance policies (whether under policies maintained
with third party insurers or any member of that Seller’s Group), other than the Target Group Insurance Policies, maintained
by that Seller or any member of that Seller’s Group in relation to its Contributed Business or under which, immediately
prior to Closing, any of that Seller’s Target Group Companies or that Seller or member of that Seller’s Group in relation to
its Contributed Business is entitled to any benefit, and “Seller’s Group Insurance Policy” means any one of them;

“Seller’s Knowledge” has the meaning given to it in Clause 9.1.4;

“Seller’s Retained Business” means, in respect of a Seller, all businesses of that Seller’s Group from time to time,
including its Excluded Assets, but excluding its Contributed Business;
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“Seller’s Warranties” means, in respect of a Seller, the warranties given by that Seller pursuant to Clause 9 and
Schedule 13, and “Seller’s Warranty” means any one of them;

“Service Provider” means an Associated Person who is a legal person;

“Services Agreement” means the services agreement expected to be entered into between GlaxoSmithKline and the
Purchaser at Closing on the terms consistent with the Agreed Terms;

“Share Sellers” means, in respect of a Seller, the members of that Seller’s Group (other than its Target Group Companies
and Joint Venture Entities) that own shares or other equity interests in any of that Seller’s Target Group Companies or
Joint Venture Entities, an indicative list of which is set out in column (1) of Schedule 1, Part A (in respect of
GlaxoSmithKline) or Part B (in respect of Novartis);

“Shared Business Contracts” means, in respect of a Seller, any Contract which relates both:
(1) to its Contributed Business; and

(i1) to any other business of its Group, any part of its Contributed Business which is not transferred to the
Purchaser at Closing (until it is so transferred), or any of its Excluded Assets,

and to which a member of the Seller’s Group is a party or in respect of which a member of the Seller’s Group has any right
liability or obligation at Closing, and “Shared Business Contract” shall mean any of them;

“Shareholders’ Agreement” means the shareholders’ agreement to be entered into by the parties and certain of the
Sellers’ Affiliates on Closing in the Agreed Terms;

“Shares” means, together, the GlaxoSmithKline Shares and the Novartis Shares;

“Statement of Net Assets” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Statement of Net Assets and, in
respect of Novartis, the Novartis Statement of Net Assets;

“Statement of Net Assets Date” means 31 December 2013;

“Statement of Net Asset Rules” means, for each Seller, the rules in accordance with which its Statement of Net Assets
was prepared, as set out in Part 1 (in the case of GlaxoSmithKline) or Part 2 (in respect of Novartis) of Schedule 18;

“Target Asset Agreement’ has the meaning given in the Implementation Agreement;

“Target Business Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Business Employees and, in
respect of Novartis, the Novartis Business Employees, and “Target Business Employee” means any of them;

“Target Company Employees” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Company Employees and, in
respect of Novartis, the Novartis Company Employees, and “Target Company Employee” means any one of them;

“Target Group” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies and the
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Businesses, and, in respect of Novartis, the Novartis OTC Group Companies and the
Novartis OTC Group Businesses, in each case, taken as a whole, and “Target Groups” shall mean both of them;
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“Target Group Businesses” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Businesses
and, in respect of Novartis, Novartis OTC Group Businesses, and “Target Group Business” means any one of them;

“Target Group Companies” means, in respect of GlaxoSmithKline, the GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Group Companies,
and, in respect of Novartis, the Novartis OTC Group Companies, and “Target Group Company” means any one of them;

“Target Group Companies’ Cash Balances” means, in respect of a Seller, an amount equal to the sum of the aggregate
amount of Cash Balances held by or on behalf of the Target Group Companies within that Seller’s Group at the Effective
Time, as derived from the Closing Statement;

“Target Group Goodwill” means all goodwill of the Target Group Businesses, but excluding any Trademark goodwill;

“Target Group Information Technology” means the Transferred Information Technology and the Owned Information
Technology;

“Target Group Insurance Policies” means all insurance policies held exclusively by and for the benefit of the relevant
Target Group Companies, and “Target Group Insurance Policy” means any one of them;

“Target Group Intellectual Property Contracts” means the Transferred Intellectual Property Contracts and the Owned
Intellectual Property Contracts;

“Target Group Intellectual Property Rights” means the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights and the Owned
Intellectual Property Rights;

“Taxation” or “Tax” has the meaning given to it in the Tax Indemnity;
“Tax Adjustment” means, in respect of a Seller, the amount by which:

@) the aggregate amount of the income taxes and sales taxes payable by the Target Group Companies, as at the
Effective Time, as derived from the Closing Statement;

exceeds or is less than

(i1) the aggregate amount of the current income tax and sales tax receivables of the Target Group Companies, as at
the Effective Time, as derived from the Closing Statement,

and any such excess amount shall be treated as a positive number and any shortfall shall be treated as a negative amount;
“Tax Authority” has the meaning given to it in the Tax Indemnity;
“Tax Group” has the meaning given to it in the Tax Indemnity;

“Tax Indemnity” means the deed of covenant against taxation, on terms consistent with the Agreed Terms, to be entered
into on the Closing Date between each Seller and the Purchaser;

“Tax Return” has the meaning given to it in the Tax Indemnity;
“Tax Warranties” means, in respect of a Seller, the Seller’s Warranties set out in paragraph 14 of Schedule 13;

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning given to it in Clause 11.4;
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“Third Party Consents” means all consents, licences, approvals, permits, authorisations or waivers required from third
parties, and “Third Party Consent” means any one of them;

“Third Party Indebtedness” means the aggregate amount as at the Effective Time of all outstanding Indebtedness owed
by the Target Group Companies to any third party less any Indebtedness owed by any third party to any Target Group
Company as derived from the Closing Statement (but excluding any item included in respect of any Target Group
Companies’ Cash Balances or Intra-Group Non-Trade Payables), and, for the purposes of this definition, third party shall
exclude any member of either Seller’s Group;

“Time-Limited Excluded Liability” means an Excluded Liability which is:

(i) a Contracts Liability;

(i) an Environmental Liability;

(iii) a Manufacturing Liability; or

@iv) a Commercial Practices Liability,

but excludes an IP Liability;

“Trademarks” means trademarks, service marks, trade names, certification marks, service names, industrial designs,
brand names, brand marks, trade dress rights, identifying symbols, logos, emblems, and signs or insignia and all goodwill
of the business in relation to which any of the foregoing are used (but no other or greater goodwill);

“Transaction” has the meaning given to it in Clause 4.1.1;

“Transfer Regulations” means the relevant national measure by which the employment of a Relevant Target Business
Employee automatically transfers to the Purchaser or a relevant member of the Purchaser’s Group;

“Transferred Accounts Payables” means, in respect of a Seller, all trade accounts and notes payable of that Seller’s
Group (other than its Target Group Companies) to the extent related to its Contributed Business, and outstanding at the
Effective Time, arising in the ordinary course, together with any unpaid financing charges accrued thereon;

“Transferred Accounts Receivables” means, in respect of a Seller, all trade accounts and notes receivable of that Seller’s
Group (other than its Target Group Companies) to the extent related to its Contributed Business, and outstanding at the
Effective Time, arising in the ordinary course, together with any unpaid financing charges accrued thereon;

“Transferred Books and Records” means, in respect of a Seller, all books, ledgers, files, reports, plans, records, manuals
and other materials (in any form or medium) to the extent of, or maintained predominantly for, that Seller’s Contributed
Business by that Seller’s Group (excluding its Target Group Companies) (other than emails), but excluding:

(1) any such items to the extent that: (A) they are related to any Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities; (B) they
are related to any corporate, Tax, human resources or stockholder matters of that Seller or its Affiliates (other
than its Target Group Companies); (C) any Applicable Law prohibits their transfer; or (D) any transfer thereof
otherwise would subject that Seller or any of its Affiliates to any material liability; and
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(i1) any laboratory notebooks to the extent containing research and development information unrelated to its

Contributed Business and any books and records that are more than five years old containing, in whole or in
part, research and development information (other than any laboratory notebooks, books or records described
in this paragraph (ii) that are maintained for its Contributed Business by its Target Group Companies);

“Transferred Contracts” means: (i) in respect of a Seller, the Contracts, other than its Transferred Intellectual Property
Contracts, that are Exclusively Related to that Seller’s Contributed Business between a Business Seller of that Seller’s
Group, on the one hand, and any third party, on the other hand (other than this Agreement and any Ancillary Agreement);
and (ii) in the case of Novartis, the Novartis Distribution and Sales Products Contracts and the Novartis Services Contracts;
and (iii) in the case of GlaxoSmithKline, any Contracts between a member of its Group (other than its Target Group
Company and its Business Seller) on the one hand and its Business Seller, on the other hand, that are Exclusively Related
to GlaxoSmithKline’s Contributed Business, other than any contracts that relate to any services that will be and, as at
Closing are, provided under the Ancillary Agreements;

“Transferred Employees” means, in relation to a Seller: (i) any Target Business Employees of that Seller to whom the
Purchaser (or a member of the Purchaser’s Group) offers employment and who accept such employment and become
employed by the Purchaser (or a member of the Purchaser’s Group) in accordance with Schedule 7; (ii) any Relevant
Target Business Employees of that Seller who transfer to the Purchaser (or a member of the Purchaser’s Group) by
operation of the Transfer Regulations and do not object to such transfer (to the extent permitted by the Transfer
Regulations) in accordance with Schedule 7; and (iii) the Relevant Target Company Employees of that Seller, and
“Transferred Target Business Employees” means the employees in (i) and (ii), “Transferred Target Company
Employees” means the employees in (iii), and “Transferred Employee”, “Transferred Target Business Employee” and
“Transferred Target Company Employee” respectively means any one of them;

“Transferred Information Technology” means, in respect of a Seller, all Information Technology of any member of that
Seller’s Group (other than its Target Group Company) to the extent Exclusively Related to that Seller’s Contributed
Business;

“Transferred Intellectual Property Contracts” means, in respect of a Seller, Contracts Exclusively Related to its
Contributed Business which relate to Intellectual Property Rights (but excluding the rights under any such Contracts that
are held by its Target Group Companies);

“Transferred Intellectual Property Rights” means, in respect of a Seller, the Intellectual Property Rights of any member
of that Seller’s Group (other than a Target Group Company) Exclusively Related to its Contributed Business. For the
avoidance of doubt, whether a Trademark is Exclusively Related to a Contributed Business will be assessed on a Brand
basis rather than a country by country basis, so that a Brand (and the Trademarks used or registered for use with a Product
to which that Brand is associated) shall be deemed not to be Exclusively Related to a Contributed Business where, as at the
date of this Agreement, a Brand is Commercialised by a Seller or its Affiliates in relation to both (i) a Product and (ii) a
product of that Seller’s Retained Business, in any part of the world;

“Transferred Inventory” means, in respect of a Seller, all inventories (including its Manufacturing Inventory,
Manufacturing Stocks and In-Market Inventory), wherever located, including all raw materials, work in progress, finished
GlaxoSmithKline Products or Novartis Products (as the case may be), and packaging and labelling material in respect of
the GlaxoSmithKline Products or Novartis Products (as the case may be) and otherwise, in each case, that are,
Predominantly Related to its Contributed Business (but excluding any such items held by its Target Group Companies),
whether held at any location or facility of a member of that Seller’s Group or in transit to a member of that Seller’s Group,
in each case, as of the Effective Time;
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“Transferred Leased Properties” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Part 4 of Schedule 2;
“Transferred Owned Properties” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Part 4 of Schedule 2;
“Transferred Plant and Equipment” means, in respect of a Seller:

@) its Transferred Information Technology; and

(i1) all plant, furniture, furnishings, vehicles, equipment, tools and other tangible personal property (other than its
Transferred Inventory or its Transferred Information Technology) of that Seller’s Group that are
Predominantly Related to its Contributed Business (but excluding any such items owned by its Target Group
Companies);

“Transferred Properties” means, in respect of a Seller:

(i) its Transferred Owned Properties;
(i) its Transferred Leased Properties;
(iii) all other freehold, leasehold or other immovable property comprising research and development, production or

manufacturing facilities Exclusively Related to its Contributed Business, other than any freehold, leasehold or
other immovable property within the definition of “Excluded Assets”; and

@iv) all other freehold, leasehold or other immovable property comprising warehousing, distribution or office
facilities Predominantly Related to its Contributed Business, other than any freehold, leasehold or other
immovable property within the definition of “Excluded Assets”,

and “Transferred Property” means any one of them;

“Transitional Services Agreement” means, in respect of a Seller, the transitional services agreement expected to be
entered into between it and the Purchaser at Closing on terms consistent with the Agreed Terms;

“US Benefit Plans” means all United States “employee benefit plans” (within the meaning of section 3(3) of ERISA),
severance, change in control or employment, vacation, incentive, bonus, stock option, stock purchase, or restricted stock
plans, programmes, agreements or policies benefiting the relevant Target Business Employees;

“US RX Product Disposal” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 10.3 of Schedule 6;
“US RX Products” means any of the GlaxoSmithKline US RX Products or the Novartis US RX Products;
“US Transferred Employees” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 7.1 of Schedule 7;

“Vaccines Sale and Purchase Agreement” means the sale and purchase agreement dated the date of this agreement
between Novartis and GlaxoSmithKline relating to the sale and purchase of Novartis